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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND RISK FACTORS SUMMARY

Forward-looking statements, within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”), are made throughout this Annual Report and are intended to come within the safe harbor protection provided by those sections. These forward-looking statements can
generally be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, including the terms “believes,” “estimates,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “strives,” “goal,” “seeks,” “projects,” “intends,” “forecasts,”
“plans,” “may,” “will” or “should” or, in each case, their negative or other variations or comparable terminology. They appear in a number of places throughout this Annual Report and include
statements regarding our intentions, beliefs or current expectations concerning, among other things, our results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, prospects, growth, strategies and the
industry in which we operate.

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events and depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. We believe
that these risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those described in “Risk Factors” in Item 1A, which include, but are not limited to, the following:

• competition in the restaurant industry, which is highly competitive and includes many larger, more well-established companies;

• changes in economic conditions, including the effects of consumer confidence and discretionary spending;

• our ability to manage our growth and successfully implement our business strategy;

• our reliance on a limited number of suppliers for our major products and on a distribution network with a limited number of distribution partners for the majority of our national
distribution program;

• the future cost and availability of credit, and the liquidity or operations of our suppliers and other service providers;

• fluctuation in price and availability of commodities, including but not limited to items such as beef, poultry, grains, dairy and produce and energy supplies, where prices could increase
or decrease more than we expect;

• our ability to expand into new markets and successfully identify, open and operate new shops (which is dependent upon various factors such as the availability of attractive sites for new
shops);

• our ability to negotiate suitable lease terms, terminate on acceptable terms or sublease or assign leases for underperforming shops;

• our ability to identify new franchisees to open and operate new shops;

• our ability to control construction and development costs and obtain capital to fund such costs;

• our ability to recruit, train and retain qualified operating personnel;

• changes in consumer tastes and lack of acceptance or awareness of our brand in existing or new markets;

• failure of our marketing efforts to attract and retain customers;

• risks of food safety and food-borne illnesses and other health concerns about our food;

• damage to our reputation caused by, for example, any perceived reduction in the quality of our food, service or staff, an adverse change in our culture or the operations of our
franchisees;

• the seasonality of our business;

• our supply chain;

• demographic trends, traffic patterns and our ability to effectively respond in a timely manner to changes in traffic patterns;

• the cost of advertising and media;

• inflation or deflation, unemployment rates, interest rates, and increases in various costs, such as real estate and insurance costs;

• risks associated with labor disputes, labor unions, or our ability to offset higher labor costs;

• adverse weather conditions, natural disasters and other disasters, especially in local or regional areas in which our shops are concentrated;
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• our ability to grow our digital business;

• litigation or legal complaints alleging, among other things, illness, injury or violations of federal and state workplace and employment laws and our ability to obtain and maintain
required licenses and permits;

• government actions and policies; tax and other legislation; regulation of the restaurant industry; and accounting standards or pronouncements;

• security breaches of confidential customer information in connection with our electronic processing of credit and debit card transactions or the failure of our information technology
system;

• the volatility of our common stock and actions by activist stockholders;

• our ability to adequately protect our intellectual property;

• the costs associated with complying or meeting environmental, social and governance regulations and stakeholder expectations;

• the impact of climate-related risks on our financial results, leased premises and operations; and

• other factors discussed under “Business” in Item 1, “Risk Factors” in Item 1A and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Item 7.

These factors should not be construed as exhaustive and should be read in conjunction with the other cautionary statements included in this document. These risks and uncertainties, as well
as other risks of which we are not aware or which we currently do not believe to be material, may cause our actual future results to be materially different than those expressed in our forward-looking
statements. We do not undertake to update our forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required by law.
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PART I

ITEM 1.    BUSINESS

The Neighborhood Sandwich Shop

Potbelly Corporation is a sandwich concept that has been feeding customers’ smiles with warm, toasty sandwiches, signature salads, hand-dipped shakes, freshly-baked cookies and other
fresh menu items, customized just the way customers want them, for more than 40 years. Potbelly promises Fresh, Fast & Friendly service in a welcoming environment that reflects the local
neighborhood. Our employees are trained to engage with our customers in a genuine way to provide a personalized experience. We believe the combination of our great food, people and atmosphere
creates a devoted base of Potbelly customers.

We believe that a key to our past and future success is our culture. It is embodied in The Potbelly Way, which is an expression of our Vision, Mission and Values, and the foundation of
everything we do. Our Vision is to be the most loved sandwich brand in every neighborhood. Our Mission is to delight customers with great food and good vibes. Our Values embody both how we
lead and how we behave and form the cornerstone of our culture. We use clear language that resonates from the frontline associate to the most senior levels of the organization, creating shared
expectations and accountabilities in how we approach our day-to-day activities. We strive to be a fun, friendly and hardworking group of people who enjoy taking care of our customers, while at the
same time taking care of each other.

As of December 31, 2023, we had 424 shops in 31 states and the District of Columbia. Of these, the company operates 345 shops and franchisees operate 79 shops.

Our History

Potbelly started in 1977 as a small antique store on Lincoln Avenue in Chicago. To boost sales, the original owner began offering toasty warm sandwiches to customers. Soon, people who
had no interest in antiques were stopping by to enjoy the delicious sandwiches, homemade desserts and live music featured in the shop. As time passed, Potbelly became a well-known neighborhood
destination with a loyal following of regulars and frequent lines out the door.

Potbelly opened its second shop in 1997 and continued to open shops in more neighborhoods reaching over 400 company-operated and franchise locations today. Throughout the growth,
each new shop has maintained a similar look, vibe and experience that defines the Potbelly brand. Though our shops vary in size and shape, we maintain core elements in each new location, such as
fast and efficient line flow, vintage décor customized with local details and exceptional customer focus.

Just like our first shop on Lincoln Avenue, we are committed to building community roots in all the neighborhoods we serve.

Our Business Strategy

We strive to be proactive and deliberate in our efforts to drive profitable growth in our existing business. Our “Traffic-Driven Profitability” 5-pillar strategic plan includes a prioritized set of
low-cost strategic investments that we believe will continue to deliver strong returns. The 5 pillars are:

• Craveable-Quality Food at a Great Value
• People Creating Good Vibes
• Customer Experiences that Drive Traffic Growth
• Digitally-Driven Awareness, Connection and Traffic
• Franchise-Focused Development

These initiatives include improvements to our overall customer experience, an updated, simplified menu and further enhancements of our Potbelly Perks rewards program. They also include
improvements to drive a better digital customer experience.

Lastly, we are prioritizing low-cost, high-return traffic driving opportunities, as well as numerous initiatives that are focused on expanding shop-level margins. While we cannot provide
assurances that we will achieve and maintain these objectives, we consider each of them to be core strategies of our business.
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Shop Operations. We believe that continued excellence in shop-level execution is fundamental to our growth and improved performance. To maintain our operational standards, we use a
Balanced Scorecard approach to measure People, Customers, Sales and Profits at each of our shops. Hiring the right people and maintaining optimal staffing levels enables us to run efficient
operations. We track metrics such as peak hour throughput and customer satisfaction survey results. Shop sales and profitability are benchmarked against prior year periods and budget, and we focus
on achieving targets on a shop-by-shop basis. To support our shop operators, we invest in systems and technology that can meaningfully improve shop-level execution. For example, we have applied
technology to automate and ensure customer focus. In addition, we are expanding our off-premise business, including catering, delivery and pickup, which we view as additional growth drivers.

Shop Development. Our company-operated shops are successful in diverse markets in 19 states and the District of Columbia. Our shops are also located in multiple types of neighborhoods
and formats, including suburban, urban, central business districts, airports and others. We evaluate a number of metrics to assess the optimal sites for our new shops, including neighborhood daytime
population, site visibility, traffic and accessibility, along with an on-the-ground qualitative assessment of the characteristics of each unique trade area. This location-specific approach to development
allows us to leverage our versatile shop format, which does not have standardized requirements with respect to size, shape or location, to achieve strong returns across a wide range of real estate
settings. See “—Site Selection and Expansion—Shop Design” for more information about our shop requirements.

Marketing. We believe that our brand position, “Potbelly is the sandwich shop with the craveable quality and good vibes of a first-class dive” reflects our brand strength and competitive
advantage and has broad appeal across a wide range of market types and geographies. We learn from the formal customer feedback we solicit, and from managers and employees who interact with
customers in our shops, that many customers in new markets report positive recommendations from friends and family members who live in regions with established Potbelly shops. We believe that
our positive brand perception helps drive interest in our shops in both existing and new markets. We enhance this with our social and digital interactions and complement our distinctive in-shop
experience with online access, allowing customers to order ahead through both our website and Potbelly app, including catering, delivery or in-shop pick up. Additionally, our Potbelly Perks rewards
program unlocks connection and digital promotion capabilities with our most loyal customers.

Franchising. In 2010, we initiated a program to franchise shops in selected markets in the U.S. As of December 31, 2023, our franchisees operated 79 shops across 22 states. As we further
develop our franchise program, we intend to expand the number of franchise shops at an increasing rate of growth. We focus on franchisees that are compatible with the Potbelly culture that commit
to multi-unit growth through our exclusive Shop Development Area Agreements (“SDAAs”). See “—Franchising” for more information about our franchise programs. Since the initiation of the
program, we have sold 182 shop commitments as of December 31, 2023. We expect the financial impact of our franchising efforts to continually expand along with the franchise growth itself.

Our Food

Our Menu

Each of our shops offers freshly-made food with high-quality ingredients. Our menu currently includes toasty hot sandwiches, signature salads, soups, chili, sides, freshly-baked cookies,
hand-dipped shakes and, in our breakfast locations, breakfast sandwiches.

Overall, we believe our menu of high-quality food at reasonable prices offers considerable value to our customers. In fiscal year 2023, our system-wide average check per entree was
approximately $11.87, up from $11.38 in 2022.

We believe menu innovation is a way for us to grow our business, responding to consumer trends, listening to customer feedback, and understanding customers' needs. This innovation
includes the ongoing development of bundling options, craveable add-ons, and premium protein sandwiches served toasty warm from our ovens, while continuing to encourage customization and
personalization by each customer.

Food Preparation and Safety

Food safety is a top priority, and we dedicate substantial resources, including our supply chain and quality assurance teams, to help ensure that our customers enjoy safe, quality food
products. We have taken various steps to mitigate food safety and quality risks, including having personnel focused on this goal together with our supply chain team. We consider food safety and
quality assurance when selecting our distributors and suppliers. The shops are provided the
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training, processes and tools to serve safe, consistent, quality food to our customers. Our shops’ practices are validated by third-party food safety reviews, internal safety audits and routine health
inspections.

Shop Operations and Management

We believe having an excellent manager in each shop is a critical factor in achieving continuous excellence in operations. Managers hire our associates, help ensure consistent execution of
our menu items and strive to achieve specific targets that are evaluated daily, weekly and periodically. We devote significant time and resources to identifying, selecting and training our managers
who, along with our employees, provide a positive experience to our Potbelly customers. We invest in people, customer and operating systems that help our leaders manage their teams and drive
consistency in achieving business targets. Our sales-based commission, profit-sharing bonus program incentivizes all levels of shop management on continuous improvement.

Potbelly Operations

Our operations are structured around the elements of: People, Customers, Sales and Profits. Our business includes over 39% digital orders through the Potbelly App or website and third-
party delivery services providers, along with our in-shop and drive-thru experiences. The highest sales volume daypart is lunch, but other parts of the day are also important to our business.
Additionally, we have well balanced sales volume throughout the week. Our labor scheduling systems help ensure the appropriate staffing when needed. For in-shop orders, our employees greet our
customers, take their order and dress the sandwiches to order. We are implementing and expanding upon new technology with the Potbelly Digital Kitchen ("PDK") that helps streamline digital orders
and support high volume shops with in-line order taking tablets to improve throughput and customer satisfaction. Beginning in 2023, PDK was and will be integrated in the initial construction and
design of all new shop openings.

Each shop has a budget and targets that align to the shop bonus programs. Our scorecard system aligns key targets such as sales and profits, staffing, training, turnover and customer
experiences to encourage high performance. Our performance metrics are aligned to the quarterly shop bonus program that rewards top performers and encourages over-delivery against targets. In
addition to our internal efforts, we also leverage third-party companies to provide customer service feedback and conduct food safety assessments to analyze and improve the Potbelly experience.

The Potbelly Experience

We seek to deliver a positive experience for every customer at every opportunity through our tasty food, unique atmosphere and outgoing and engaging employees. We staff each shop with
experienced teams to ensure consistent and attentive customer service that provides a unique and "Good Vibes" experience. We target employees who are friendly and responsive to the needs of our
customers as they assist them in selecting menu items complementing individual preferences. We staff appropriately during peak hours to ensure a fast yet personal Potbelly experience for each in-
shop customer, with face-to-face interaction from start to finish and a fast yet convenient experience for each of our digital customers. We also provide off-premise services, including catering,
delivery and order ahead to serve our customers.

Human Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2023, we employed over 5,000 persons, of which approximately 180 are corporate personnel, 450 are shop management personnel and the remainder are hourly shop
personnel. Our franchisees are independent business owners that separately employ personnel in their shops.

Potbelly actively creates and promotes an environment that is inclusive of all people and their unique abilities, strengths and differences. We respect and embrace diversity in each other, our
customers, suppliers and all others with whom we interact as an essential component in the way we do business. We look to attract, hire and retain smart, talented and outgoing people who share and
demonstrate our values. We value friendly employees who engage with our customers in a genuine way to provide a personalized experience. We believe we make expectations and accountabilities
clear through our culture training and our Employee Handbook, including the Ethics Code of Conduct, which summarizes company information, policies and employee conduct guidelines.

The Potbelly Way, outlined in our Employee Handbook, defines the culture of our company and our employees. It is the recipe that motivates and inspires us to be the best at what we do.

Our Vision – to be the most loved sandwich brand in every neighborhood.
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Our Mission – to delight customers with great food and good vibes.

Our Values:
• Great Food – we love serving great-tasting, high-quality craveable food.
• Good Vibes – we bring positive energy, fun and friendliness.
• Achievement – we have high standards, deliver great results and celebrate success.
• Innovation – we're always improving through creative solutions.
• Integrity – we're accountable and always do what's right.
• Teamwork – we have each other's back and work together.
• Community – we value and support the neighborhoods we call home.
• Belonging – we make everyone feel welcome and valued.

Our culture helps us to attract and retain employees and has contributed to our better-than-industry-average turnover rate for the year ended December 31, 2023. Employees are further
encouraged to perform at their personal best through an ongoing scorecard measuring system that is tied directly to a pay for performance compensation program. We believe our sustainable process
to hire, train and develop our people enables us to deliver a positive customer experience. A typical Potbelly shop consists of one salaried general manager, several hourly managers and numerous
employees. The number of employees can increase during peak hours or at locations with high-traffic.

Many of our managers live in the neighborhood in which their shop is located. We believe this allows them to get to know their customers, understand the unique character of each
neighborhood and form deep roots within the community. The shop manager has primary responsibility for the day-to-day operation of the shop and is required to abide by Potbelly’s operating
standards. Our Management Training Program provides new levels of management with five to nine weeks of training that emphasizes culture, standards, strategy and procedures to prepare them for
success, and is followed by on-going, in-shop coaching with their District Manager or Regional Director. Our shop managers report to District Managers who typically report to a Regional Director,
and Vice President of Company Operations. We also employ franchise business consultants exclusively dedicated to our franchisees and their shop operations. These employees all report ultimately
to our Chief Operating Officer. In addition, members of senior management visit shops regularly to help ensure that our culture, strategy and quality standards are being adhered to in all aspects of
our operations.

Shop managers are responsible for selecting, hiring and training the employees for each new shop. The training period includes on-the-job supervision by an experienced employee. Ongoing
employee training remains the responsibility of the shop manager, but we also provide specific training for our employees around The Potbelly Way each year. Special emphasis is placed on the
safety, consistency and quality of food preparation and service, which is monitored through ongoing coaching sessions and meetings with managers. In addition, we have other continuing
communications with all of our employees on food safety and preparation standards.

At Potbelly, we believe rewards and recognition play an important role in retaining our employees. Our approach to rewarding talent is through a combination of competitive compensation
and benefits. To foster a sense of ownership and align the interests of our team members with shareholders, stock options, restricted stock units and performance-based units are provided to eligible
team members under our 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan. Additionally, certain employees are eligible for performance-based cash incentive plans. These incentive plans reward individuals based on
the achievement of predetermined company targets.

Potbelly is committed to providing our employees with a benefits program that is both comprehensive and competitive. Our benefits program offers health care, dental and vision coverage,
as well as financial stability to our employees and their families. We remain focused on compensating our employees equally, regardless of gender, race and ethnicity. Potbelly also provides an
employee meal benefit program. Our Recognition Toolkit outlines our programs that recognize employees’ contributions to the overall objectives and efficient operations of the Company.

Restaurant Portfolio

As of December 31, 2023, we had 424 shops in 31 states and the District of Columbia. Of these, the company operates 345 shops and franchisees operate 79 shops.

In 2023, we opened one new company-operated shop and closed seven. In the near term, we will continue to evaluate underperforming shops for possible closure and limit our rate of
company-operated shop growth while we focus on franchise shop development under our Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative. As part of this initiative, we
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refranchised 33 company-operated shops during 2023 across multiple markets. We expect that most of our shop growth will occur through franchisee development in 2024.

With an average new shop investment of approximately $650,000 and average unit volumes of $1.32 million, which represent the average net sandwich shop sales for all company-operated
shops for fiscal year 2023, we strive to generate average shop-level profit margins, a non-GAAP measure, of mid to high teens. However, we cannot provide any assurances that we will achieve and
maintain similar profit margins or cash returns in the future.

Site Selection and Expansion

We consider the location of a shop to be a critical variable in its long-term success and as such, we devote significant effort to the investigation and evaluation of potential locations. We seek
new shop locations based on specific criteria, such as demographic characteristics, daytime population thresholds and traffic patterns, along with the potential visibility of, and accessibility to, the
shop. New company shops are built with only one purpose in mind: to generate cash flow that meets or exceeds those modeled in our return targets. Franchisees have similar expectations for their
new shop development while the company benefits from the brand expansion and royalty income from those locations. Our strategy is to focus primarily on franchise unit growth and limit our rate of
company-operated shop growth.

Shop Design

We strive to create a unique customer experience that delivers a neighborhood feel for each shop. We typically design the interior of our shops in-house, utilizing outside architects when
necessary. Our design team sources most furnishings and decorations for our shops. Each of our shops features vintage décor and shared design elements, such as the use of wood, wallpaper motifs
and our signature Potbelly stove. Consistent with The Potbelly Way, our shops display locally-themed photos and other decorative items inspired by the neighborhood. Our shop size averages
approximately 2,300 square feet; however, we currently target shop sizes between 1,800 and 2,000 square feet for new openings. The dining area of a typical shop can seat anywhere from 20 to 40
customers. Some of our shops incorporate larger dining areas and outdoor patios. We believe the unique atmosphere creates a lively place where friends and family can get together, encourages repeat
visits by our customers and drives increased sales. We continue to focus on our shop design to improve the delivery and customer pickup experience.

Construction

Construction of a new shop generally takes approximately 60 to 90 days from the date the location is leased or under contract, fully permitted and the landlord has delivered the space to
Potbelly. Each new shop requires a total cash investment of approximately $650,000, but this figure could be materially higher or lower depending on the market, shop size and condition of the
premises upon landlord delivery. We generally construct shops in third-party leased retail space but also construct free-standing buildings on leased properties. In the future, we intend to continue
converting existing third-party leased retail space or constructing new shops in the majority of circumstances. For additional information regarding our leases, see “—Properties” in Item 2.

Franchising

We look for franchisees who love working with a team and have solid business experience, financial qualifications and personal motivation. Our franchise arrangements grant third parties a
license to establish and operate a shop using our systems and trademarks. The franchisee pays us for the ideas, strategy, marketing, operating system, training, purchasing power and brand
recognition. All new franchisees participate in an eight-week training program consisting of real-life experience in our company-operated shops. Franchised shops must be operated in compliance
with our methods, standards and specifications, regarding menu items, ingredients, materials, supplies, services, fixtures, furnishings, décor and signs.

Franchising Terms

The conventional franchise agreement provides for an initial term of eight to ten years with the option to renew. The conventional agreement requires the franchisee to pay a weekly royalty
of 6.0% of gross sales net of discounts, an upfront initial franchise fee and ongoing IT and operational fees. The franchisee is also required to contribute to the Potbelly Brand Fund, which is used for
advertising and marketing activities to promote the Potbelly brand.
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In addition to franchise and license agreements, we also enter into development arrangements with certain franchisees. The agreement, which includes a development fee charged to the
franchisee, gives exclusive rights to develop shops in a specified geographical area for a certain period of time. The development fee paid is credited towards the initial franchise fee owed for each
shop opened under the agreement.

Advertising and Marketing

We believe our shops appeal to a broad base of loyal customers for our great food, diverse menu and good vibes, staffed by friendly people. Under our current strategy we have devoted
greater marketing resources to promote the Potbelly brand and, among other things, generate awareness of shop locations, promotions and brand differentiation all with the objective of driving traffic
growth in our shops.

Advertising

We promote our brand in all markets where we have shops. The use of digital media is the most common advertising vehicle. Additionally, we rely on in-shop materials to communicate and
market to our customers.

Digital Marketing

We have increased our use of digital marketing tools, which enable us to reach a significant number of people in a timely and targeted fashion. We believe that our customers will use social
media to make dining decisions or to share dining experiences; therefore, we advertise on Facebook, Instagram and several other digital media platforms. We also leverage our Potbelly App to
communicate with our customers and personalize offers for them. These platforms allow them to transact with us digitally by ordering ahead for pickup or delivery, paying with their phone and
earning tasty treats.

Potbelly Perks

We offer a loyalty program for customers called Potbelly Perks that can be accessed at potbelly.com, the Potbelly App and at the point of sale in our shops. In 2023, a Potbelly Perks member
earned 10 points for every dollar spent and earned a free entrée after achieving 1,000 points. Once a member earned the free entrée, that entrée reward expired after 30 days.

In January 2024, we enhanced our Potbelly Perks program to provide more reward options and flexibility for members. Members will earn 10 or more coins, the equivalent of points under
the legacy program, for every dollar they spend. The number of coins earned per dollar is dependent on each member's annual spend with Potbelly. Coins can be redeemed for a variety of items across
the Potbelly menu. The coins expire one year after they are earned.

Sourcing and Supply Chain

Our supply chain team sources, negotiates and purchases food supplies for our shops. We believe in using safe, high-quality ingredients while maintaining our value position in the
marketplace. We benchmark our products against the competition using consumer panels. We contract with Distribution Market Advantage, Inc. ("DMA"), a cooperative of multiple food distributors
located throughout the nation. DMA is a broker through which we negotiate and gain access to third-party food distributors and suppliers. For fiscal year 2023, distributors through our DMA
arrangement supplied us with more than 90% of our food supplies through six primary distributors: Reinhart FoodService, L.L.C., Ben E. Keith Company, Harbor Foodservice, Shamrock Foods,
Gordon Food Service and Nicholas & Co. Our remaining food supplies are distributed by other distributors under separate contracts. Our distributors deliver inventory to our shops approximately two
to three times per week.

We negotiate pricing and volume terms directly with certain of our suppliers and distributors or through DMA. Our supply chain team utilizes a mix of forward pricing protocols for certain
items under which we agree with our supplier on fixed prices for deliveries at some time in the future, fixed pricing protocols under which we agree on a fixed price with our supplier for the duration
of that protocol, and formula pricing protocols under which the prices we pay are based on a specified formula related to the prices of the goods, such as spot prices. Our use of any forward pricing
arrangements varies substantially from time to time and these arrangements tend to cover relatively short periods (i.e., typically 12 months or less).
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Currently we have pricing arrangements of varying lengths with our distributors and suppliers, including distributors and suppliers of meats, dairy, bread, cookie dough and other products.
Meats represent approximately 30% of our product purchasing composition. In fiscal year 2023, more than 80% of our meat products were sourced from 10 suppliers under non-exclusive contracts.
We have secondary suppliers in place for many of our significant meats, and we believe we would be able to source our meat requirements from different suppliers if doing so became necessary. We
have a non-exclusive contract with Campagna-Turano Bakery, Inc. for our signature multigrain bread. Campagna-Turano Bakery, Inc. produces bread items in a primary and secondary production
facility. We have secondary suppliers in place for, our bread items and we believe we would be able to source our bread requirements from different suppliers if doing so became necessary. However,
changes in the price or availability of certain products may affect the profitability of certain items, our ability to maintain existing prices and our ability to purchase sufficient amounts of items to
satisfy our customers’ demands.

The remainder of our products, ingredients and supplies are currently sourced from a variety of interchangeable suppliers. Additionally, our supply chain team has established contingency
plans for many key products. For example, manufacturers of certain products maintain alternative production facilities capable of satisfying our requirements should the primary facility experience
interruptions. For other products, we believe we have identified alternate suppliers that could meet our requirements at competitive prices or, in some cases, have identified a product match that could
be used in our shops. Our supply chain team regularly updates our procurement strategies to include contingency plans for new products and ingredients, as well as additional secondary and alternate
suppliers. We believe these strategies would collectively enable us to obtain sufficient product quantities from other sources at competitive prices without material disruption should a current supplier
be unable to fulfill its commitment to us.

Information Technology

Shop-level financial and accounting controls are handled through a point-of-sale and back-office system (“POS”) networked into a centralized data center. The POS system is used to process
sales transactions and manage the business, controlling costs such as inventory and labor. We use a point-to-point encrypted payment solution to process credit card transactions. Our company-
operated shops report all transaction data into our corporate data warehouse where business information is provided to corporate employees to aid in collaboration, communication, and training
between shops and the corporate office. We believe our systems currently comply with all credit card industry security standards for processing of credit and gift cards.

Competition

We compete in the restaurant industry, primarily in the fast-casual restaurant segment but also with restaurants in the full-service restaurant segment and face significant competition from a
wide variety of restaurants, convenience stores and other outlets on a national, regional and local level. We believe that we compete primarily based on product quality, restaurant concept, service,
convenience, value perception and price. Many of our competitors have existed longer and have a more established market presence with substantially greater financial, marketing, personnel, and
other resources than we do, and as a result, these competitors may be better positioned to succeed in a highly competitive restaurant industry. Our competition continues to intensify as competitors
increase the breadth and depth of their product offerings and open new units. We compete with fast-casual restaurants, specialty restaurants and other retail concepts for prime shop locations. In
recent years, competition has increased from food delivery services, which offer meals from a wide variety of restaurants.

Government Regulation

We and our franchisees are subject to various federal, state, and local laws affecting our business. Each of our shops is subject to licensing and regulation by a number of governmental
authorities, which may include, among others, health and safety, nutritional menu labeling, health care, environmental and fire agencies in the state, or municipality in which the shop is located.
Difficulty in obtaining or failing to obtain the required licenses or approvals could delay or prevent the development of a new shop in a particular area. Additionally, difficulties or inabilities to retain
or renew licenses, or increased compliance costs due to changed regulations, could adversely affect operations at existing shops.

Our shop operations are also subject to federal and state labor laws, including the U.S. Fair Labor Standards Act, the U.S. Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, and the
Occupational Safety and Health Act, governing such matters as minimum wages, overtime, fringe benefits, workplace safety and other worker conditions and citizenship requirements. Significant
numbers of our food service and preparation personnel are paid at rates related to the applicable minimum wage and further increases in the minimum wage or other changes in these laws could
increase our labor costs.
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Our ability to respond to minimum wage increases by increasing menu prices will depend on the responses of our competitors and customers. Our distributors and suppliers also may be affected by
higher minimum wage and benefit standards, which could result in higher costs for goods and services supplied to us.

We and our franchisees may also be subject to lawsuits from our employees, the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or others alleging violations of federal and state laws
regarding workplace and employment matters, as well as discrimination and similar matters.

We and our franchisees are subject to the Americans with Disabilities Act (the “ADA”), which, among other things, requires our shops to meet federally mandated requirements for the
disabled. The ADA prohibits discrimination in employment and public accommodations on the basis of disability. Under the ADA, we and our franchisees could be required to expend funds to
modify our shops to provide service to, or make reasonable accommodations for the employment of, disabled persons. In addition, our employment practices are subject to the requirements of the
Immigration and Naturalization Service relating to citizenship and residency. Government regulations could affect and change the items we procure for resale. We and our franchisees may also
become subject to legislation or regulation seeking to tax and/or regulate sugary beverages and high-fat and high-sodium foods, which could be costly to comply with. Our results can be impacted by
tax legislation and regulation in the jurisdictions in which we operate and by accounting standards or pronouncements.

We and our franchisees are also subject to laws and regulations relating to information security, privacy, cashless payments, gift cards and consumer credit, protection and fraud, and any
failure or perceived failure to comply with these laws and regulations could harm our reputation or lead to litigation, which could adversely affect our financial condition.

Our franchising activities are subject to the rules and regulations of the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) and various state laws regulating the offer and sale of franchises. The FTC’s
franchise rule and various state laws require that we furnish a franchise disclosure document (“FDD”) containing certain information to prospective franchisees and a number of states require
registration of the FDD with state authorities. Substantive state laws that regulate the franchisor-franchisee relationship, including in the areas of termination and non-renewal, presently exist in a
substantial number of states. We believe that our FDD and franchising procedures comply in all material respects with both the FTC guidelines and the applicable state laws regulating franchising in
those states in which we have offered franchises.

See “Risk Factors” in Item 1A for a discussion of risks relating to federal, state and local regulation of our business.

Seasonality

Our business is subject to seasonal fluctuations. Historically, customer spending patterns for our established shops are lowest in the first quarter of the year due to holidays, consumer habits
and adverse weather. Other factors also have a seasonal effect on our results. For example, shops located near colleges and universities typically do more business during the academic year. Our
quarterly results have been and will continue to be affected by the timing of new shop openings and their associated pre-opening costs. As a result of these and other factors, our financial results for
any quarter may not be indicative of the results that may be achieved for a full fiscal year.

Intellectual Property and Trademarks

We regard our “Potbelly” and “Potbelly Sandwich Works” trademarks as having significant value and as being important factors in the marketing of our shops. We have also obtained
trademarks for several of our other menu items, such as “A Wreck,” and for various advertising slogans, including “Good Vibes, Great Sandwiches,” “Feed Your Smile” and “A First Class Dive.” We
have procedures in place to monitor for potential infringement of our intellectual property, and it is our policy to pursue registration of our intellectual property whenever possible and to oppose
vigorously any infringement thereof, taking into account the strength of our claim, likelihood of success, cost and overall business priorities.

We license the use of our registered trademarks to franchisees through franchise arrangements. The franchise arrangements restrict franchisees’ activities with respect to the use of our
trademarks and impose quality control standards for the goods and services offered in connection with the trademarks.
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Available Information

We maintain a website with the address www.potbelly.com. Potbelly's Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those
reports filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), are publicly available free of charge on the Investor Relations section of our website at investors.potbelly.com
as soon as reasonably practicable after these materials are filed with or furnished to the SEC. In addition, the SEC maintains an internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements
and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov. We also use our website as a tool to disclose important information about the company and comply with
our disclosure obligations under Regulation Fair Disclosure. Our corporate governance policies, Ethics Code of Conduct and Board committee charters are also posted on the Investor Relations
section of Potbelly's website. The information on our website (or any webpages referenced in this Annual Report on Form 10-K) is not part of this or any other report Potbelly files with, or furnishes
to, the SEC.
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ITEM 1A.    RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the following factors, which could materially affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. You should read these Risk Factors in conjunction with
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Item 7 and our consolidated financial statements and the related notes to those statements included in
Item 8.

Risks Related to our Business and Industry

We face significant competition for customers and our inability to compete effectively may affect our traffic, sales and shop-level profit margins, which could adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

The restaurant industry is intensely competitive with many well-established companies that compete directly and indirectly with us with respect to food safety and quality, ambience, service,
price, value and location. We compete with national, regional and locally owned limited-service restaurants, fast casual restaurants, and full-service restaurants. Some of our competitors have
significantly greater financial, marketing, personnel and other resources than we do, and many of our competitors are well established in markets in which we have existing shops or intend to locate
new shops. In addition, many of our competitors have greater name recognition nationally or in some of the local markets in which we have shops. Any inability to successfully compete with the
restaurants in our markets will place downward pressure on our customer traffic and may prevent us from increasing or sustaining our revenues and profitability. Consumer tastes, nutritional and
dietary trends, traffic patterns and the type, number and location of competing restaurants often affect the restaurant business, and our competitors may react more efficiently and effectively to those
conditions. Further, we face growing competition from the supermarket industry, with the improvement of their “convenient meals” in the deli section, and from limited-service and fast casual
restaurants, as a result of higher-quality food and beverage offerings by those restaurants. Meal kit delivery companies and other eat-at-home options also present some degree of competition for our
shops. In addition, some of our competitors have in the past implemented programs which provide price discounts on certain menu offerings, and they may continue to do so in the future. If we are
unable to continue to compete effectively, our traffic, sales and shop-level profit margins could decline, and our business, financial condition and results of operations would be adversely affected.

Our digital business, which has become an increasingly significant part of our business, is subject to risks.

If we do not continue to grow our digital business, it may be difficult for us to achieve our planned sales growth. We rely on some third-party delivery services to fulfill delivery orders and
their ordering and payment platforms, or our mobile app or online ordering system, could be interrupted by technological failures, user errors, cyber-attacks or other factors, which could adversely
impact sales through these channels and negatively impact our reputation. Our delivery partners are responsible for order fulfillment and errors or failures to make timely deliveries could cause guests
to stop ordering from us. Additionally, our delivery partners own the customer data for Potbelly orders placed on their platform and may use such customer data to encourage customers to order from
other restaurants or delivery platforms. The third-party restaurant delivery business is intensely competitive, with a number of players competing for market share, online traffic capital, and delivery
drivers. If the third-party delivery services that we utilize cease or curtail operations, increase their fees, or give greater priority or promotions on their platforms to our competitors, our delivery
business and our sales may be negatively impacted.

We are subject to risks associated with leasing property subject to long-term non-cancelable leases, and the costs of exiting leases at shops we have closed or may close in the future may be
greater than we estimate.

We do not own any real property and all of our company-operated shops are located on leased premises. Payments under our company-operated shops' leases account for a significant portion
of our operating expenses, and we expect that new company-operated shops in the future will also be leased. The leases for our shop locations generally have initial terms of ten years and typically
provide for two renewal options in five-year increments as well as for rent escalations. Generally, our leases are net leases that require us to pay our share of the costs of real estate taxes, utilities,
building operating expenses, insurance and other charges in addition to rent. We generally cannot cancel these leases. Additional sites that we lease are likely to be subject to similar long-term non-
cancelable leases. If we close a shop, we nonetheless may be obligated to perform our monetary obligations under the applicable lease, including, among other things, payment of the base rent for the
balance of the lease term. In addition, as each of our leases expire, we may fail to negotiate renewals, either on commercially acceptable terms or at all, which could cause us to close shops in
desirable locations. For further details on the significance of occupancy costs to our profitability, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations-
Results of Operations-Fiscal year 2023 (53 Weeks) Compared to Fiscal year 2022 (52 Weeks)-Revenues” in Item 7.
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We may sublease or assign properties and face future liability if subtenants or assignees default or incur contingent liabilities.

For the underperforming shops we have closed, we have negotiated lease termination agreements on terms that are acceptable to us for a majority of them. However, in some cases we may
seek to either assign leases and retain contingent liability for rent and other lease obligations or to retain the tenant’s obligations under the lease and sublease the shop premises to a third party. But we
may be unable to enter into such arrangements on acceptable terms, and even if we do, such arrangements may result in our incurring liabilities and expenses in future periods. The rent payments that
we receive from subtenants may be less than our rent obligations under the leases. Under these circumstances, we would be responsible for any shortfall. These risks are heightened as we continue to
increase our refranchising efforts which may adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations.

Our sales and profit growth could be adversely affected if comparable store sales are less than we expect.

The level of comparable store sales, which represent the change in year-over-year sales for company-operated shops open for 15 months or longer, will affect our sales growth and will
continue to be a critical factor affecting profit growth. Our ability to increase comparable store sales depends in part on our ability to successfully implement our initiatives to build sales. Such
initiatives may not be successful, resulting in our inability to achieve our target comparable store sales growth or that the change in comparable store sales could be negative, either of which may
cause a decrease in sales and profit growth that would adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Food safety and food-borne illness concerns may have an adverse effect on our business by reducing demand and increasing costs.

Food safety is a top priority, and we dedicate substantial resources to help ensure that our customers enjoy safe, quality food products. However, food-borne illnesses and food safety issues
have occurred in the food industry in the past and could occur in the future. Any report or publicity linking us to instances of food-borne illness or other food safety issues, including food tampering
or contamination, could adversely affect our brand and reputation as well as our revenues and profits. In addition, instances of food-borne illness, food tampering or food contamination occurring
solely at restaurants of our competitors could result in negative publicity about the food service industry generally and adversely impact our sales.

Furthermore, our reliance on external food suppliers and distributors increases the risk that food-borne illness incidents could be caused by factors outside of our control and that multiple
locations would be affected rather than a single shop. We cannot assure that all food items are properly maintained during transport throughout the supply chain and that our employees will identify
all products that may be spoiled or contaminated and should not be used in our shops. If our customers become ill from food-borne illnesses, we could be forced to temporarily close some shops.
Furthermore, any instances of food contamination, whether or not at our shops, could subject us or our suppliers to a food advisory, recall or withdrawal pursuant to the Food Safety Modernization
Act.

We have limited control with respect to the operations of our franchisees which could have a negative impact on our business.

Our franchisees are obligated to operate their shops according to our specific guidelines. We provide training opportunities to these franchisees to integrate them into our operating strategy.
However, since we do not have control over these shops, we cannot ensure that there will not be differences in product quality, operations, marketing or profitably or that there will be adherence to all
of our guidelines at these shops. The failure of these shops to operate effectively could adversely affect our cash flows from those operations or have a negative impact on our reputation or our
business.

In addition, franchisees may not have access to the financial or management resources that they need to open the shops contemplated by their agreements with us or be able to find suitable
sites on which to develop them, or they may elect to cease development for other reasons. Franchisees may not be able to negotiate acceptable lease or purchase terms for the sites, obtain the
necessary permits and governmental approvals or meet construction schedules. Any of these problems could slow our growth from franchise operations and reduce our franchise revenues.
Additionally, financing from banks and other financial institutions may not always be available to franchisees to construct and open new shops. The lack of adequate financing could adversely affect
the number and rate of new shop openings by our franchisees and adversely affect our future franchise revenues.
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Risks Related to Macroeconomic and Industry Conditions

Local conditions, adverse weather conditions, natural disasters, acts of violence, terrorism or civil unrest, could adversely affect our business.

Certain of the regions in which we operate have been, and may in the future be, subject to adverse local conditions, events, terrorist attacks, adverse weather conditions, or natural disasters,
such as earthquakes, floods, hurricanes and wildfires. Any of the foregoing events may result in physical damage, temporary or permanent closure, lack of an adequate work force, or temporary or
long-term disruption in the supply of food, beverages, electric, water, sewer and waste disposal services necessary for our shops to operate. Depending upon its magnitude, any of the foregoing could
severely damage our shops and/or adversely affect our business, results of operations or financial condition. We currently maintain property insurance and business interruption insurance covering all
locations in which we are the primary lessee. However, if there is a major disaster, such coverage may not be adequate. In addition, upon the expiration of our current insurance policies, adequate
insurance coverage may not be available at reasonable rates, or at all. We have disaster recovery procedures and business continuity plans in place to address most events of a crisis nature (including
hurricanes and other natural disasters) including back up and off-site locations for recovery of electronic and other forms of data and information. However, if we are unable to fully implement our
disaster recovery plans, we may experience delays in recovery of data, inability to perform vital functions, tardiness in required reporting and compliance, failures to adequately support shop
operations and other breakdowns in normal communication and operating procedures that may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and exposure
to administrative and other legal claims.

Increased commodity, energy and other costs could decrease our shop-level profit margins or cause us to limit or otherwise modify our menus, which could adversely affect our business.

Our profitability depends in part on our ability to anticipate and react to changes in the price and availability of food commodities, including among other things beef, poultry, grains, dairy
and produce. Prices may be affected due to market changes, increased competition, the general risk of inflation, shortages or interruptions in supply due to weather, disease or other conditions beyond
our control, or acts of war, terrorism or other hostilities, including the war between Russia and Ukraine and the conflict between Israel and Palestine. Other events could increase commodity prices or
cause shortages that could affect the cost and quality of the items we buy or require us to further raise prices or limit our menu options. These events, combined with other more general economic and
demographic conditions, could impact our pricing and negatively affect our sales and shop-level profit margins. We enter into certain forward pricing arrangements with our suppliers from time to
time, which may result in fixed or formula-based pricing with respect to certain food products. See “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk-Commodity Price Risk” in Item 7A.
However, these arrangements generally are relatively short in duration and may provide only limited protection from price changes, and the extent to which we use these arrangements varies
substantially from time to time. In addition, the use of these arrangements may limit our ability to benefit from favorable price movements.

Our profitability is also adversely affected by increases in the price of utilities, such as natural gas, whether as a result of commodity inflation, shortages or interruptions in supply, or
otherwise. Our profitability is also affected by the costs of insurance, labor, marketing, taxes and real estate, all of which could increase due to inflation, changes in laws, competition or other events
beyond our control. Our ability to respond to increased costs by increasing menu prices or by implementing alternative processes or products will depend on our ability to anticipate and react to such
increases and other more general economic and demographic conditions, as well as the responses of our competitors and customers. All of these things may be difficult to predict and beyond our
control. In this manner, increased costs could adversely affect our performance.

Shortages or interruptions in the supply or delivery of fresh food products could adversely affect our operating results.

We are dependent on frequent deliveries of fresh food products that meet our specifications. Shortages or interruptions in the supply of fresh food products caused by problems in production
or distribution, inclement weather, unanticipated demand or other conditions could adversely affect the availability, quality and cost of ingredients, which would adversely affect our operating results.

We have a limited number of suppliers for our major products and rely on a distribution network with a limited number of distribution partners for the majority of our national distribution
programs in the U.S. If our suppliers or distributors are unable to fulfill their obligations under their contracts, it could harm our operations.
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We have a limited number of suppliers for our major products, such as bread. In 2023, we purchased almost all of our bread from one supplier, Campagna-Turano Bakery, Inc., and more than
80% of our meat products from 10 suppliers. In addition, we contract with a distribution network with a limited number of distribution partners located throughout the nation to provide the majority
of our food distribution services in the U.S. Through our arrangement, our food supplies are largely distributed through six primary distributors. Although we believe that alternative supply and
distribution sources are available, there can be no assurance that we will be able to identify or negotiate with such sources on terms that are commercially reasonable to us. If our suppliers or
distributors are unable to fulfill their obligations under their contracts or we are unable to identify alternative sources, we could encounter supply shortages and incur higher costs. See “Business-
Sourcing and Supply Chain” in Item 1.

Our business operations and future development could be significantly disrupted if we lose key members of our management team.

The success of our business continues to depend to a significant degree upon the continued contributions of our senior officers and key employees, both individually and as a group. Our
future performance will be substantially dependent on our ability to retain and motivate key members of our senior leadership team. We currently have employment agreements in place with all of the
members of our senior leadership team. The loss of the services of any of these executive officers or other key employees could have a material adverse effect on our business and plans for future
development. In addition, we may have difficulty finding appropriate replacements and our business could suffer. We also do not maintain any key person life insurance policies for any of our
employees.

Inability to attract, train and retain top-performing personnel could adversely impact our financial results, business and ability to operate our shops.

We believe that our continued success will depend, in part, on our ability to attract, motivate and retain a sufficient number of qualified managers and the services of skilled personnel. A
sufficient number of qualified individuals may be in short supply in some communities. Competition in these communities for qualified staff and significant improvement in regional or national
economic conditions could increase the difficulty of attracting and retaining qualified individuals and could result in the need to pay higher wages and provide greater benefits. The loss of the services
of, or our inability to attract and retain, such personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business, including reduced restaurant operating hours and decreased product quality. We believe
good managers and staff are a key part of our success and devote significant resources to recruiting and training our restaurant managers and staff. We aim to reduce turnover among our restaurant
staff and managers in an effort to retain top performing employees and better realize our investment in training new employees. Any failure to do so may adversely impact our operating results by
increasing training costs and making it more difficult to deliver outstanding customer service, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial results. Additionally, any inability to recruit
and retain qualified individuals could delay the planned openings of new shops and could adversely impact our existing shops. Any such inability to retain or recruit qualified employees, increased
costs of attracting qualified employees or delays in shop openings could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Unionization activities, employment-related claims or labor disputes may disrupt our operations and affect our profitability.

Although none of our employees are currently covered under collective bargaining agreements, union organizers have engaged in efforts to organize our employees and those of other
restaurant companies and our employees may elect to be represented by labor unions in the future. If a significant number of our employees were to become unionized and collective bargaining
agreement terms were significantly different from our current compensation arrangements, it could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. In addition, a labor
dispute involving some or all of our employees may harm our reputation, disrupt our operations and reduce our revenues, and resolution of disputes may increase our costs.

As an employer, we may be subject to various employment-related claims, such as individual or class actions or government enforcement actions relating to alleged employment
discrimination, employee classification and related withholding, wage-hour, labor standards or healthcare and benefit issues. Such actions, if brought against us and successful in whole or in part, may
affect our ability to compete or could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

If we are unable to staff and retain qualified restaurant management and operating personnel in an increasingly competitive market, we may be unable to effectively operate and grow our
business and revenues, which could materially adversely affect our financial performance.
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Similar to the broader economy, we are experiencing labor shortfalls relative to our sales levels in certain parts of our workforce. If we are unable to attract and retain qualified people, our
restaurants could be short staffed, we may be forced to incur overtime expenses, and our ability to operate and expand our concepts effectively and to meet our customers' demand could be limited,
any of which could materially adversely affect our financial performance.

Risks Related to our Growth and Business Strategy

Identifying, opening and operating new shops entails numerous risks and uncertainties.

Our shop model is designed to generate strong cash flow, attractive shop-level financial results and high returns on investment. Our current strategy is to close underperforming shops and
continue with our limited rate of company-operated shop growth. We may not be able to open our planned new shops on a timely basis, if at all, given the uncertainty of numerous factors, including
the location of our current shops, demographics and traffic patterns. In the past, we have experienced delays in opening some shops and that could happen again. Delays or failures in opening new
restaurants could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

The number and timing of new shops opened during any given period may be negatively impacted by a number of factors including, without limitation:

• the identification and availability of attractive sites for new shops and the ability to negotiate suitable lease terms;
• anticipated commercial, residential and infrastructure development near our new shops;
• the proximity of potential sites to an existing shop;
• the cost and availability of capital to fund construction costs and pre-opening expenses;
• our ability to control construction and development costs of new shops;
• recruitment and training of qualified operating personnel in the local market;
• our ability to obtain all required governmental permits, including zoning approvals, on a timely basis;
• competition in new markets, including competition for appropriate sites;
• unanticipated increases in costs, any of which could give rise to delays or cost overruns; and
• avoiding the impact of inclement weather, natural disasters and other calamities.

If we are unable to expand in existing markets or penetrate new markets, our ability to increase our revenues and profitability may be harmed.

Our expansion into new markets may present increased risks.

In the past, we have opened shops in markets where we have little or no operating experience. Shops we open in new markets may take longer to reach expected sales and profit levels on a
consistent basis and may have higher construction, occupancy or operating costs than shops we open in existing markets, thereby affecting our overall profitability. New markets may have
competitive conditions, consumer tastes and discretionary spending patterns that are more difficult to predict or satisfy than our existing markets. We may need to make greater investments than we
originally planned in advertising and promotional activity in new markets to build brand awareness. We may find it more difficult in new markets to hire, motivate and keep qualified employees who
share our values. We may also incur higher costs from entering new markets if, for example, we assign area managers to manage comparatively fewer shops than we assign in more developed
markets. As a result, these new shops may be less successful or may achieve target shop-level profit margins at a slower rate. If we do not successfully execute our plans to enter new markets, our
business, financial condition or results of operations could be adversely affected.

New shops, once opened, may not be profitable, and the results that we have experienced in the past may not be indicative of future results.

Our results have been, and in the future may continue to be, significantly impacted by the timing of new shop openings (often dictated by factors outside of our control), including associated
shop pre-opening costs and operating inefficiencies, as well as changes in our geographic concentration due to the opening of new shops. We typically incur the most significant portion of pre-
opening expenses associated with a given shop within the five months immediately preceding and the month of the opening of the shop. Our experience has been that labor and operating costs
associated with a newly opened shop for the first several months of operation are materially greater than what can be expected after that time, both in aggregate dollars and as a percentage of
revenues. Our new shops commonly take 8 to 12 weeks to reach planned operating levels due to inefficiencies typically associated with new shops, including the training of new personnel, lack of
market awareness, inability to hire sufficient qualified staff and other factors. We may incur additional costs in new
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markets, particularly for transportation, distribution and training of new personnel, which may impact the profitability of those shops. Accordingly, the volume and timing of new shop openings may
have a meaningful impact on our profitability.

Although we target specified operating and financial metrics, new shops may not meet these targets or may take longer than anticipated to do so. Any new shops we open may not be
profitable or achieve operating results similar to those of our existing shops. If our new shops do not perform as planned, our business and future prospects could be harmed. In addition, if we are
unable to achieve our expected comparable store sales, our business, financial condition or results of operations could be adversely affected.

Opening new shops in existing markets may negatively affect sales at our existing shops.

The consumer target area of our shops varies by location, depending on a number of factors, including population density, other local retail and business attractions, area demographics and
geography. As a result, the opening of a new shop in or near markets in which we already have shops could adversely affect the sales of those existing shops. Existing shops could also make it more
difficult to build our consumer base for a new shop in the same market. Our business strategy does not entail opening new shops that we believe will materially affect sales at our existing shops, but
we may selectively open new shops in and around areas of existing shops that are operating at or near capacity to effectively serve our customers. Sales cannibalization between our shops may
become significant in the future as we continue to expand our operations and could affect our sales growth, which could, in turn, adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of
operations.

Our failure to manage our growth effectively could harm our business and operating results.

Our growth plan includes a combination of new shops and increasing same store sales. Our existing management systems, financial and management controls and information systems may
not be adequate to support our planned expansion. Our ability to manage our growth effectively will require us to continue to enhance these systems, procedures and controls and to locate, hire, train
and retain management and operating personnel. We may not be able to respond on a timely basis to all of the changing demands that our planned expansion will impose on management and on our
existing infrastructure or be able to hire or retain the necessary management and operating personnel, which could harm our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Our inability to successfully implement our business strategy, including expansion of our franchising efforts, could negatively impact our business and future profitability and growth.

We strive to grow profitability and create value for our stockholders through a strategy of continued excellence in shop-level execution, building company-operated shops in both new and
existing markets, increasing brand awareness and expansion of our franchising efforts. There are, however, risks associated with identifying, opening and operating new shops, increased costs in
brand marketing, re-franchising our company-operated shops, and signing new franchisees, and if we do not successfully implement our business strategy, it could negatively impact our business and
our future profitability and growth.

Our initiatives to increase sales and traffic, including menu optimization, off-premise sales options and increased marketing and brand awareness programs may not positively affect sales or
improve our results of operations.

We cannot assure that we will be able to successfully implement our initiatives, including the expansion of our franchising efforts. Further, our ability to achieve the anticipated benefits of
these initiatives within expected timeframes is subject to many estimates and assumptions, which are, in turn, subject to significant economic, competitive and other uncertainties, some of which are
beyond our control. There is no assurance that we will successfully implement, or fully realize the anticipated positive impact of, our initiatives, or execute successfully on strategy, in the expected
timeframes or at all. In addition, there can be no assurance that our efforts, if properly executed, will result in our desired outcome of improved financial performance.

The success of our franchisees is important to our future growth.

We have a significant percentage of system-wide shops owned and operated by our franchisees. While our franchise agreements are designed to require our franchisees to maintain brand
consistency, the franchise relationship reduces our direct day-to-day oversight of these restaurants and may expose us to risks not otherwise encountered if we maintained ownership and control. Our
reputation and financial results may be negatively impacted by: franchisee defaults in their obligations to us; limitations on our ability to enforce franchise obligations due to bankruptcy proceedings
or differences in legal remedies in varying jurisdictions; franchisee failures to participate in business strategy changes due to
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financial constraints; franchisee failures to meet obligations to pay employees; and franchisees’ failure to comply with food quality and preparation requirements.

Our inability to successfully and sufficiently raise menu prices could result in a decline in profitability.

We utilize menu price increases to help offset cost increases, including increased cost for commodities, minimum wages, employee benefits, insurance arrangements, construction, utilities
and other key operating costs. If our selection and amount of menu price increases are not accepted by consumers and reduce guest traffic, or are insufficient to counter increased costs, our financial
results could be negatively affected.

New information or attitudes regarding diet and health could result in changes in regulations and consumer eating habits that could adversely affect our revenues.

Regulations and consumer eating habits may change because of new information or attitudes regarding diet, health and safety. These changes may include regulations and recommendations
from medical and diet professionals pertaining to the ingredients and nutritional content of our menu items at our restaurants. For example, a number of states, counties and cities are enacting menu-
labeling laws requiring multi-unit restaurant operators to make certain nutritional information available to guests or restrict the sales of certain types of ingredients in restaurants. The success of our
restaurant operations is dependent, in part, upon our ability to respond effectively to changes in consumer health and disclosure regulations and to adapt our menu offerings to trends in eating habits.
If consumer health regulations or consumer eating habits change significantly, we may be required to modify or remove certain menu items. To the extent we are unable to respond with appropriate
changes to our menu offerings, it could materially affect customer demand and have an adverse impact on our revenues.

Evolving consumer preferences and tastes may adversely affect our business.

Our continued success depends on our ability to attract and retain customers. Our financial results could be adversely affected by: a shift in consumer spending away from outside-the-home
food (such as the disruption caused by online commerce that results in reduced foot traffic to “brick & mortar” retail stores); lack of customer acceptance of new products (including due to price
increases necessary to cover the costs of new products or higher input costs), brands and platforms (such as features of our mobile technology, changes in our loyalty rewards programs and our
delivery or catering services initiatives); or customers reducing their demand for our current offerings as new products are introduced. In addition, some of our products contain nuts, dairy products,
sugar and other compounds and allergens, the health effects of which are the subject of public and regulatory scrutiny, including the suggestion of linkages to a variety of adverse health effects. There
is increasing consumer awareness of health risks, including obesity, as well as increased consumer litigation based on alleged adverse health impacts of consumption of various food and beverage
products. While we have a variety of items, including items that have reduced calories, an unfavorable report on the health effects of compounds present in our products, whether accurate or not,
imposition of additional taxes on certain types of food and beverage components, or negative publicity or litigation arising from certain health risks could significantly reduce the demand for our
products and could materially harm our business and results of operations.

Our ability to raise capital in the future may be limited, which could make us unable to fund our capital requirements.

Our business and operations may consume resources faster than we anticipate. In the future, we may need to raise additional funds through the issuance of new equity securities, debt or a
combination of both. Additional financing may not be available on favorable terms or at all. If adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms, we may be unable to fund our capital
requirements. If we issue new debt securities, the debt holders would have rights senior to common stockholders to make claims on our assets, and the terms of any debt could restrict our operations,
including our ability to pay dividends on our common stock. If we issue additional equity securities, existing stockholders may experience dilution, and the new equity securities could have rights
senior to those of our common stock. Because our decision to issue securities in any future offering will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or
estimate the amount, timing or nature of our future offerings. Thus, our stockholders bear the risk of our future securities offerings reducing the market price of our common stock and diluting their
interest.
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Risks Related to Information Technology Systems, Cybersecurity and Data Privacy

If we are unable to protect the personal information that we gather or fail to comply with privacy and data protection laws and regulations, we could be subject to civil and criminal penalties,
suffer reputational harm and incur substantial costs.

In the ordinary course of our business, we collect, process, transmit, and retain personal information regarding our employees, our franchisees and their employees, vendors, contractors, and
consumers, which can include social security numbers, social insurance numbers, banking and tax identification information, health care information, and credit card information, and our franchisees
collect similar information. In recent years we expanded our development and management of our mobile app and online ordering platform. While our deployment of such technology facilitates our
primary goals of generating incremental sales and improving operations at our franchisees’ restaurants as well as additional customer awareness and interest in our shops, such deployment also means
that we are collecting and entrusted with additional personal information, including geo-location tracking information, about our customers.

In connection with the collection and retention of this information, we are subject to legal and compliance risks and associated liability related to privacy and data protection requirements.
Due to enhanced scrutiny from the general public, data privacy regulations as well as their interpretations and criteria for enforcement, continue to be subject to frequent change, and there are likely to
be other jurisdictions that propose or enact new or emerging data privacy requirements in the future. The complexity of these privacy and data protection laws may result in significant costs arising
from compliance and from any non-compliance, whether or not due to our negligence, and could affect our brand reputation and our results of operations.

In addition, to the extent that we are not in compliance with any data security laws or experience a major breach, theft, or loss of personal information that is held by us, or third parties on
our behalf (whether or not due to our failure to comply with data security rules and standards), we could be subject to substantial fines, penalties, indemnification claims, and potential litigation
against us which could negatively impact our results of operations and financial condition. As a result of any breach, we may incur additional capital expenditures arising from additional security
technologies, personnel, experts, and credit monitoring services for those whose data has been breached. These costs, which could be material, could adversely impact our results of operations during
the period in which they are incurred. Furthermore, negative publicity regarding a breach or potential security vulnerabilities in our systems or those of our franchisees or vendors (even if no breach
has been attempted or has occurred), could adversely affect the reputation of our brand and acceptance of our digital engagement with our customers which in turn could adversely affect our future
results of operations.

Information technology system failures or breaches of our network security could interrupt our operations and adversely affect our business.

We rely on our computer systems and network infrastructure across our operations, including point-of-sale processing at our shops. In addition, we are increasingly relying on cloud
computing and other technologies that result in third parties holding customer information on our behalf. Our operations depend upon our and our third-party vendors’ ability to protect our computer
equipment and systems against damage from physical theft, fire, power loss, telecommunications failure or other catastrophic events, as well as from internal and external security breaches, viruses
and other disruptive problems. Any damage or failure of our computer systems or network infrastructure that causes an interruption in our operations could have a material adverse effect on our
business and subject us to litigation or actions by regulatory authorities. In addition, an increasing number of transactions are processed through our mobile application. Disruptions, failures or other
performance issues with such customer facing technology systems could impair the benefits such systems provide to our business and negatively impact our relationship with our customers.

Security breaches of confidential customer information in connection with our electronic processing of credit and debit card transactions may adversely affect our business.

Any intentional attack or an unintentional event that results in unauthorized access to systems to disrupt operations, corrupt data or steal or expose confidential information or intellectual
property that compromises the information of our customers or employees could result in widespread negative publicity, damage to our reputation, a loss of customers, disruption of our business and
legal liabilities. As our reliance on technology has grown, the scope and severity of risks posed to our systems from cyber threats has increased. The techniques and sophistication used to conduct
cyber-attacks and breaches of information technology systems, as well as the sources and targets of these attacks, change frequently and are often not recognized until attacks are launched or have
been in place for a period of time. We continuously monitor and develop our information technology networks and infrastructure to prevent, detect, address and
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mitigate the risk of unauthorized access, misuse, malware and other events that could have a security impact; however, there can be no assurance that these or any measures will be effective.

Additionally, the majority of our sales are by credit or debit cards. Other restaurants and retailers have experienced security breaches in which credit and debit card information of their
customers has been stolen. We may in the future become subject to lawsuits or other proceedings for purportedly fraudulent transactions arising out of the actual or alleged theft of our customers’
confidential or personal information and credit or debit card information. Most states have also enacted legislation requiring notification of security breaches involving personal information, including
credit and debit card information. In connection with credit card sales, we transmit confidential credit card information by way of secure private retail networks. Although we use private networks,
third parties may have the technology or know-how to breach the security of the customer information transmitted in connection with credit card sales, and our security measures and those of our
technology vendors may not effectively prohibit others from obtaining improper access to this information. If a person is able to circumvent these security measures, he or she could destroy or steal
valuable information or disrupt our operations. Any security breach could expose us to risks of data loss, litigation, and liability, and could seriously disrupt our operations and any resulting negative
publicity could significantly harm our reputation.

Additionally, the California Privacy Act of 2018, which became effective on January 1, 2020, provides a new private right of action for data breaches and requires companies that process
information on California residents to make new disclosures to consumers about their data collection, use and sharing practices and allow consumers to opt out of certain data sharing with third
parties. Any such claim or proceeding, or any adverse publicity resulting from these allegations, may have a material adverse effect on our business.

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures to ensure we will timely and sufficiently notify our investors of material cybersecurity risks and incidents, including the associated financial,
legal or reputational consequences of such an event. In addition, we maintain policies and procedures to prevent directors, senior officers and other corporate insiders from trading stock after being
made aware of a material cybersecurity incident and to control the distribution of information about cybersecurity events that could constitute material nonpublic information about Potbelly; however,
we cannot be certain that a corporate insider who becomes aware of a material cybersecurity incident does not undertake to buy or sell Potbelly stock before information about the incident becomes
publicly available.

Our inability or failure to execute on a comprehensive business continuity plan at our restaurant support centers following a disaster or force majeure event could have a material adverse
impact on our business.

Many of our corporate systems and processes and corporate support for our restaurant operations are centralized at one location. We have disaster recovery procedures and business
continuity plans in place to address crisis-level events, including hurricanes and other natural disasters, and back up and off-site locations for recovery of electronic and other forms of data and
information, and events like the COVID-19 pandemic have provided a limited test of our ability to manage our business remotely. However, if we are unable to fully implement our disaster recovery
plans, we may experience delays in recovery of data, inability to perform vital corporate functions, tardiness in required reporting and compliance, failures to adequately support field operations and
other breakdowns in normal communication and operating procedures that could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operation and exposure to administrative and
other legal claims. In addition, these threats are constantly evolving, which increases the difficulty of accurately and timely predicting, planning for and protecting against the threat. As a result, our
disaster recovery procedures and business continuity plans may not adequately address all threats we face or protect us from loss.

Risks Related to Legislation and Regulations

Legislation and regulations requiring the display and provision of nutritional information for our menu offerings, and new information or attitudes regarding diet and health or adverse
opinions about the health effects of consuming our menu offerings, could affect consumer preferences and negatively impact our results of operations.

Government regulation and changes in consumer eating habits resulting from shifting attitudes regarding diet and health or new information regarding changes in the health effects of
consuming our menu offerings may impact our business. These changes have resulted in, and may continue to result in, the enactment of laws and regulations that impact the ingredients and
nutritional content of our menu offerings, or laws and regulations requiring us to disclose the nutritional content of our food offerings.

For example, PPACA establishes a uniform, federal requirement for certain restaurants to post certain nutritional information on their menus. Specifically, the PPACA amended the Federal
Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act to require chain restaurants with 20 or more locations operating under the same name and offering substantially the same menus to publish
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the total number of calories of standard menu items on menus and menu boards, along with a statement that puts this calorie information in the context of a total daily calorie intake. The PPACA also
requires covered restaurants to provide to consumers, upon request, a written summary of detailed nutritional information for each standard menu item, and to provide a statement on menus and menu
boards about the availability of this information. In addition, a number of states, counties, and cities have enacted menu labeling laws imposing requirements for additional menu disclosure, such as
sodium content. An unfavorable report on, or reaction to, our menu ingredients, the size of our portions or the nutritional content of our menu items could negatively influence the demand for our
offerings.

Compliance with current and future laws and regulations regarding the ingredients and nutritional content of our menu items may be costly and time-consuming. Additionally, if consumer
health regulations or consumer eating habits change significantly, we may be required to modify or discontinue certain menu items, and we may experience higher costs associated with the
implementation of those changes. Additionally, some government authorities are increasing regulations regarding trans-fats and sodium, which may require us to limit or eliminate trans-fats and
sodium from our menu offerings or switch to higher cost ingredients or may hinder our ability to operate in certain markets. If we fail to comply with these laws or regulations, our business could
experience a material adverse effect.

We cannot make any assurances regarding our ability to effectively respond to changes in consumer health perceptions or our ability to successfully implement the nutrient content disclosure
requirements and to adapt our menu offerings to trends in eating habits. The imposition of menu-labeling laws could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial position, as well
as the restaurant industry in general.

We are subject to many federal, state and local laws with which compliance is both costly and complex.

The restaurant industry is subject to extensive federal, state and local laws and regulations, including those relating to building and zoning requirements and those relating to the preparation
and sale of food. The development and operation of restaurants depend, to a significant extent, on the selection and acquisition of suitable sites, which are subject to zoning, land use, environmental,
traffic and other regulations and requirements. We are also subject to licensing and regulation by state and local authorities relating to health, sanitation, safety and fire standards.

We are subject to federal and state laws governing our relationships with employees (including the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, and
applicable requirements concerning the minimum wage, overtime, family leave, working conditions, safety standards, immigration status, scheduling notification requirements, unemployment tax
rates, workers’ compensation rates and state and local payroll taxes) and federal and state laws which prohibit discrimination. As significant numbers of our associates are paid at rates related to the
applicable minimum wage, further increases in the minimum wage or other changes in these laws could increase our labor costs. For example, the state of Illinois approved a minimum wage increase
that became effective on January 1, 2022 which increased the minimum wage to $12.00 per hour. As other jurisdictions implement minimum wage increases, we expect our business labor costs will
continue to increase. Our ability to respond to minimum wage increases by increasing menu prices will depend on the responses of our competitors and customers. Our distributors and suppliers
could also be affected by higher minimum wages, financial condition benefit standards and compliance costs, which could result in higher costs for goods and results services supplied to us.
Additionally, our ability to optimize our labor to meet our profitability goals is heavily dependent on precise workforce planning, which is impacted by laws related to wage and hour violations or
predictive scheduling ("fair workweek") in many of the markets that we operate and could be further impacted as more jurisdictions adopt such regulations.

We are subject to the ADA, which, among other things, requires our shops to meet federally mandated requirements for the disabled. The ADA prohibits discrimination in employment and
public accommodations on the basis of disability. Under the ADA, we could be required to expend funds to modify our shops to provide service to, or make reasonable accommodations for the
employment of, disabled persons. In addition, our employment practices are subject to the requirements of the Immigration and Naturalization Service relating to citizenship and residency.
Government regulations could also affect and change the items we procure for resale such as commodities.

Our franchising activities are subject to federal rules and regulations administered by the U.S. Federal Trade Commission and laws enacted by a number of states. In particular, we are subject
to federal and state laws regulating the offer and sale of franchises, as well as judicial and administrative interpretations of such laws. Such laws impose registration and disclosure requirements on
franchisors in the offer and sale of franchises and may also apply substantive standards to the relationship between franchisor and franchisee, including limitations on the ability of franchisors to
terminate franchises and alter franchise arrangements. Failure to comply with new or existing franchise laws, rules, and regulations in any jurisdiction or to obtain required government approvals
could negatively affect our ability to grow or expand our franchise business and sell franchises.
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The impact of current laws and regulations, the effect of future changes in laws or regulations that impose additional requirements and the consequences of litigation relating to current or
future laws and regulations, or our inability to respond effectively to significant regulatory or public policy issues, could increase our compliance costs and other costs of doing business and,
therefore, have an adverse effect on our results of operations. Failure to comply with the laws and regulatory requirements of federal, state and local authorities could result in, among other things,
revocation of required licenses, administrative enforcement actions, fines and civil and criminal liability. In addition, certain laws, including the ADA, could require us to expend significant funds to
make modifications to our shops if we failed to comply with applicable standards. Compliance with all of these laws and regulations can be costly and can increase our exposure to litigation or
governmental investigations or proceedings.

Failure to obtain and maintain required licenses and permits or to comply with food control regulations could lead to the loss of our food service licenses and, thereby, harm our business.

Restaurants are required under various federal, state and local government regulations to obtain and maintain licenses, permits and approvals to operate their businesses, and such regulations
are subject to change from time to time. The failure to obtain and maintain these licenses, permits and approvals could adversely affect our operating results. Typically, licenses must be renewed
annually and may be revoked, suspended or denied renewal for cause at any time if governmental authorities determine that our conduct violates applicable regulations. Difficulties or failure to
maintain or obtain the required licenses and approvals could adversely affect our existing shops and delay or result in our decision to cancel the opening of new shops, which would adversely affect
our business.

Restaurant companies have been the target of class action lawsuits and other proceedings alleging, among other things, violations of federal and state workplace and employment laws.
Proceedings of this nature are costly, divert management attention and, if successful, could result in our payment of substantial damages or settlement costs.

Our business is subject to the risk of litigation by employees, consumers, suppliers, stockholders or others through private actions, class actions, administrative proceedings, regulatory
actions or other litigation. The outcome of litigation, particularly class action and regulatory actions, is difficult to assess or quantify. In recent years, restaurant companies have been subject to
lawsuits, including class action lawsuits, alleging violations of federal and state laws regarding workplace and employment matters, discrimination and similar matters. A number of these lawsuits
have resulted in the payment of substantial damages by the defendants.

Occasionally, our customers file complaints or lawsuits against us alleging that we are responsible for some illness or injury they suffered at or after a visit to one of our shops, including
actions seeking damages resulting from food-borne illness or accidents in our shops. We are also subject to a variety of other claims from third parties arising in the ordinary course of our business,
including contract claims. The restaurant industry has also been subject to a growing number of claims that the menus and actions of restaurant chains have led to the obesity of certain of their
customers. We may also be subject to lawsuits from our employees, the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or others alleging violations of federal and state laws regarding workplace
and employment matters, discrimination and similar matters.

Regardless of whether any claims against us are valid or whether we are liable, claims may be expensive to defend and may divert time and money away from our operations. In addition,
they may generate negative publicity, which could reduce customer traffic and sales. Although we maintain what we believe to be adequate levels of insurance, insurance may not be available at all or
in sufficient amounts to cover any liabilities with respect to these or other matters. A judgment or other liability in excess of our insurance coverage for any claims or any adverse publicity resulting
from claims could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property, which, in turn, could harm the value of our brands and adversely affect our business.

Our ability to implement our business plan successfully depends in part on our ability to further build brand recognition using our trademarks, service marks and other proprietary intellectual
property, including our name and logos and the unique ambiance of our shops. We have registered or applied to register a number of our trademarks. We cannot assure you that our trademark
applications will be approved. Third parties may also oppose our trademark applications, or otherwise challenge our use of the trademarks. In the event that our trademarks are successfully
challenged, we could be forced to rebrand our goods and services, which could result in loss of brand recognition, and could require us to devote resources to advertising and marketing new brands. If
our efforts to register, maintain and protect our intellectual property are inadequate, or if any third party misappropriates, dilutes or infringes on our intellectual property, the value of our brands may
be harmed, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and might prevent our brands from achieving or maintaining market acceptance. We may also face the risk of claims that we
have infringed third parties’ intellectual property rights. If third parties claim that we infringe upon their intellectual property rights, our operating
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profits could be adversely affected. Any claims of intellectual property infringement, even those without merit, could be expensive and time consuming to defend, require us to rebrand our services, if
feasible, divert management’s attention and resources or require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements in order to obtain the right to use a third party’s intellectual property.

Changes in accounting standards or the recognition of impairment or other charges may adversely affect our future results of operations.

New accounting standards or changes in financial reporting requirements, accounting principles or practices, including with respect to our critical accounting estimates, could adversely
affect our future results. We may also be affected by the nature and timing of decisions about underperforming markets or assets, including decisions that result in impairment or other charges that
reduce our earnings. In assessing the recoverability of our long-lived assets, we consider changes in economic conditions and make assumptions regarding estimated future cash flows and other
factors. These estimates are highly subjective and can be significantly impacted by many factors such as global and local business and economic conditions, operating costs, inflation, competition,
and consumer and demographic trends. If our estimates or underlying assumptions change in the future, we may be required to record impairment charges. If we experience any such changes, they
could have a significant adverse effect on our reported results for the affected periods.

Risks Related to our Indebtedness

Limitations in our Revolving Facility may limit our ability to invest in the ongoing needs of our business and if we are unable to comply with our financial covenants, our liquidity and results of
operations could be harmed.

On February 7, 2024, we entered into a credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with Wintrust Bank, N.A., as administrative agent (the “Agent”). The Revolving Facility Credit
Agreement provides for a revolving loan facility with an aggregate commitment of $30 million (the “Revolving Facility”). The Revolving Facility places certain conditions on us, including that it
may:

• limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business or the industries in which we operate;
• make us more vulnerable to increases in interest rates, as borrowings under the Revolving Facility are at variable rates; and
• limit our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital or other purposes.

The Revolving Facility places certain limitations on our ability to incur additional indebtedness and, among other things, our ability to enter into certain types of transactions, financing
arrangements and investments, to make certain changes to our capital structure and to guarantee certain indebtedness. The Revolving Facility also places certain restrictions on the payment of
dividends and distributions. These restrictions limit or prohibit, among other things, our ability to:

• make certain restricted payments including, pay dividends on, redeem or repurchase our stock;
• incur additional indebtedness;
• create or incur liens;
• make certain dispositions, acquisitions or investments;
• merge or consolidate with or into other companies or undergo certain other fundamental changes;
• enter into swap transactions;
• enter into certain sale and leaseback transactions; and
• enter into certain transactions with our affiliates.

Failure to comply with certain covenants or the occurrence of a change of control under Revolving Facility could result in the acceleration of our obligations under the Credit Agreement,
which could harm our business, liquidity, capital resources and results of operations.

The Revolving Facility requires that we and our subsidiaries maintain compliance with certain minimum fixed charge coverage ratios and maximum consolidated leverage ratios as set forth
in the agreement. Changes in our financial performance with respect to certain financial ratios may increase our interest rates and failure to comply with these
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covenants could result in a default and an acceleration of our obligations under the Revolving Facility, which would harm our business, liquidity, capital resources and results of operations.

We may be unable to obtain additional debt or other financing on favorable terms or at all.

There are inherent risks in our ability to borrow. Our lenders may be unable to lend to us or tighten their lending standards, which could make it more difficult for us to refinance our existing
indebtedness or to obtain other financing on favorable terms or at all. Longer term disruptions in the capital and credit markets as a result of uncertainty, changing or increased regulation, reduced
alternatives, failures of significant financial institutions or other events could adversely affect our access to liquidity needed for our business. Any disruption could require us to take measures to
conserve cash until the markets stabilize or until alternative credit arrangements or other funding for our business can be arranged, which could harm our business, liquidity, capital resources and
results of operations. Such measures could include deferring capital expenditures (including the opening of new restaurants) and reducing or eliminating other discretionary uses of cash.

General Risk Factors

Economic conditions in the United States could materially affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The restaurant industry depends on consumer discretionary spending. During periods of economic downturn, continuing disruptions in the overall economy, including the impacts of high
unemployment and financial market volatility and unpredictability, may cause a related reduction in consumer confidence, which could negatively affect customer traffic and sales throughout our
industry. These factors, as well as national, regional and local regulatory and economic conditions, gasoline prices and disposable consumer income affect discretionary consumer spending. If
economic conditions worsen and our customers choose to dine out less frequently or reduce the amount they spend on meals while dining out, customer traffic could be adversely impacted. If
negative economic conditions persist for a long period of time or become pervasive, consumer changes to their discretionary spending behavior, including the frequency with which they dine out,
could be more permanent. The U.S. economy is likely to be affected by many national and international factors that are beyond our control. If sales decrease, our profitability could decline as we
spread fixed costs across a lower level of sales. Prolonged negative trends in shop sales could cause us to, among other things, reduce the number and frequency of new shop openings, close shops or
delay remodeling of our existing shops or take asset impairment charges.

Because many of our shops are concentrated in local or regional areas, we are susceptible to economic and other trends and developments, including adverse weather conditions, in these areas.

Our financial performance is highly dependent on shops located in Illinois, Texas, Michigan, Washington, D.C. and Virginia, which comprised approximately 65% of our total domestic
company-operated shops as of December 31, 2023. Shops located in the Chicago metropolitan area comprised approximately 27% of our total domestic shops as of such date. As a result, adverse
economic conditions in any of these areas could have a material adverse effect on our overall results of operations. In addition, given our geographic concentrations, negative publicity regarding any
of our shops in these areas could have a material adverse effect on our business and operations, as could other regional occurrences such as local strikes, terrorist attacks, increases in energy prices, or
natural or man-made disasters.

In particular, adverse weather conditions, such as regional winter storms, floods, severe thunderstorms and hurricanes, could negatively impact our results of operations. Temporary or
prolonged shop closures may occur, and customer traffic may decline due to the actual or perceived effects of future weather-related events.

Damage to our reputation or lack of acceptance of our brand in existing or new markets could negatively impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We believe we have built our reputation on the high quality of our food, service and staff, as well as on our unique culture and the ambience in our shops, and we must protect and grow the
value of our brand to continue to be successful in the future. Any incident that erodes consumer affinity for our brand could significantly reduce its value and damage our business. For example, our
brand value could suffer, and our business could be adversely affected if customers perceive a reduction in the quality of our food, service or staff, or an adverse change in our culture or ambience, or
otherwise believe we have failed to deliver a consistently positive experience.

We may be adversely affected by news reports, social media, or other negative publicity (regardless of their accuracy), regarding food quality issues, public health concerns, illness, safety,
injury or government or industry findings
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concerning our shops, restaurants operated by other foodservice providers, or others across the food industry supply chain. The risks associated with such negative publicity cannot be completely
eliminated or mitigated and may materially harm our results of operations and result in damage to our brand.

Our inability or failure to recognize, respond to and effectively manage the immediacy of social media could have a material adverse impact on our business.

There has been a marked increase in the use of social media platforms, including blogs, social media websites and other forms of Internet-based communications which allows individual
access to a broad audience of consumers and other interested persons. The availability of information on social media platforms is virtually immediate as is its impact. Many social media platforms
immediately publish the content their subscribers and participants can post, often without filters or checks on accuracy of the content posted. The opportunity for dissemination of information,
including inaccurate information, is seemingly limitless and readily available. Information concerning our company may be posted on such platforms at any time. Information posted may be adverse
to our interests or may be inaccurate, each of which may harm our performance, prospects or business. The harm may be immediate without affording us an opportunity for redress or correction. Such
platforms also could be used for dissemination of trade secret information, compromising valuable company assets. In sum, the dissemination of information online could harm our business,
prospects, financial condition and results of operations, regardless of the information’s accuracy.

Additionally, use of social media is an important element of our marketing efforts. New social media and internet-based communication platforms are developing rapidly, and we need to
continuously innovate and evolve our marketing strategies to maintain our brand relevance and broad appeal to guests. We also continue to invest in other digital marketing initiatives to reach our
guests and build their awareness of, engagement with, and loyalty to us, including our “Potbelly Perks” reward program. These initiatives may not be successful, resulting in expenses incurred
without the benefit of higher revenues, increased customer engagement or brand recognition. Other risks associated with our use of social media and internet-based communication platforms include
platforms and business partners who experience challenges, improper disclosure of proprietary information, negative comments about us, exposure of personally identifiable information, fraud,
hoaxes or malicious dissemination of false information. The inappropriate use of social media by our guests or employees could lead to litigation or result in negative publicity that could damage our
reputation.

Our marketing programs may not be successful.

We intend to continue to invest in marketing efforts that we believe will attract and retain customers. These initiatives may not be successful, resulting in expenses incurred without the
benefit of higher revenues. Additionally, if these initiatives are not successful, we may engage in additional promotional activities to attract and retain customers, including buy-one get-one offers and
other offers for free or discounted food, and any such additional promotional activities could adversely impact our results of operations.

We also plan to continue to emphasize mobile and other digital ordering, delivery and pick-up orders, and catering. These efforts may not succeed to the degree we expect or may result in
unexpected operational challenges that adversely impact our costs. We may also seek to introduce new menu items that may not generate the level of sales we expect. Additionally, some of our
competitors have greater financial resources, which enable them to spend significantly more on marketing and advertising than we are able to. Should our competitors increase spending on marketing
and advertising, or our marketing funds decrease for any reason, or should our advertising and promotions be less effective than our competitors, there could be a material adverse effect on our results
of operations and financial condition.

Our business is subject to seasonal fluctuations.

Historically, customer spending patterns for our established shops are lowest in the first quarter of the year due to holidays, consumer habits and adverse weather. Other factors also have a
seasonal effect on our results. For example, shops located near colleges and universities typically do more business during the academic year. Our quarterly results have been and will continue to be
affected by the timing of new shop openings and their associated pre-opening costs. As a result of these and other factors, our financial results for any quarter may not be indicative of the results that
may be achieved for a full fiscal year.

Changes to estimates related to our property, right-of-use assets for operating leases and equipment or operating results that are lower than our current estimates at certain shop locations may
cause us to incur impairment charges on certain long-lived assets, which may adversely affect our results of operations.
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In accordance with accounting guidance as it relates to the impairment of long-lived assets, we make certain estimates and projections with regard to individual shop operations, as well as
our overall performance, in connection with our impairment analyses for long-lived assets. When impairment triggers are deemed to exist for any location, the estimated forecasted shop cash flows
are compared to its carrying value. If the carrying value exceeds the estimated forecasted shop cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized as the amount by which the carrying amount of the
asset exceeds the fair value of the asset group. The projections of future cash flows used in these analyses require the use of judgment and a number of estimates and projections of future operating
results. If actual results differ from our estimates, additional charges for asset impairments may be required in the future. We have experienced significant impairment charges in past years. If future
impairment charges are significant, our reported operating results would be adversely affected.

Changes in tax laws and unanticipated tax liabilities could adversely affect the taxes we pay and our profitability.

We are subject to income and other taxes in the U.S., and our operations, plans and results are affected by various tax initiatives in the U.S. In particular, we are affected by the impact of
changes to tax laws or policy or related authoritative interpretations. We are also impacted by settlements of pending or any future adjustments proposed by taxing and governmental authorities inside
the U.S. in connection with our tax audits, all of which will depend on their timing, nature and scope. Any significant increases in income tax rates, changes in income tax laws or unfavorable
resolution of tax matters could have a material adverse impact on our financial results.

We have experienced and continue to experience labor cost inflation. If we are unable to offset higher labor costs, our cost of doing business will significantly increase, which could materially
adversely impact our financial performance.

Increases in minimum wages and minimum tip credit wages, extensions of personal and other leave policies, other governmental regulations affecting labor costs and a diminishing pool of
potential staff members when the unemployment rate falls and legal immigration is restricted, especially in certain localities, could significantly increase our labor costs and make it more difficult to
fully staff our restaurants, any of which could materially adversely affect our financial performance. If the United States federal government (or local jurisdictions) significantly increase the minimum
wage and tip credit wage (or eliminate the tip credit wage) and require significantly more mandated benefits than what is currently required under applicable law, our labor costs may increase. In
addition to increasing the overall wages paid to our minimum wage and tip credit wage earners, these increases create pressure to increase wages and other benefits paid to other staff members who,
in recognition of their tenure, performance, job responsibilities and other similar considerations, historically received a rate of pay exceeding the applicable minimum wage or minimum tip credit
wage. Because we employ a large workforce, any wage increase and/or expansion of benefits mandates will have a particularly significant impact on our labor costs. Our vendors, contractors and
business partners are similarly impacted by wage and benefit cost inflation, and many have or will increase their price for goods, construction and services in order to offset their increasing labor
costs.

Our labor expenses include significant costs related to our health benefit plans. Health care costs continue to rise and are especially difficult to project. Material increases in costs associated
with medical claims, or an increase in the severity or frequency of such claims, may cause health care costs to vary substantially from year-over-year. Given the unpredictable nature of actual health
care claims trends, including the severity or frequency of claims, in any given year our health care costs could significantly exceed our estimates, which could materially adversely affect our financial
performance. Any significant changes to the healthcare insurance system could impact our healthcare costs. Material increases in healthcare costs could materially adversely affect our financial
performance. While we try to offset labor cost increases through price increases, more efficient purchasing practices, productivity improvements and greater economies of scale, there can be no
assurance that these efforts will be successful. If we are unable to effectively anticipate and respond to increased labor costs, our financial performance could be materially adversely affected.

Failure of our internal control over financial reporting could adversely affect our business and financial results.

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is a process to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting is not intended to
provide absolute assurance that we would prevent or detect a misstatement of our financial statements or fraud. Any failure to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting
could limit our ability to report our financial results accurately and timely or to detect and prevent fraud. The identification of a material weakness could indicate a lack of controls adequate to
generate accurate financial statements that, in turn, could cause a loss of investor confidence and decline in the market price of our common stock. We cannot assure you that we will be able to timely
remediate any material weaknesses that may be identified in future periods or maintain all of the controls necessary for continued compliance. Likewise, we cannot assure you that we will be able to
retain sufficient
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skilled finance and accounting personnel, especially in light of the increased demand for such personnel among publicly traded companies.

Risks Related to Environmental Social and Governance Issues

Our business is subject to evolving corporate governance and public disclosure regulations and expectations, including with respect to environmental, social and governance matters, that could
expose us to numerous risks.

We are subject to changing rules and regulations promulgated by a number of governmental and self-regulatory organizations, including the SEC, the Nasdaq Stock Market and the Financial
Accounting Standards Board. These rules and regulations continue to evolve in scope and complexity and many new requirements have been created in response to laws enacted by Congress, making
compliance more difficult and uncertain. In addition, increasingly regulators, customers, investors, employees and other stakeholders are focusing on environmental, social and governance ("ESG")
matters and related disclosures. These changing rules, regulations and stakeholder expectations may result in, increased general and administrative expenses and increased management time and
attention spent complying with or meeting such regulations and expectations. For example, developing and acting on initiatives within the scope of ESG, and collecting, measuring and reporting ESG
related information and metrics can be costly, difficult and time consuming and is subject to evolving reporting standards, including the SEC's recently proposed climate-related reporting
requirements. We may also communicate certain initiatives and goals, regarding environmental matters, diversity, responsible sourcing and social investments and other ESG related matters, in our
SEC filings or in other public disclosures. These initiatives and goals within the scope of ESG could be difficult and expensive to implement, the technologies needed to implement them may not be
cost effective and may not advance at a sufficient pace, and we could be criticized for the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of the disclosure. In addition, we could be criticized for the scope or
nature of such initiatives or goals, or for any revisions to these goals. If our ESG-related data, processes and reporting are incomplete or inaccurate, or if we fail to achieve progress with respect to our
goals within the scope of ESG on a timely basis, or at all, our reputation, business, financial performance and growth could be adversely affected.

Climate change and volatile adverse conditions may have an adverse impact on our business.

While we seek to mitigate our business risks associated with climate change by establishing environmental goals and standards and seeking business partners, including within our supply
chain, that are committed to operating in ways that protect the environment or mitigate environmental impacts, we recognize that there are inherent climate-related risks wherever business is
conducted. Our financial results, our leased premises and operations may be vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate change, which are predicted to increase the frequency and severity of adverse
weather events and other natural cycles such as wildfires and droughts. In addition, our supply chain is subject to increased costs caused by the effects of climate change, greenhouse gases and
diminishing energy and water resources. Increasing weather volatility and changes in global weather patterns can reduce crop size and crop quality, or destroy crops altogether, which could result in
decreased availability or higher pricing for our produce and other ingredients. We may be forced to source ingredients from new geographic regions, which could impact quality and increase costs.
These factors are beyond our control and, in many instances, unpredictable. Climate change and government regulation relating to climate change also could result in construction delays for new
restaurants and interruptions to the availability or increases in the cost of utilities. The ongoing and long-term costs of these impacts related to climate change and other sustainability-related issues
could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition if we are not able to mitigate them.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

Our business could be negatively affected as a result of actions of activist stockholders.

From time to time, we may be subject to proposals by stockholders urging us to take certain corporate action. If activist stockholder activities ensue, our business could be adversely
impacted because:

• responding to actions by activist stockholders can be costly and time-consuming and divert the attention of our management and employees;
• perceived uncertainties as to our future direction may result in the loss of potential business opportunities and may make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified personnel and business

partners; and
• pursuit of an activist stockholder’s agenda may adversely affect our ability to effectively implement our business strategy and create additional value for our stockholders.

Our stock price could be extremely volatile and, as a result, you may not be able to resell your shares at or above the price you paid for them.
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Volatility in the market price of our common stock may prevent you from being able to sell your shares at or above the price you paid for your shares. The stock market in general has been
highly volatile, and this may be especially true for our common stock given our growth strategy and stage of development. As a result, the market price of our common stock is likely to be similarly
volatile. You may experience a decrease, which could be substantial, in the value of your stock, including decreases unrelated to our operating performance or prospects, and could lose part or all of
your investment. The price of our common stock could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to a number of factors, including those described elsewhere in this Annual Report and others such
as:

• actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly or annual operating results and the performance of our competitors;
• publication of research reports by securities analysts about us, our competitors or our industry;
• our failure or the failure of our competitors to meet analysts’ projections or guidance that we or our competitors may give to the market;
• additions and departures of key personnel;
• sales, or anticipated sales, of large blocks of our stock or of shares held by our stockholders, directors or executive officers;
• strategic decisions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions, divestitures, spin-offs, joint ventures, strategic investments or changes in business strategy;
• the passage of legislation or other regulatory developments affecting us or our industry;
• speculation in the press or investment community, whether or not correct, involving us, our suppliers or our competitors;
• changes in accounting principles;
• litigation and governmental investigations;
• terrorist acts, acts of war or periods of widespread civil unrest;
• a food-borne illness outbreak;
• severe weather, natural disasters and other calamities; and
• changes in general market and economic conditions.

As we operate in a single industry, we are especially vulnerable to these factors to the extent that they affect our industry or our products. In the past, securities class action litigation has
often been initiated against companies following periods of volatility in their stock price. This type of litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and resources,
and could also require us to make substantial payments to satisfy judgments or to settle litigation.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law may discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our company or changes in our management and, therefore,
may depress the trading price of our stock.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws include certain provisions that could have the effect of discouraging, delaying or preventing a change of control of our company or changes in our
management, including, among other things:

• restrictions on the ability of our stockholders to fill a vacancy on the board of directors;
• our ability to issue preferred stock with terms that the board of directors may determine, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile

acquirer;
• the inability of our stockholders to call a special meeting of stockholders;
• the absence of cumulative voting in the election of directors, which may limit the ability of minority stockholders to elect directors;
• advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and nominations, which may discourage or deter a potential acquirer from soliciting proxies to elect a particular slate of directors or

otherwise attempting to obtain control of us; and
• our bylaws may only be amended by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 2/3 of the voting power of outstanding shares of our capital stock entitled to vote generally in the election of

directors or by our board of directors.

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law may affect the ability of an “interested stockholder” to engage in certain business combinations, including mergers, consolidations or
acquisitions of additional shares, for a period of three years following the time that the stockholder becomes an “interested stockholder.” An “interested stockholder” is defined to include persons
owning directly or indirectly 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of a corporation.

It is not possible to predict the aggregate proceeds resulting from sales made under the Sales Agreement.

On November 3, 2021, we entered into an equity sales agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with William Blair & Company, L.L.C. (the “Sales Agent”), pursuant to which we may issue and
sell from time to time shares of our common
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stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $40 million through the Sales Agent (the “At-the-Market Offering”). Subject to certain limitations in the Sales Agreement and compliance with
applicable law, we have the discretion to deliver a placement notice to the Sales Agent at any time throughout the term of the Sales Agreement. The number of shares that are sold through the Sales
Agent after delivering a placement notice will fluctuate based on a number of factors, including the market price of our common stock during the sales period, the limits we set with the Sales Agent in
any applicable placement notice, and the demand for our common stock during the sales period. Because the price per share of each share sold will fluctuate during the sales period, it is not currently
possible to predict the aggregate proceeds to be raised in connection with those sales.

We may not be able to access sufficient funds under the Sales Agreement when needed.

The Sales Agent is only obligated to act as our agent in the sale of shares pursuant to the Sales Agreement on a commercially reasonable efforts basis and subject to certain conditions set
forth in the Sales Agreement. Therefore, we may not in the future, have access to the full amount available to us under the Sales Agreement. Any amounts we sell under the Sales Agreement may not
satisfy all of our funding needs, even if we are able and choose to sell and issue all of our common stock currently registered.

Because we have no plans to pay regular cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future, you may not receive any return on investment unless you sell your common stock for a
price greater than that which you paid for it.

We may retain future earnings, if any, for future operations, expansion and debt repayment and have no current plans to pay any cash dividends for the foreseeable future. Any decision to
declare and pay dividends in the future will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on, among other things, our results of operations, financial condition, cash
requirements, contractual restrictions and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant. In addition, our ability to pay dividends may be limited by covenants of any existing and future
outstanding indebtedness we or our subsidiaries incur, including our Term Loan. As a result, you may not receive any return on an investment in our common stock unless you sell our common stock
for a price greater than that which you paid for it.

ITEM 1B.    UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 1C.    CYBERSECURITY

We recognize the critical importance of maintaining the trust and confidence of our customers, franchisees and employees. Consequently, our cybersecurity policies, standards, processes and
practices are contained within our Corporate Security Policy. Our cybersecurity policies, standards, processes and practices are fully integrated into the Company's enterprise risk management
program.

We utilize multiple information systems, including accounting software, customer relationship management solutions, our mobile app, online ordering platforms, point-of-sale software and
data warehouse. In the ordinary course of business, we collect, and our franchisees may collect confidential information.

To protect the information that we gather and the availability of our IT systems from cybersecurity threats, we have an ongoing cybersecurity risk mitigation program, which includes
maintaining up-to-date detection, prevention and monitoring systems and contracting with outside cybersecurity firms to provide constant monitoring of our systems. A cybersecurity threat is any
potential unauthorized occurrence on or conducted through our information systems or the information systems of a third party that we utilize in our business which may result in adverse effects on
the confidentiality, integrity or availability of our information systems or any information residing therein. Our cybersecurity policies, standards, processes and practices are based on the Center for
Internet Security Critical Security Controls and include the following components:

◦ Collaborative Approach: We have implemented a comprehensive, cross-functional approach to identifying, preventing and mitigating cybersecurity threats and incidents, while
also implementing controls and procedures that provide for the prompt escalation of certain cybersecurity incidents so that decisions regarding the public disclosure and reporting of
such incidents can be made by management in a timely manner.

◦ Deployment of Technical Safeguards: We deploy technical safeguards that are designed to protect our information systems from cybersecurity threats, including firewalls,
intrusion prevention and detection systems, anti-malware functionality and access controls, which are evaluated and improved through vulnerability assessments and cybersecurity
threat intelligence. We identify and address information
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security risks by employing a defense-in-depth methodology that provides multiple, redundant defensive measures in case of security control fails or a vulnerability is exploited.
◦ Development and Periodic Testing of Incident Response and Recovery Planning: We have developed and maintain comprehensive incident response and recovery plans that

address our response to a cybersecurity threat, and such plans are tested and evaluated on a regular basis. Our periodic testing of these plans include a wide range of activities, such
as audits, assessments, tabletop exercises, threat modeling, vulnerability testing and other exercises focused on evaluating the effectiveness of our cybersecurity measures and
planning. We engage third parties to perform assessments on our cybersecurity measures, including information security maturity assessments, internal audits and independent
reviews of our information security control environment and operating effectiveness. The results of such assessments, audits and reviews are reported to the Audit Committee, and
we adjust our cybersecurity policies, standards, processes and practices as necessary based on the information provided by these assessments, audits and reviews.

◦ Outside Consultants: The Company engages various outside consultants, including contractors, assessors, auditors, outside attorneys and other third parties, to, among other things,
externally audit our systems against top information security standards, including controls for Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI DSS) and conduct regular testing
of our networks and systems to identify vulnerabilities.

◦ Third-Party Risk Management: We maintain a comprehensive, risk-based approach to identifying and overseeing cybersecurity risks presented by third parties, including service
providers, franchisees and other external users of our systems, as well as the systems of third parties that could adversely impact our business in the event of a cybersecurity incident
affecting those third-party systems. We conduct due diligence of third-party vendors that we engage.

◦ Implementation of Regular and Mandatory Employee Training and Awareness Programs: We provide regular, mandatory training for personnel regarding cybersecurity
threats as a means to equip our personnel with effective tools to address cybersecurity threats, and to communicate our evolving information security policies, standards, processes
and practices.

As of the date of this report, we are not aware of any material risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any previous cybersecurity incidents, that have materially affected us,
or that are reasonably likely to affect us, including our business strategy, results of operations or financial condition.

Governance

The Board has delegated to the Audit Committee the responsibility for monitoring and overseeing the Company’s cybersecurity and other information technology risks, controls, strategies
and procedures. The Audit Committee receives timely information regarding any cybersecurity incident that meets established reporting thresholds, as well as ongoing updates regarding any such
incident until it has been addressed. On a quarterly basis, the Audit Committee discusses our approach to cybersecurity risk management with our Chief Information Officer (“CIO”). The Audit
Committee makes regular reports to the full Board regarding our information technology risks. Each member of our Audit Committee is experienced in the area of information security, either as a
result of their professional history, their current responsibilities in overseeing processes and controls in this area at the Company, or both. The Audit Committee may discuss such processes and
controls with our internal accounting and security teams and independent registered public accounting firm.

Our CIO manages our Cyber Security Program, including the management of risks arising from cybersecurity threats. Our management receives quarterly, and more frequently, if necessary,
presentations and reports on cybersecurity risks, which address a wide range of topics including recent developments, evolving standards, vulnerability assessments, third-party and independent
reviews, the threat environment, technological trends and information security considerations arising with respect to our peers and third parties. Our CIO works, in coordination with our senior
management, to implement new programs, as needed, and to oversee our current programs which are designed to protect our information systems from cybersecurity threats and to promptly respond
to any cybersecurity incidents in accordance with our incident response and recovery plans. Our CIO monitors the prevention, detection, mitigation and remediation of cybersecurity threats and
incidents in real time, and report such threats and incidents to the Audit Committee when appropriate.

Our CIO has served in various roles in information technology and information security for over 20 years, including serving in senior leadership roles overseeing information technology
systems, including previous service at a company in our industry. Our CIO serves on the board of directors of the Chicago chapter of the Society for Information Management where he has the
opportunity to interact with senior IT leaders throughout the technology and business fields, including in the industry, government and academic sectors.
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ITEM 2.    PROPERTIES

We do not own any real property. As of December 31, 2023, we had the following number of company-operated shops located in the following areas:

Location Number of Shops Location Number of Shops

Illinois 108 Indiana 9 
Texas 58 Massachusetts 5 
Michigan 29 Oregon 5 
Virginia 22 Kansas 3 
District of Columbia 21 Oklahoma 2 
Minnesota 20 Kentucky 1 
Wisconsin 14 Missouri 1 
Maryland 13 Pennsylvania 1 
Ohio 12 Utah 1 
Arizona 10 
Colorado 10 

Total 345 

Initial lease terms for our company-operated properties are generally ten years, with the majority of the leases providing for an option to renew for two additional five-year terms. Nearly all
of our leases provide for a minimum annual rent, and some of our leases call for additional rent based on sales volume at the particular location over specified minimum levels. Generally, the leases
are net leases that require us to pay our share of the costs of real estate taxes, utilities, building operating expenses, insurance and other charges in addition to rent. For additional information
regarding our leases, see Note 8 in Item 8.

As of December 31, 2023, we occupied approximately 15,000 square feet of office space in Chicago, Illinois for our corporate headquarters which is leased through March 31, 2027.
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ITEM 3.    LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are subject to legal proceedings, claims and liabilities, such as employment-related claims and personal injury cases, which arise in the ordinary course of business and are generally
covered by insurance. In the opinion of management, the amount of ultimate liability with respect to those actions is not expected to have a material adverse impact on our financial position or results
of operations and cash flows.

ITEM 4.    MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not Applicable
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PART II

ITEM 5.    MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Common Stock Market Prices and Dividends

Our common stock is listed on the NASDAQ under the symbol “PBPB”.

As of February 25, 2024, there were 33 stockholders of record of our common stock. This number excludes stockholders whose stock is held in nominee or street name by brokers.

Dividend Policy

We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings to fund the development and growth of the business and for repurchases of our common stock, and therefore we do
not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of the Potbelly Board of Directors, subject to compliance with
covenants in future agreements governing our indebtedness, and will depend upon our results of operations, financial condition, capital requirements and other factors that the Board of Directors
deems relevant. In addition, in certain circumstances, the Revolving Facility restricts Potbelly’s ability to pay dividends. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations—Revolving Facility” in Item 7.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer

There were no purchases of our common stock made by or on behalf of Potbelly Corporation during the year ended December 31, 2023.

Performance Graph

The following graph and accompanying table show the cumulative total return to stockholders of Potbelly Corporation’s common stock relative to the cumulative total returns of the
NASDAQ Composite Index, S&P 600 SmallCap Index and S&P 600 Restaurants Index. The graph tracks the performance of a $100 investment in our common stock and in each of the indices (with
the reinvestment of dividends) from December 31, 2018 to December 31, 2023. The stock price performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.
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ITEM 6.    RESERVED

ITEM 7.    MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes to those
statements included in Item 8. The discussion contains forward-looking statements involving risks, uncertainties and assumptions that could cause Potbelly results to differ materially from
expectations. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including those described in “Risk Factors” in Item 1A
and elsewhere in this report.

This section of this Form 10-K generally discusses our results of operations and financial condition for the year ended December 31, 2023. For a discussion of similar topics for the years
ended December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021, please refer to “Item 7 – Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in our Form 10-K, filed on
March 2, 2023, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Overview

Potbelly Corporation is a neighborhood sandwich concept that has been a much-needed lunch-break escape for more than 40 years. Potbelly owns and operates Potbelly Sandwich Shop
concepts in the United States. We also have domestic franchise operations of Potbelly Sandwich Shop concepts. Potbelly’s chief operating decision maker is our Chief Executive Officer. Based on
how our Chief Executive Officer reviews financial performance and allocates resources on a recurring basis, we have one operating segment and one reportable segment.

Our shop model is designed to generate, and has generated, strong cash flow, attractive shop-level financial results and high returns on investment. We operate our shops successfully in a
wide range of geographic markets, population densities and real estate settings. We aim to generate average shop-level profit margins, a non-GAAP measure, that range from mid to high teens. Our
ability to achieve such margins and returns depends on a number of factors, including consumer behaviors, the economy, and labor and commodity costs. For example, we face increasing labor and
commodity costs, which we have partially offset by increasing menu prices. Although there is no guarantee that we will be able to achieve these returns, we believe our attractive shop economics
support our ability to profitably grow our brand in new and existing markets.

The table below sets forth a rollforward of company-operated and franchise-operated activities:

Company- Operated Franchise-Operated Total Company

Shops as of December 27, 2020 400 46 446 
Shops opened — 3 3 
Shops closed (3) (3) (6)
Shops refranchised — — — 
Shops as of December 26, 2021 397 46 443 
Shops opened — 1 1 
Shops closed (13) (2) (15)
Shops refranchised — — — 
Shops as of December 25, 2022 384 45 429 
Shops opened 1 5 6 
Shops closed (7) (4) (11)
Shops refranchised (33) 33 — 
Shops as of December 31, 2023 345 79 424 
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Fiscal Year

Operating results are reported on a 52-week fiscal year calendar, with a 53-week year occurring every fifth or sixth year. Our fiscal year ends on the last Sunday of each calendar year. Fiscal
year 2023 consists of 53 weeks and fiscal years 2022 and 2021 were 52-week fiscal years. The first three quarters of our fiscal year consist of 13 weeks and our fourth quarter consists of 14 weeks for
a 53-week fiscal year and 13 weeks for a 52-week fiscal year.

Key Performance Indicators

In assessing the performance of our business, we consider a variety of performance and financial measures. The key measures for determining how the business is performing are comparable
store sales, number of company-operated shop openings, shop-level profit margins, and adjusted EBITDA.

Company-Operated Comparable Store Sales

Comparable store sales reflect the change in year-over-year sales for the comparable company-operated store base. We define the comparable store base to include those shops open for 15
months or longer. For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2023, December 25, 2022, and December 26, 2021 there were 366, 379 and 366 shops, respectively, in our comparable company-operated
store base. Comparable store sales growth can be generated by an increase in number of transactions and/or by increases in the average check amount resulting from a shift in menu mix and/or
increase in price. This measure highlights performance of existing shops as the impact of new shop openings is excluded. For purposes of the comparable store sales calculation, a transaction is
defined as an entrée, which includes sandwiches, salads and bowls of soup or mac and cheese.

Number of Company-Operated Shop Openings

The number of company-operated shop openings during a particular reporting period may have an impact on our results that period and other surrounding periods. Before we open new
company-operated shops, we incur pre-opening costs. Often, new shops open with an initial start-up period of higher than normal sales volumes, which subsequently decrease to stabilized levels.
While sales volumes are generally higher during the initial opening period, new shops typically experience normal inefficiencies in the form of higher cost of sales, labor and other direct operating
expenses and as a result, shop-level profit margins are generally lower during the start-up period of operation. The average start-up period is 10 to 13 weeks. With our focus on franchise shop
development, we expect our company shop development will be limited in 2024.

Number of Franchise-Operated Shop Openings

The number of franchise-operated shop openings during a particular reporting period may have an impact on our franchise revenue during that period and subsequent periods. For each
franchise-operated shop, we collect an initial franchise fee that is recognized as revenue over the term of the franchise agreement, beginning with the shop opening date. We also collect royalties and
other fees from the franchisee after their shop opens and they begin generating sales. We enter into development agreements with some franchisees to open a certain number shops over a specified
development schedule, and we expect the number of franchise-operated shop openings to increase as franchisees make progress on their development commitments.

Shop-Level Profit Margin

Shop-level profit margin is defined as net company-operated sandwich shop sales less company-operated sandwich shop operating expenses, excluding depreciation, which consists of food,
beverage and packaging costs, labor and related expenses, occupancy expenses, and other operating expenses, as a percentage of net company-operated sandwich shop sales. Other operating expenses
include all other shop-level operating costs, excluding depreciation, the major components of which are credit card fees, fees to third-party marketplace partners, marketing and advertising, shop
technology and software, supply chain costs, operating supplies, utilities, and repair and maintenance costs. Shop-level profit margin is not required by, or presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
We believe shop-level profit margin is important in evaluating shop-level productivity, efficiency and performance.

Adjusted EBITDA
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We define adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) attributable to Potbelly before depreciation and amortization, interest expense and provision for income taxes, adjusted for the impact of the
following items that we do not consider representative of ongoing operating performance: stock-based compensation expense, impairment and shop closure expenses, gain or loss on disposal of
property and equipment and gain on Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative activities as well as other one-time, non-recurring charges, such as gain on extinguishment of debt. Adjusted EBITDA is
not required by, or presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP. We believe that adjusted EBITDA is a useful measure of operating performance, as it provides a picture of operating results by
eliminating expenses that management does not believe are reflective of underlying business performance.

Key Financial Definitions

Sandwich shop sales, net

Net sandwich shop sales includes of food and beverage sales, net of promotional allowances and employee meals generated by company-operated shops. Company-operated shop sales are
influenced by new shop openings, shop closures, including refranchise transactions, and comparable store sales.

Franchise royalties, fees and rental income

Franchise royalties, fees and rental income includes royalty income and Brand Fund contributions collected from our franchisee, both of which are earned based on a percentage of franchisee
sales, an initial franchise fee, which is recognized over the term of the franchise agreement once a shop is opened, fees to support shop systems and technology, and in some cases where we sublease
to a franchisee, rental income.

Food, beverage and packaging costs

    The components of food, beverage and packaging costs are variable in nature, change with sales volume, are influenced by menu mix and are subject to increases or decreases based on fluctuations
in commodity costs.

Labor and Related Expenses

Labor and related expenses include all shop-level management and hourly labor costs, including salaries, wages, benefits and performance incentives, labor taxes and other indirect labor
costs.

Occupancy Expenses

Occupancy expenses include fixed and variable portions of rent, common area maintenance and real estate taxes.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses include all other shop-level operating costs, excluding depreciation, the major components of which are fees to third-party marketplace partners, credit card fees,
operating supplies, utilities, repair and maintenance costs, and shop-level marketing costs. Other operating expenses also include expenses incurred by the Brand Fund, which are recorded to the
company-operated shops based on a percentage of sales. These expenses include production and media costs related to brand advertising.

Franchise Support, Rent and Marketing Expenses

Franchise support, rent and marketing expenses include Brand Fund, information technology, supply chain, occupancy and operations expenses for franchised shops.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses is comprised of expenses associated with corporate and administrative functions that support the development and operations of shops, including
compensation and benefits, travel expenses, stock-based compensation costs, legal and professional fees, costs related to abandoned new shop development sites and other related corporate costs.
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Depreciation Expense

Depreciation expense includes the depreciation of fixed assets and capitalized leasehold improvements.

Pre-Opening Costs

Pre-opening costs consist of costs incurred prior to opening a new shop and are made up primarily of travel, employee payroll and training costs incurred prior to the shop opening, as well as
occupancy costs incurred from when we take site possession to shop opening. Shop pre-opening costs are expensed as incurred.

(Gain)/Loss on Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative Activities

(Gain)/Loss on Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative Activities includes the gains and losses recognized on the sale of company-operated shops and other expenses incurred to execute a
refranchising transaction.

Impairment, Loss on Disposal of Property and Equipment and Shop Closures

Potbelly reviews long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, intangibles and lease right-of-use assets, for impairment when events or circumstances indicate the carrying value of the
assets may not be recoverable and records an impairment charge when appropriate. The impairment loss recognized is the excess of the carrying value of the asset over its fair value. Typically, the fair
value of the asset is determined by estimating discounted future cash flows associated with the asset. The fair value of right-of-use assets is estimated using market comparative information for
similar properties. Loss on disposal of property and equipment represents the net book value of property and equipment less proceeds received, if applicable, on assets abandoned or sold. These losses
are related to normal disposals in the ordinary course of business, along with disposals related to shop closures and selected shop remodeling activities. Shop closures includes lease termination
payments and the derecognition of the associated right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, as well as any other costs directly incurred in the closure of the shop and after a shop has closed for business.

Loss/(Gain) on Extinguishment of Debt

Loss/(gain) on extinguishment of debt includes the gains and losses recognized on the termination in full of our obligations and commitments under various credit facilities. Refer to the
Liquidity and Capital Resources section of this filing for additional information.

Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net primarily consists of interest and fees associated with our Term Loan, including the amortization of debt issuance costs and other miscellaneous interest charges. Interest
expense, net includes interest income generated through our investments in money market funds.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense represents estimated tax charges due to municipalities based on our income earned in those jurisdictions.

Non-controlling Interests

Non-controlling interests represents non-controlling partners’ share of the assets, liabilities and operations related to seven joint venture investments. Potbelly has ownership interests ranging
from 51-80% in these consolidated joint ventures.
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Results of Operations

Fiscal Year 2023 (53 Weeks) Compared to Fiscal Year 2022 (52 Weeks)

The following table presents information comparing the components of net income for the periods indicated (dollars in thousands):
Fiscal Year

2023
% of

Revenues 2022
% of

Revenues 2021 % of Revenues
Revenues

Sandwich shop sales, net $ 482,246 98.1 % $ 447,901 99.1 % $ 377,283 99.3 %
Franchise royalties, fees and rental income 9,163 1.9 4,072 0.9 2,769 0.7
Total revenues 491,409 100.0 451,973 100.0 380,052 100.0

Expenses
(Percentages stated as a percent of sandwich shop sales, net)

Sandwich shop operating expenses, excluding depreciation
Food, beverage and packaging costs 133,726 27.7 129,151 28.8 105,035 27.8
Labor and related expenses 143,744 29.8 142,095 31.7 127,099 33.7
Occupancy expenses 51,885 10.8 54,536 12.2 53,821 14.3
Other operating expenses 84,363 17.5 74,916 16.7 63,514 16.8

(Percentages stated as a percent of total revenues)
Franchise support, rent and marketing expenses 5,741 1.2 694 0.2 313 NM
General and administrative expenses 48,496 9.9 37,741 8.4 31,724 8.3
Depreciation expense 12,138 2.5 11,890 2.6 15,909 4.2
Pre-opening costs 115 NM — NM — NM
Gain on Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative activities (2,142) (0.4) — NM — NM
Impairment, loss on disposal of property and equipment and shop closures 3,338 0.7 4,754 1.1 5,125 1.3
Total expenses 481,403 98.0 455,777 100.8 402,540 105.9
Income (loss) from operations 10,006 2.0 (3,804) (0.8) (22,488) (5.9)

Interest expense, net 3,281 0.7 1,349 0.3 963 0.3
Loss/(gain) on extinguishment of debt 239 NM (10,191) (2.3) — NM
Income (loss) before income taxes 6,486 1.3 5,038 1.1 (23,451) (6.2)
Income tax expense 909 0.2 327 NM 172 NM
Net income (loss) 5,577 1.1 4,711 1.0 (23,623) (6.2)
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests 458 NM 366 NM 161 NM

Net income attributable to Potbelly Corporation $ 5,119 1.0 % $ 4,345 1.0 % $ (23,784) (6.3) %

Fiscal Year
Other Key Performance Indicators 2023 2022 2021
Comparable Store Sales 12.0 % 18.5 % 30.3 %
Shop-level profit margin 14.2 % 10.5 % 7.4 %
Adjusted EBITDA $ 28,331 $ 15,739 $ 522 

"NM" - Amount is not meaningful

40



This section of this Form 10-K generally discusses our results of operations and financial condition for the year ended December 31, 2023. For a discussion of similar topics for the years
ended December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021, please refer to “Item 7 – Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in our Form 10-K, filed on
March 2, 2023, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Sandwich shop sales, net

Sandwich shop sales, net increased by $34.3 million, or 7.7%, to $482.2 million for the fiscal year 2023, from $447.9 million for the fiscal year 2022. This increase was primarily driven by
the sustained recovery of our company-operated shops in central business districts and airport locations, improved performance of our catering channel, successful marketing programs, and increased
prices to offset cost inflation. Fiscal year 2023 included an additional week in the fourth quarter which contributed $6.2 million in shop sales, a lower volume week due the timing of holidays.
Company-operated comparable store sales resulted in an increase of $51.2 million, or 12.0% for fiscal year 2023. The increase in revenue also included sales from shops that were temporarily closed
in 2022. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in sales of $24.7 million from shops that have permanently closed or were refranchised over the last 12 months.

Franchise royalties, fees and rental income

Revenue from franchise royalties, fees and rental income increased by $5.1 million, or 125.0% driven primarily by an increase in franchise shops due to refranchise transactions, including
rental income from new subleases on certain refranchised shops.

Food, beverage and packaging costs

Food, beverage and packaging costs increased by $4.6 million, or 3.5%, to $133.7 million for fiscal year 2023, compared to $129.2 million for fiscal year 2022. This increase was primarily
driven by an increase in shop sales volume and inflation, as well as an additional week in the fourth quarter of 2023. As a percentage of sandwich shop sales, food, beverage and packaging costs
decreased to 27.7% for fiscal year 2023, from 28.8% for fiscal year 2022, primarily driven by increased menu prices and lower costs of protein.

Labor and Related Expenses

Labor and related expenses increased by $1.6 million, or 1.2%, to $143.7 million for fiscal year 2023, from $142.1 million for the fiscal year 2022, primarily driven by an increase in shop
sales volumes and higher shop labor wage rates as a result of labor availability challenges in certain restaurants. Fiscal year 2023 also included labor and related expenses for an additional week in the
fourth quarter. As a percentage of sandwich shop sales, labor and related expenses decreased to 29.8% for fiscal year 2023, from 31.7% for fiscal year 2022, primarily driven by sales leverage in
certain labor related costs not directly variable with sales as well as a continued focus in realizing operational efficiencies in our workforce.

Occupancy Expenses

Occupancy expenses decreased by $2.7 million, or 4.9%, to $51.9 million for fiscal year 2023, from $54.5 million for fiscal year 2022, primarily due to our refranchising efforts partially
offset by an additional week in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2023. As a percentage of sandwich shop sales, occupancy expenses decreased to 10.8% for the fiscal year 2023, from 12.2% for fiscal
year 2022, primarily due to increased sales leverage in certain occupancy related costs and refranchising activities.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses increased by $9.4 million, or 12.6%, to $84.4 million for fiscal year 2023, from $74.9 million for fiscal year 2022. The increase was primarily related to an increase
in marketing and advertising spend and certain variable costs, including fees to third-party delivery partners and credit card fees as well as an additional week in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2023.
Brand Fund expenses included in other operating expenses were $12.3 million and $6.6 million for fiscal years 2023 and 2022, respectively. As a percentage of sandwich shop sales, other operating
expenses increased to 17.5% for fiscal year 2023, from 16.7% for fiscal year 2022, primarily driven by increased Brand Fund expenses as noted above.

Franchise support, rent and marketing expenses
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Franchise support, rent and marketing expenses increased by $5.0 million, or 727.2%, to $5.7 million for fiscal year 2023, from $0.7 million for fiscal year 2022. The increase was driven by
an increase in marketing and advertising expenses related to the Brand Fund and rent expense from shops subleased to franchisees.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by $10.8 million, or 28.5%, to $48.5 million for fiscal year 2023, from $37.7 million for fiscal year 2022. This increase was primarily driven
by an increase in bonus expense, payroll costs and stock-based compensation expense. As a percentage of revenues, general and administrative expenses increased to 9.9% for fiscal year 2023, from
8.4% for fiscal year 2022, primarily driven by an increase in corporate headcount to support our growth and development initiatives.

Depreciation Expense

Depreciation expense increased by $0.2 million, or 2.1%, to $12.1 million for fiscal year 2023, from $11.9 million for fiscal year 2022. As a percentage of revenues, depreciation decreased
to 2.5% for fiscal year 2023, from 2.6% for fiscal year 2022.

Gain on Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative activities

Gain on Franchise Growth Acceleration was a gain of $2.1 million during fiscal year 2023. The gain was driven by the execution of two refranchise transactions in the fourth quarter of fiscal
year 2023, partially offset by losses incurred in connection with two refranchising transactions in the first half of fiscal year 2023. No gains or losses were incurred during fiscal year 2022 since no
refranchising transactions were entered during that period.

Impairment, Loss on Disposal of Property and Equipment and Shop Closures

Impairment, loss on disposal of property and equipment and shop closures decreased to $3.3 million for fiscal year 2023, compared to $4.8 million for fiscal year 2022.

After performing a periodic review of our shops during fiscal year 2023, it was determined that indicators of impairment were present for certain shops as a result of continued
underperformance. We performed an impairment analysis related to these shops and recorded an impairment charge of $1.2 million for fiscal year 2023.

During fiscal year 2023, the Company incurred $0.5 million in lease termination fees, which were fully offset by gains recognized on the termination of the leases.

Loss/(Gain) on Extinguishment of Debt

Loss/(gain) on extinguishment of debt was a loss of $0.2 million in fiscal year 2023 compared with a gain of $10.2 million in fiscal year 2022. The loss in fiscal year 2023 was a result of the
termination of our Former Credit Facility. The gain in fiscal year 2022 was a result of forgiveness of our Paycheck Protection Payment Loan. Both of these transactions are further described in the
Liquidity and Capital Resource section of this filing.

Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net was $3.3 million for fiscal year 2023 and $1.3 million for fiscal year 2022, as a result of higher borrowings outstanding and higher interest rates on our Term Loan
entered into in February 2023. The increase was partially offset by interest income generated through investments in money market funds of $0.5 million during fiscal year 2023.

Income Tax Expense

We recognized income tax expense of $0.9 million for fiscal year 2023 compared to $0.3 million for fiscal year 2022. The increase was driven by an increase in our taxable income and the
related taxes in jurisdictions where the income is not able to be fully offset by our net operating loss carryforwards.
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Non-Controlling Interests

The portion of income attributable to non-controlling interest increased in fiscal year 2023 compared with fiscal year 2022 primarily due to increased airport travel driving higher traffic in
these locations, partially offset by additional costs incurred.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Shop-Level Profit Margin

Shop-level profit margin was 14.2% for fiscal year 2023. Shop-level profit margin is not required by, or presented in accordance with GAAP. We believe shop-level profit margin is
important in evaluating shop-level productivity, efficiency and performance.

Fiscal Year Ended
December 31,

2023
December 25,

2022
December 26,

2021

Income (loss) from operations [A] $ 10,006 $ (3,804) $ (22,488)
Income (loss) from operations margin [A÷B] 2.0 % (0.8)% (5.9)%

Less: Franchise royalties, fees and rental income 9,163 4,072 2,769 
Franchise support, rent and marketing expenses 5,741 694 313 
General and administrative expenses 48,496 37,741 31,724 
Depreciation expense 12,138 11,890 15,909 
Pre-opening costs 115 — — 
Gain on Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative activities (2,142) — — 
Impairment, loss on disposal of property and equipment and shop closures 3,338 4,754 5,125 

Shop-level profit [C] $ 68,528 $ 47,203 $ 27,814 
Total revenues [B] $ 491,409 $ 451,973 $ 380,052 
Less: Franchise royalties, fees and rental income 9,163 4,072 2,769 

Sandwich shop sales, net [D] $ 482,246 $ 447,901 $ 377,283 
Shop-level profit margin [C÷D] 14.2 % 10.5 % 7.4 %
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Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA was $28.3 million for the fiscal year 2023. Adjusted EBITDA is not required by, or presented in accordance with GAAP. We believe that adjusted EBITDA is a useful
measure of operating performance, as it provides a picture of operating results by eliminating expenses that management does not believe are reflective of underlying business performance.

Fiscal Year Ended
December 31,

2023
December 25,

2022
December 26,

2021
($ in thousands)

Net income (loss) attributable to Potbelly Corporation $ 5,119 $ 4,345 $ (23,784)
Depreciation expense 12,138 11,890 15,909 
Interest expense 3,281 1,349 963 
Income tax expense 909 327 172 

EBITDA $ 21,447 $ 17,911 $ (6,740)
Impairment, loss on disposal of property and equipment, and shop closures 3,338 4,754 5,125 
Stock-based compensation 5,449 3,265 2,137 
Loss (gain) on extinguishment of debt 239 (10,191) — 
Gain on Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative activities (2,142) — — 

Adjusted EBITDA $ 28,331 $ 15,739 $ 522 

______________________________
(a) This adjustment includes costs related to impairment of long-lived assets, loss on disposal of property and equipment and shop closure expenses.
(b) This adjustment includes cost related to our plan to grow our franchise units domestically through multi-unit shop development area agreements, which may include refranchising certain

company-operated shops.

(a)

(b)
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

General

Potbelly’s ongoing primary sources of liquidity and capital resources are cash provided from operating activities, existing cash and cash equivalents, and our Term Loan (subsequently
replaced by the Revolving Facility, as further described below). In the short term, Potbelly’s primary requirements for liquidity and capital are existing shop capital investments, maintenance, lease
obligations, working capital and general corporate needs. Potbelly’s requirement for working capital is not significant since our customers pay for their food and beverage purchases in cash or
payment cards (credit or debit) at the time of sale. Thus, Potbelly is able to sell certain inventory items before we need to pay our suppliers for such items. Company shops do not require significant
inventories or receivables.

We ended the fiscal year 2023 with a cash balance of $34.5 million and total liquidity (cash less restricted cash) of $33.8 million compared to a balance of $15.6 million and total liquidity
(cash less restricted cash plus amounts available under our Former Credit Facility, which is further described in the section below) of $31.4 million at the end of fiscal year 2022. The total liquidity
was $30.9 million as of September 24, 2023, $34.3 million as of June 25, 2023, $25.6 million and March 26, 2023.

On February 9, 2021, we closed on a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “SPA”) for the sale of 3,249,668 shares of our common stock at a par value of $0.01 per share and the issuance of
warrants to purchase 1,299,861 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $5.45 per warrant for gross proceeds of $16.0 million, before deducting placement agent fees and offering expenses of
approximately $1.0 million. The warrants were exercisable commencing August 13, 2021 through their expiration date of August 12, 2026.

We believe that the proceeds from the SPA, cash from our operations, borrowings under our Revolving Facility and sales under our equity offering program will be sufficient to provide
liquidity for the next twelve months and for the foreseeable future. Refer to our discussion regarding the Revolving Facility in the paragraphs below.

Cash Flows

The following table presents summary cash flow information for the periods indicated (in thousands):

Fiscal Year

Net cash provided by (used in) 2023 2022

Operating activities $ 19,488 $ 12,476 
Investing activities (10,771) (8,426)
Financing activities 10,202 (2,784)

Net increase in cash $ 18,918 $ 1,266 

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities increased to $19.5 million for fiscal year 2023 from cash provided by operating activities of $12.5 million for the fiscal year 2022. The $7.0 million
change in operating cash was primarily driven by an increase in cash received from newly executed development agreements and an increase in income from operations compared to the prior year,
partially offset by an additional month of occupancy costs paid to landlords due to the timing of the end of the Company's fiscal year.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities increased to $10.8 million for fiscal year 2023 from cash used in investing activities of $8.4 million for the fiscal year 2022. The increase in cash outflow
of $8.6 million was primarily driven by additional capital expenditures which related to ongoing investment in our company-operated shops and digital platforms. This cash outflow was partially
offset by $6.3 million cash collected from the sale of refranchised assets.
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Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities increased to $10.2 million for fiscal year 2023 from cash used in financing activities of $2.8 million for fiscal year 2022. The $13.0 million increase
in financing cash was primarily driven by net proceeds from the Term Loan executed in the first quarter of 2023 partially offset by repayments under our Former Credit Facility.

Stock Repurchase Program

On May 8, 2018, we announced that our Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program for up to $65.0 million of its outstanding common stock. The program permits us, from
time to time, to purchase shares in the open market (including in pre-arranged stock trading plans in accordance with the guidelines specified in Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities and Exchange Act of
1934, as amended) or in privately negotiated transactions. The number of common shares actually repurchased, and the timing and price of repurchases, will depend upon market conditions, SEC
requirements and other factors. Purchases may be started or stopped at any time without prior notice depending on market conditions and other factors. We did not repurchase any shares of our
common stock during 2023. We do not have plans to repurchase any common stock under its stock repurchase program at this time. As of December 31, 2023, the remaining dollar value of
authorization under the share repurchase program was $37.9 million, which includes commission. Repurchased shares are included as treasury stock in the consolidated balance sheets and the
consolidated statements of equity.

Equity Offering Program

On November 3, 2021, we entered into an Equity Sales Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with William Blair & Company, L.L.C., as agent pursuant to which we may sell shares of our
common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $40.0 million from time to time, in our sole discretion, through an “at the market” equity offering program.

Under the Sales Agreement, we will set the parameters for the sale of shares, including the number of shares to be issued, the time period during which sales are requested to be made, the
limitation on the number of shares that may be sold on any trading day and any minimum price below which sales may not be made. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Sales Agreement,
William Blair may sell the Shares by methods deemed to be an “at the market offering” as defined in Rule 415(a)(4) promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, including sales made
directly on The Nasdaq Global Select Market or on any other existing trading market for the Shares, and, with our consent, in negotiated transactions at market prices prevailing at the time of sale or
at prices related to such prevailing market prices. The Sales Agreement may be terminated by the Company upon five days’ written notice to William Blair for any reason. William Blair may
terminate the Sales Agreement upon five days’ written notice to the Company for any reason or at any time under certain circumstances, including but not limited to the occurrence of a material
adverse change in the Company.

The Sales Agreement provides that William Blair will be entitled to compensation for its services of 3.0% of the aggregate gross proceeds from each sale under the Sales Agreement. The
Company has no obligation to sell any Shares under the Sales Agreement and may at any time suspend solicitation and offers under the Sales Agreement. The Sales Agreement contains customary
representations, warranties and agreements by the Company, indemnification obligations of the Company and William Blair and other obligations of the parties.

The Shares will be issued pursuant to the Company’s effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-255845) (the “Registration Statement”), declared effective by the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on May 13, 2021.

Revolving Facility

On February 7, 2024, Potbelly Sandwich Works, LLC (the “Borrower”) entered into a credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with Wintrust Bank, N.A. as administrative agent (the
“Agent”), the other loan parties party thereto and the lenders party thereto. The Credit Agreement provides for a revolving loan facility with an aggregate commitment of $30,000,000 (the “Revolving
Facility”, the commitments thereunder, the “Revolving Commitments”). Concurrently with entry into the Credit Agreement, the Company repaid in full and terminated the obligations and
commitments of the lenders under the Term Loan. Proceeds from the Revolving Facility will be used for general corporate and working capital purposes.

The Revolving Commitments expire on February 7, 2027.
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Loans under the Credit Agreement will initially bear interest, at the Company’s option, at either one-month term SOFR or the base rate plus, in each case, an applicable rate per annum, based
upon the Consolidated Adjusted Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement). The applicable rate may vary between 3.75% and 2.75% with respect to borrowings which are based upon the
one-month term SOFR and between 2.25% and 1.25% with respect to borrowings which are based upon the base rate. Initially, the applicable rate with respect to one-month term SOFR borrowings is
3.25% and the applicable rate with respect to base rate borrowings is 1.75% until the Agent receives a compliance certificate for the fiscal quarter ending on March 31, 2024.

The Company may prepay the Revolving Commitments at any time and from time to time in whole or in part without premium or penalty, subject to prior notice in accordance with the
Credit Agreement.

Subject to certain customary exceptions, obligations under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by the Company and all of the Company’s current and future wholly-owned material
domestic subsidiaries and are secured by a first-priority security interest in substantially all of the assets of the Company and its subsidiary guarantors.

The Credit Agreement contains customary representations and affirmative and negative covenants. Among other things, these covenants restrict the Company’s and certain of its subsidiaries’
ability to incur certain indebtedness and liens, undergo certain mergers, consolidations and certain other fundamental changes, make certain investments, make certain dispositions and acquisitions,
enter into sale and leaseback transactions, enter into certain swap transactions, make certain restricted payments (including certain payment of dividends, repurchases of stock and payments on certain
indebtedness), engage in certain transactions with affiliates, enter into certain types of restricted agreements, make certain changes to its organizational documents and indebtedness, and use the
proceeds of the Revolving Commitments for certain non-permitted uses. In addition, the Credit Agreement requires that the Company and its subsidiaries maintain compliance with certain minimum
fixed charge coverage ratios and maximum consolidated leverage ratios as set forth in the Credit Agreement.

The Credit Agreement also contains customary events of default. If an event of default occurs, the Agent and lenders are entitled to take various actions, including the acceleration of
amounts due under the Credit Agreement, termination of commitments thereunder and all other actions permitted to be taken by a secured creditor.

Term Loan

On February 7, 2023 (the “Closing Date”), we entered into a credit and guaranty agreement (the “Term Loan Credit Agreement”) with Sagard Holdings Manager LP as administrative agent
(the “Administrative Agent”). The Term Loan Credit Agreement provides for a term loan facility with an aggregate commitment of $25 million (the “Term Loan”). Concurrent with the entry into the
Term Loan Credit Agreement, we repaid in full and terminated the obligations and commitments under our Former Credit Facility. The remaining proceeds from the Term Loan will be used to pay
related transaction fees and expenses, and for general corporate purposes.

The Term Loan Credit Agreement was scheduled to mature on February 7, 2028.

Loans under the Term Loan Credit Agreement initially bore interest, at the Company’s option, at either at the term SOFR plus 9.25% per annum or base rate plus 8.25% per annum.

We were able to prepay the Term Loan in agreed-upon minimum principal amounts, subject to prepayment fees equal to (a) if the prepayment occurred on or prior to the one (1) year
anniversary of the Closing Date, a customary make-whole amount plus 3.00% of the outstanding principal balance of the Term Loan, (b) if the prepayment occurred after such one (1) year
anniversary and prior to the two (2) year anniversary of the Closing Date, 3.00% of the outstanding principal balance of the Term Loan, (c) if the prepayment occurred after such second anniversary
of the Closing Date and prior to the three (3) year anniversary of the Closing Date 1.00% of the outstanding principal balance of the Term Loan and (d) thereafter, no prepayment fee.

Subject to certain customary exceptions, obligations under the Term Loan Credit Agreement were guaranteed by the Company and all of the Company’s current and future wholly-owned
material domestic subsidiaries and were secured by a first-priority security interest in substantially all of the assets of the Company and its subsidiary guarantors.

The Term Loan Credit Agreement contained customary representations and affirmative and negative covenants. Among other things, these covenants restricted the Company’s and certain of
its subsidiaries’ ability to incur indebtedness, make certain investments, pay dividends or repurchase stock, and make dispositions and acquisitions. In addition, the Term Loan Credit Agreement
required that the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries maintain certain maximum total net
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leverage ratios as set forth in the Term Loan Credit Agreement, an average liquidity amount that shall not be less than $10 million, maximum capital expenditures per year as set forth in the Term
Loan Credit Agreement and a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio as set forth in the Term Loan Credit Agreement.

The Term Loan Credit Agreement also contained customary events of default. If an event of default occurs, the Administrative Agent and lenders were entitled to take various actions,
including the acceleration of amounts due under the Term Loan Credit Agreement, termination of commitments thereunder and all other actions permitted to be taken by a secured creditor.

As of December 31, 2023, we had $22.2 million outstanding under the Term Loan.

Upon execution of the Revolving Facility on February 7, 2024, we repaid in full and terminated the obligations and commitments under our Term Loan. As a result of repaying and
terminating the Term Loan, we expect to recognize a loss on extinguishment of debt of approximately $2 to $3 million in the first quarter of 2024.

Former Credit Facility

On August 7, 2019, we entered into a second amended and restated revolving credit facility agreement (the "Former Credit Agreement") with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (“JPMorgan”).
The Former Credit Agreement amends and restates that certain amended and restated revolving credit facility agreement, dated as of December 9, 2015, and amended on May 3, 2019 (collectively,
the "Prior Credit Agreement") with JPMorgan. The Former Credit Agreement provided, among other things, for a revolving credit facility in a maximum principal amount $40 million, with possible
future increases of up to $20 million under an expansion feature. Borrowings under the credit facility generally bear interest at our option at either (i) a eurocurrency rate determined by reference to
the applicable LIBOR rate plus a specified margin or (ii) a prime rate as announced by JP Morgan plus a specified margin. The applicable margin was determined based upon our consolidated total
leverage ratio. On the last day of each calendar quarter, we were required to pay a commitment fee of 0.20% per annum in respect of any unused commitments under the credit facility. So long as
certain total leverage ratios, EBITDA thresholds and minimum liquidity requirements are met and no default or event of default has occurred or would result, there was no limit on the “restricted
payments” (primarily distributions and equity repurchases) that we may make, provided that proceeds of the loans under the Former Credit Agreement may not be used for purposes of making
restricted payments.

As disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 26, 2021, we subsequently amended the Former Credit Agreement during fiscal years 2020 and 2021.
The Former Credit Agreement provides for a revolving credit facility in a maximum principal amount of $25 million.

On January 28, 2022, we entered into Amendment No. 6 (the "Sixth Amendment") to the Former Credit Agreement. The Sixth Amendment, among other things, (i) extended the maturity
date under the Former Credit Agreement from January 31, 2023 to May 31, 2023, (ii) changed the benchmark interest rates under the Former Credit Agreement for borrowings from the London
Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) to the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) subject to certain adjustments in the Sixth Amendment, (iii) increased the interest rate margin by 75 basis points
with respect to any CBFR Loan (as defined in the Former Credit Agreement), (iv) sets the interest rate margin at 600 basis points with respect to any Term Benchmark Loan (as defined in the Former
Credit Agreement), (v) amended certain financial covenant testing levels, and (vi) amended the definition of subsidiary to exclude the Potbelly Employee Relief Fund NFP, an Illinois not-for-profit
corporation.

On May 31, 2022, we entered into Amendment No. 7 (the "Seventh Amendment") to the Former Credit Agreement. The Seventh Amendment, among other things (i) extended the maturity
date under the Credit Agreement from May 31, 2023 to August 31, 2023 and (ii) amended certain financial covenant testing levels.

On September 23, 2022, we entered into Amendment No. 8 (the "Eighth Amendment") to the Former Credit Agreement. The Eighth Amendment, among other things (i) extended the maturity
date under the Former Credit Agreement from August 31, 2023 to December 31, 2023 and (ii) amended certain financial covenant testing levels.

As of December 31, 2023, we had no amounts outstanding under the Former Credit Agreement due to the payment in full and termination of our obligations and commitments under the Credit
Agreement on February 7, 2023. As of December 25, 2022, we had $8.6 million outstanding under the Former Credit Agreement.
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Paycheck Protection Program Loan

On August 10, 2020, PSW, an indirect subsidiary of ours, entered into a loan agreement with Harvest Small Business Finance, LLC in the aggregate amount of $10.0 million (the “Loan”),
pursuant to the PPP under the CARES Act. The Loan was necessary to support our ongoing operations due to the economic uncertainty resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic and lack of access to
alternative sources of liquidity.

The Loan was scheduled to mature 5 years from the date on which PSW applies for loan forgiveness under the CARES Act, bears interest at a rate of 1% per annum and is subject to the terms
and conditions applicable to loans administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration ("SBA") under the CARES Act. The PPP provides that the use of the Loan amount shall be limited to
certain qualifying expenses and may be partially or wholly forgiven in accordance with the requirements set forth in the CARES Act. We used all of the PPP proceeds toward qualifying expenses and
pursued forgiveness of the full Loan amount.

On July 12, 2022, we received notification from Harvest Small Business Finance, LLC that the SBA approved our loan forgiveness application for the entire outstanding principal and accrued
interest under the Loan equaling $10.2 million, which we recognized as a gain on extinguishment of debt.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations are based on our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and
expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Critical accounting estimates are those that management believes are both most
important to the portrayal of our financial condition and operating results, and require management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates
about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. We base our estimates on historical experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Judgments and uncertainties affecting the application of
those policies may result in materially different amounts being reported under different conditions or using different assumptions. Our significant accounting policies can be found in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements in Item 8. We consider the following estimates to be the most critical in understanding the judgments that are involved in preparing our consolidated financial
statements.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We assess potential impairments to our long-lived assets, which includes property and equipment and right-of-use assets for operating leases, whenever events or circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Assets are grouped at the individual shop-level for purposes of the impairment assessment because a shop represents the lowest level for
which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities. Recoverability of an asset group is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset
group to its forecasted shop cash flows expected to be generated by the asset group. If the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds its forecasted shop cash flows, an impairment charge is
recognized as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds the fair value of the asset group. The fair value of the shop assets is determined using the income approach. Key
inputs to this approach include forecasted shop cash flows, discount rate, and estimated market rent, which are all classified as Level 3 inputs. Level 3 inputs are derived from valuation techniques in
which one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers are unobservable. We used a weighted average cost of capital to discount the future cash flows. A 100 basis point change in any of
these key inputs would not have a material impact on the calculation of an impairment charge.
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ITEM 7A.    QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Risk

Potbelly is subject to interest rate risk in connection with borrowings under the Term Loan, which bears interest at variable rates. As of December 31, 2023, $22.2 million remained
outstanding under the Term Loan, see Note 9 for more details. A 100 basis point change in the interest rate would not have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations. We
currently do not use interest rate derivative instruments to manage our exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

Commodity Price Risk

Potbelly is also exposed to commodity price risks. Many of the food products we purchase are subject to changes in the price and availability of food commodities, including among other
things beef, poultry, grains, dairy and produce. Prices may be affected due to market changes, increased competition, the general risk of commodity inflation, shortages or interruptions in supply due
to weather, disease or other conditions beyond our control, or other reasons. We work with our suppliers and use a mix of forward pricing protocols for certain items under which we agree with
suppliers on fixed prices for deliveries at some time in the future, fixed pricing protocols under which we agree on a fixed price with the supplier for the duration of that protocol and formula pricing
protocols under which the prices we pay are based on a specified formula related to the prices of the goods, such as spot prices. Our use of any forward pricing arrangements varies substantially from
time to time and these arrangements tend to cover relatively short periods (i.e., typically twelve months or less). We do not enter into futures contracts or other derivative instruments. Increased prices
or shortages could generally affect the cost and quality of the items we buy or may require us to further raise prices or limit our menu options. These events, combined with other general economic
and demographic conditions, could impact our pricing and negatively affect our sales and profit margins. We also could experience shortages of key ingredients if our suppliers face disruptions in
their supply chain.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Potbelly Corporation

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Potbelly Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023, and December 25, 2022, the related consolidated
statements of operations, equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our
opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023, and December 25, 2022, and the results of its operations and
its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our
report dated March 8, 2024, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a
public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit
committee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below,
providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets—Refer to Note 2 and Note 5 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had long-lived assets, which includes property and equipment and right-of-use assets for operating leases, of $189.5 million. The Company recorded
impairment, loss on disposal of property and equipment and shop closures charges of $3.3 million. Long-lived assets are grouped at the individual shop-level (long-lived shop assets or asset group)
for the purpose of the impairment assessment. The Company assesses potential impairments whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
Recoverability of an asset group is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset group to its forecasted shop cash flows expected to be generated by the asset group. If the carrying
amount of the asset group exceeds its estimated forecasted shop cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds the fair value
of the asset group. The fair value of the asset group is determined using the income approach.
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We identified the evaluation of long-lived shop asset impairment as a critical audit matter because the determination of the forecasted individual shop cash flows, including revenue, cost of goods
sold, and labor expenses, requires a high degree of auditor judgment and increased extent of effort.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our primary audit procedures related to the forecasted individual shop cash flows included the following, among others:

• We tested the effectiveness of controls over the long-lived shop asset impairment assessment, including those over the forecasted cash flows.

• We assessed the reasonableness of management’s forecasted shop cash flows, including revenue, cost of goods sold and labor expenses, by comparing the forecasts to (1) actual results from
recent historical periods, (2) internal communications to management and the Board of Directors, (3) external communications made by management to analysts and investors, and (4)
industry data.

• We evaluated the impact of changes to an individual shop’s operating environment and market conditions on management’s forecasts.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Chicago, Illinois
March 8, 2024

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2005.
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Potbelly Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(amounts in thousands, except par value data)
December 31,

2023
December 25,

2022
Assets

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 33,788 $ 15,619 
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $26 and $16 as of December 31, 2023 and December 25, 2022, respectively 7,960 6,420 
Inventories 3,516 3,990 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 7,828 4,501 
Total current assets 53,092 30,530 

Property and equipment, net 45,087 44,477 
Right-of-use assets for operating leases 144,390 160,891 
Indefinite-lived intangible assets 3,404 3,404 
Goodwill 2,056 2,222 
Restricted cash 749 — 
Deferred expenses, net and other assets 3,681 3,647 

Total assets $ 252,460 $ 245,171 

Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 9,927 $ 10,718 
Accrued expenses 35,377 30,826 
Short-term operating lease liabilities 24,525 27,395 
Current portion of long-term debt 1,250 — 
Total current liabilities 71,078 68,939 

Long-term debt 19,168 8,550 
Long-term operating lease liabilities 142,050 160,968 
Other long-term liabilities 6,070 2,441 
Total liabilities 238,367 240,898 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)

Equity
Common stock, $0.01 par value—authorized 200,000 shares; outstanding 29,364 and 28,819 shares as of December 31, 2023 and December 25, 2022, respectively 389 384 
Warrants 2,219 2,566 
Additional paid-in-capital 462,583 455,831 
Treasury stock, held at cost, 10,077 and 9,924 shares as of December 31, 2023, and December 25, 2022, respectively (116,701) (115,388)
Accumulated deficit (333,797) (338,916)
Total stockholders’ equity 14,693 4,477 
Non-controlling interest (600) (204)
Total equity 14,093 4,273 

Total liabilities and equity $ 252,460 $ 245,171 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Potbelly Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(amounts and shares in thousands, except per share data)

Fiscal Year
2023 2022 2021

Revenues
Sandwich shop sales, net $ 482,246 $ 447,901 $ 377,283 
Franchise royalties, fees and rental income 9,163 4,072 2,769 
Total revenues 491,409 451,973 380,052 

Expenses
Sandwich shop operating expenses, excluding depreciation

Food, beverage and packaging costs 133,726 129,151 105,035 
Labor and related expenses 143,744 142,095 127,099 
Occupancy expenses 51,885 54,536 53,821 
Other operating expenses 84,363 74,916 63,514 

Franchise support, rent and marketing expenses 5,741 694 313 
General and administrative expenses 48,496 37,741 31,724 
Depreciation expense 12,138 11,890 15,909 
Pre-opening costs 115 — — 
Gain on Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative activities (2,142) — — 
Impairment, loss on disposal of property and equipment and shop closures 3,338 4,754 5,125 
Total expenses 481,403 455,777 402,540 
Income (loss) from operations 10,006 (3,804) (22,488)

Interest expense, net 3,281 1,349 963 
Loss/(gain) on extinguishment of debt 239 (10,191) — 
Income (loss) before income taxes 6,486 5,038 (23,451)
Income tax expense 909 327 172 
Net income (loss) 5,577 4,711 (23,623)
Net income attributable to non-controlling interest 458 366 161 
Net income (loss) attributable to Potbelly Corporation $ 5,119 $ 4,345 $ (23,784)

Net income (loss) per common share attributable to common stockholders:
Basic $ 0.18 $ 0.15 $ (0.86)
Diluted $ 0.17 $ 0.15 $ (0.86)

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 29,201 28,625 27,640
Diluted 30,088 29,065 27,640

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Potbelly Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Equity
(amounts and shares in thousands)

Common Stock Treasury 
Stock Warrants

Additional
Paid-In-
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Non-
Controlling

Interest Total EquityShares Amount

Balance at December 27, 2020 24,323 $ 339 $ (113,266) $ — $ 438,174 $ (319,477) $ (275) $ 5,495 
Net income (loss) — — — — — (23,784) 161 (23,623)
Shares issued under equity compensation plans 807 9 (1,311) — (9) — — (1,311)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options — — — — 219 — — 219 
Issuances of common shares and warrants, net of fees 3,250 32 — 2,566 12,241 — — 14,839 
Distributions to non-controlling interest — — — — — — (189) (189)
Contributions from non-controlling interest — — — — — — 208 208 
Offering costs for "at the market" equity sales agreement — — — — (192) — — (192)
Stock-based compensation expense — — — — 2,137 — — 2,137 

Balance at December 26, 2021 28,380 $ 380 $ (114,577) $ 2,566 $ 452,570 $ (343,261) $ (95) $ (2,417)
Net income — — — — — 4,345 366 4,711 
Shares issued under equity compensation plans 439 4 (811) — (4) — — (811)
Distributions to non-controlling interest — — — — — — (475) (475)
Stock-based compensation expense — — — — 3,265 — — 3,265 

Balance at December 25, 2022 28,819 $ 384 $ (115,388) $ 2,566 $ 455,831 $ (338,916) $ (204) $ 4,273 
Net income — — — — — 5,119 458 5,577 
Shares issued under equity compensation plans 368 4 (1,313) — (4) — — (1,313)
Proceeds from exercise of warrants 177 1 — (347) 1,307 — — 961 
Distributions to non-controlling interest — — — — — — (854) (854)
Stock-based compensation expense — — — — 5,449 — — 5,449 

Balance at December 31, 2023 29,364 $ 389 $ (116,701) $ 2,219 $ 462,583 $ (333,797) $ (600) $ 14,093 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Potbelly Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(amounts in thousands)
Fiscal Year

2023 2022 2021
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income (loss) $ 5,577 $ 4,711 $ (23,623)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation expense 12,138 11,890 15,909 
Noncash lease expense 25,814 25,792 25,856 
Deferred income tax — 18 18 
Stock-based compensation expense 5,450 3,265 2,137 
Asset impairment, store closure and disposal of property and equipment 1,058 3,651 4,572 
Gain on Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative activities (2,202) — — 
Loss/(gain) on extinguishment of debt 224 (10,191) — 
Amortization of debt issuance costs 482 270 305 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable, net (1,580) (387) (1,677)
Inventories 177 (499) (502)
Prepaid expenses and other assets (3,989) (520) 1,083 
Accounts payable (1,025) 2,239 326 
Operating lease liabilities (30,721) (27,984) (32,932)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 8,086 221 3,655 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 19,488 12,476 (4,873)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (17,053) (8,426) (9,048)
Proceeds from sales of refranchised shops 6,282 — — 

Net cash used in investing activities (10,771) (8,426) (9,048)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings under Term Loan 25,000 — — 
Principal payments made for Term Loan (2,838) — — 
Borrowings under revolving credit facility 14,600 39,050 38,000 
Repayments under revolving credit facility (23,150) (40,350) (34,436)
Payment of debt issuance costs (2,205) (196) (195)
Proceeds from issuance of common shares and warrants, net of fees 961 — 14,839 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options — — 219 
Employee taxes on certain stock-based payment arrangements (1,312) (813) (1,298)
Distributions to non-controlling interest (854) (475) (189)
Contributions from non-controlling interest — — 208 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 10,202 (2,784) 17,148 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 18,918 1,266 3,227 
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period 15,619 14,353 11,126 

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 34,537 $ 15,619 $ 14,353 

Supplemental cash flow information:
Income taxes paid 278 139 185 
Interest paid 3,483 936 608 
Supplemental non-cash investing and financing activities:
(Loss)/gain on extinguishment of debt and accrued interest $ (224) $ 10,191 $ — 
Unpaid liability for purchases of property and equipment 1,008 778 460 
Unpaid liability for employee taxes on certain stock-based payment arrangements 13 15 13 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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POTBELLY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(1) Organization and Other Matters

Business

Potbelly Corporation, a Delaware corporation, together with its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Company,” “Potbelly,” “we,” “us”, or “our”), owns and operates 345 company-
operated shops in the United States as of December 31, 2023. Additionally, Potbelly franchisees operate 79 shops domestically.

Basis of Presentation

We do not have any components of other comprehensive income recorded within our consolidated financial statements and therefore, do not separately present a statement of comprehensive
income in our consolidated financial statements.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Principles of Consolidation

The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Potbelly; its wholly-owned subsidiary, Potbelly Illinois, Inc. (“PII”); PII’s wholly-owned subsidiaries,
Potbelly Franchising, LLC and Potbelly Sandwich Works, LLC (“PSW”); seven of PSW’s wholly-owned subsidiaries and PSW’s six joint ventures, collectively, the “Company.” All intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. For our six consolidated joint ventures, "non-controlling interest" represents the non-controlling partner’s share of the assets,
liabilities and operations related to the joint venture investments. Potbelly has ownership interests ranging from 51-80% in these consolidated joint ventures.

(b) Reporting Period

We use a 52/53-week fiscal year that ends on the last Sunday of the calendar year. Approximately every five or six years a 53rd week is added. Fiscal year 2023 consists of 53 weeks and
fiscal years 2022 and 2021 each consisted of 52 weeks.

(c) Segment Reporting

We own and operate Potbelly Sandwich Shop concepts in the United States. We also have domestic franchise operations of Potbelly Sandwich Shops concepts. Our chief operating decision
maker (the “CODM”) is our Chief Executive Officer. As the CODM reviews financial performance and allocates resources at a consolidated level on a recurring basis, we have one operating segment
and one reportable segment.

(d) Use of Estimates

Preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying disclosures. These estimates are based on management's best knowledge of current events and
actions the Company may undertake in the future. Significant estimates are used in accounting for, among other items, long-lived assets and income taxes. Actual results may ultimately differ from
estimates, although management does not generally believe such differences would materially affect the financial statements in any individual year.

(e) Fair Value Measurements

We apply fair value accounting for all financial assets and liabilities and nonfinancial assets and liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a
recurring basis. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. When determining the fair value measurements for assets and liabilities that are required to be
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recorded at fair value, we assume the highest and best use of the asset by market participants in which we would transact and the market-based risk measurements or assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, such as inherent risk, transfer restrictions, and credit risk.

We apply the following fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value into three levels, and bases the categorization within the hierarchy upon the lowest level of
input that is available and significant to the fair value measurement:

• Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

• Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets, or
other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

• Level 3 — Inputs that are both unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement reflect an entity’s estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in
pricing the asset or liability.

The following table presents information about our financial assets that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis and indicates the level of the fair value hierarchy used to determine such fair
values:

December 31,
2023

December 25,
2022

Assets - Level 1
Money market funds $ 6,398 $ — 

Financial assets measured at fair value on recurring basis $ 6,398 $ — 

(f) Financial Instruments

We record all financial instruments at cost, which is the fair value at the date of transaction. The amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, accounts payable and all other current liabilities approximate their fair value because of the short-term maturities of these instruments.

(g) Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investment instruments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. We maintain cash in bank deposit accounts
that, at times, may exceed federally insured limits; however, we have not experienced any losses in these accounts. We believe this cash is not exposed to any significant credit risk. These are valued
within the fair value hierarchy as Level 1 measurements.

(h) Restricted Cash

As of December 31, 2023, we had restricted cash related to funds held in a money market account as collateral for letters of credit to certain lease agreements.

The reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash presented in the condensed consolidated balance sheets to the total amount shown in our condensed consolidated
statements of cash flows is as follows:

December 31,
 2023

December 25,
 2022

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 33,788 $ 15,619 
Restricted cash, noncurrent 749 — 

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown on statement of cash flows $ 34,537 $ 15,619 

(i) Accounts Receivable, net

Accounts receivable, net consists of amounts owed from credit card processors, customers, third-party delivery platforms, franchisees, vendors and other miscellaneous receivables.
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(j) Inventories

Inventories, which consist of food products, and paper goods and supplies, are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or net realizable value. No adjustment is deemed necessary to
reduce inventory to the lower of cost or net realizable value due to the rapid turnover and high utilization of inventory.

(k) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment acquired is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Property and equipment is depreciated based on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives,
generally ranging from three to five years for furniture and fixtures, computer equipment, computer software, and machinery and equipment. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter
of their estimated useful lives or the related lease life, generally 10 to 15 years. For leases with renewal periods at our option, we determine the expected lease period based on whether the renewal of
any options is reasonably assured at the inception of the lease.

Direct costs and expenditures for refurbishments and improvements that significantly add to the productive capacity or extend the useful life of an asset are capitalized, whereas the costs of
repairs and maintenance are expensed when incurred. Capitalized costs are recorded as part of the asset to which they relate, primarily to leasehold improvements, and such costs are amortized over
the asset’s useful life. When assets are retired or sold, the asset cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the consolidated balance sheet and any gain or loss is recorded in
impairment, loss on disposal of property and equipment and shop closures in the consolidated statement of operations.

(l) Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

We review goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets, which includes tradenames, annually at fiscal year-end for impairment or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that
the carrying values may not be recoverable. An impaired asset is written down to its estimated fair value based on the most recent information available. We assess the fair values of our intangible
assets and the fair value of our reporting unit for goodwill using an income-based approach and market-based approach, respectively. Under the income approach, fair value is based on the present
value of estimated future cash flows. The income approach is dependent on a number of factors, including forecasted revenues and expenses, appropriate discount rates and other variables. Under the
market-based approach, fair value is based on using publicly available market data, including publicly traded stock prices and total shares outstanding. The annual impairment review utilizes the
estimated fair value of the intangible assets and the overall reporting unit and compares those estimates to the carrying values as of the testing date. If the carrying value of these intangible assets or
the reporting unit exceeds the fair values, we would then use the fair values to measure the amount of any required impairment charge not to exceed the respective carrying amount. No impairment
charge was recognized for intangible assets or goodwill for any of the fiscal periods presented.

(m) Revenue Recognition

We primarily earn revenue at a point in time for sandwich shop sales which can occur in person at the shop, over our online or app platforms, or through a third-party platform. Sales taxes
collected from customers are excluded from revenues and the obligation is included in accrued liabilities until the taxes are remitted to the appropriate taxing authorities. We have other revenue-
generating activities including franchise revenue, gift card revenue, and loyalty program revenue.

Franchise Royalties and Fees

We earn an initial franchise fee, a franchise development agreement fee and ongoing royalty fees and support fees under our franchise agreements. Initial franchise fees are considered highly
dependent upon and interrelated with the franchise right granted in the franchise agreement. As such, these franchise fees are recognized over the contractual term of the franchise agreement. We
record a contract liability for the unearned portion of the initial franchise fees. Franchise development agreement fees represent the exclusivity rights for a geographical area paid by a third party to
develop Potbelly shops for a certain period of time. Franchise development agreement fee payments received by us are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets as accrued expenses or other long-
term liabilities, and amortized over the term of the franchise agreement once the shops are opened. These franchise fees are considered highly dependent upon and interrelated with the franchise right
granted in the franchise agreement. Royalty fees and Brand Fund contributions are based on a percentage of sales and are recorded as revenue as the fees are earned and become receivable from the
franchisee. Other support fees, which primarily include fees for software and technology, are recorded as revenue as the fees are earned and
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the service is provided to the franchisee. Revenue from support fees are recognized gross of the related expenses since we are the principal in the arrangement to provide those services.

Gift Card Redemptions / Breakage Revenue

Potbelly sells gift cards to customers, records the sale as a contract liability and recognizes the associated revenue as the gift card is redeemed. A portion of these gift cards are not redeemed
by the customer ("breakage"), which is recognized as revenue as a percentage of customers gift card redemptions. The expected breakage amount recognized is determined by a historical data
analysis on gift card redemption patterns. We recognize gift card breakage income within net sandwich shop sales in the consolidated statements of operations.

Loyalty Program

As of December 31, 2023, we offer a customer loyalty program for customers using the Potbelly Perks application at the point of sale. The customer will typically earn 10 points for every
dollar spent, and the customer will earn a free entrée after earning 1,000 points. Once a customer earns a free entrée, that entrée reward will expire after 30 days. We defer revenue associated with the
estimated selling price of points earned by Potbelly Perks members towards free entrées as each point is earned, and a corresponding deferred revenue liability is established in accrued expenses. The
deferral is based on the estimated value of the unredeemed points and free entrées. The estimated value and the estimated redemption rates are based on a historical data analysis of loyalty reward
redemptions. Estimated breakage is recognized in net shop sandwich sales in the consolidated statement of operations. When points are redeemed, we recognize revenue for the redeemed product and
reduce accrued expenses.

In January 2024, we enhanced our Potbelly Perks program to provide more reward options and flexibility for members. Members will earn 10 or more coins, the equivalent of points under
the legacy program, for every dollar they spend. The number of coins earned per dollar is dependent on each member's annual spend with Potbelly. Coins can be redeemed for a variety of items across
the Potbelly menu. The coins expire one year after they are earned. We will continue to defer revenue as Potbelly Perks coins are earned and recognize the revenue upon redemption.

Contract Costs

Sales commissions earned by internal or external sales personnel for the execution of new franchise agreements are considered incremental and recoverable costs of obtaining a contract with
a customer. Sales commissions for new franchise agreements are capitalized and then amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the franchise agreement, which is typically eight years.

Development costs incurred for the identification of optimal site selection within a given market assists with the company's ability to fulfill the franchise agreement and such costs are
expected to be recovered. These costs are capitalized if the service performed relates to an executed franchise agreement, in which case the costs are amortized over the term of the market within the
development agreement, which is often the same eight year term.

(n) Leases

We determine if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception of the arrangement. We lease retail shops, warehouse, and office space under operating leases. Our leases generally have
terms of ten years and most include options to extend the leases for additional five-year periods. For leases with renewal periods at our option, we determine the expected lease period based on
whether the renewal of any options are reasonably assured at the inception of the lease.

Operating leases result in the recording a right-of-use asset and lease liability on the consolidated balance sheet. Right-of-use assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease
term and lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease assets and liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date, which is the date
we take possession of the property. Operating lease liabilities represent the present value of lease payments not yet paid. Operating right-of-use assets represent the operating lease liability adjusted
for prepayments or accrued lease payments, initial direct costs, lease incentives, and impairment. In determining the present value of lease payments not yet paid, we estimate our incremental secured
borrowing rates corresponding to the maturities of our leases. We estimate these rates based on prevailing financial market conditions, comparable company and credit analysis, and management
judgment.
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Our leases typically contain rent escalations over the lease term and lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Tenant incentives used to fund leasehold
improvements are recognized when earned and reduce right-of-use assets related to the lease. The tenant incentives are amortized through the right-of-use asset as reductions of rent expense over the
lease term.

We elected a short-term lease exception policy, permitting us to not apply the recognition requirements of Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 842, Leases, to short-term leases (i.e.,
leases with terms of 12 months or less) and an accounting policy to account for lease and non-lease components as a single component for certain classes of assets.

Rental income for operating leases on properties subleased to franchisees is recorded to franchise royalties, fees and rental income in the consolidated statement of operations. We recognize
revenue for fixed sublease payments, net of incentives, on a straight-line basis over the term of the sublease. We recognize revenue for variable sublease payments as the related service has been
transferred to the sublessee. Sublease income is recognized to the extent that collectability is probable.

(o) Potbelly Brand Fund

We maintain the Potbelly Brand Fund (the "Brand Fund") for the purpose of collecting and administering funds to be used for advertising, customer research, marketing technology, agencies,
and other activities that promote the Potbelly brand in order to deliver sales at our shops. Company-operated and franchised shops both contribute to the Brand Fund based on a percentage of sales.

Beginning in the first quarter of fiscal year 2022, we manage these advertising and marketing expenses through the Brand Fund using the funds contributed by our shops. We manage these
funds separately from our general operating expenses, but we are not obligated to maintain the funds in separate accounts or entities. We may spend more or less in any fiscal period than the amounts
contributed to the Brand Fund, and we may choose to roll over any unused contributions to the following fiscal period or return them to our shops.

Brand Fund contributions made by company-operated shops are eliminated from the consolidated financial statements. Franchisee contributions are included within franchise royalties and
fees in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

Expenses incurred by the Brand Fund are recorded to company-operated and franchised shops based on a percentage of sales. Company-operated Brand Fund expense is included within
other operating expenses in our condensed consolidated statements of operations. Franchisee Brand Fund expense is presented as franchise marketing expenses in our condensed consolidated
statements of operations. Prior periods have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation of these expenses.

(p) Franchise support, rent and marketing expenses

Franchise support, rent and marketing expenses include Brand Fund, information technology, supply chain, occupancy and operations expenses for franchised shops. Other than occupancy,
these expenses are expensed as incurred. Occupancy expenses are recognized consistent with our lease policy described above.

(q) Stock-Based Compensation

We account for stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, Stock Based Compensation. We record stock-based compensation expense, net of forfeitures, on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period based on the grant-date fair value of the awards, which is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing valuation model for stock options and the quoted share price of
Potbelly’s common stock on the date of grant for restricted stock units (“RSUs”). We record stock-based compensation expense within general and administrative expenses in the consolidated
statements of operations.

We award performance share units (“PSUs”) to eligible employees which are subject to service and market vesting conditions. The PSUs will vest based on the terms defined in each award,
which may include our common stock achieving certain price targets or based on its relative performance versus the Russell 3000 Travel & Leisure Index. Refer to Note 13 for more details regarding
our Equity Plans.
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(r) Pre-opening Costs

Pre-opening costs consist of costs incurred prior to opening a new shop and are made up primarily of travel, employee payroll and training costs incurred prior to the shop opening, as well as
occupancy costs incurred from when we take site possession to shop opening. Shop pre-opening costs are expensed as incurred.

(s) Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative

On March 2, 2022, we announced our Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative, which included a plan to grow our franchise units domestically through multi-unit shop development area
agreements, which may include refranchising certain company-operated shops. Deals for refranchised shops typically include cash consideration for the sale of the current shops as well as
development agreement fees for commitments to develop new shops to fully penetrate existing markets. On an ongoing basis, we collect additional cash consideration for royalties and lease
payments.

All gains and losses recognized on sales of shops and other expenses incurred to execute a refranchising transaction are included in gain on Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative
activities in the condensed consolidated statement of operations. Development agreement fees received are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets as accrued expenses or other long-term
liabilities, and amortized over the term of the franchise agreement once the shops are opened. For the year to date ended December 31, 2023, we completed refranchising transactions under the
Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative that resulted in the sale of 33 company-operated shops and commitments to develop 77 additional shops. Further details on the impact of these transactions
on our financial statements are described in Note 10.

(t) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We assess potential impairments of our long-lived assets, which include property and equipment and right-of-use assets for operating leases, whenever events or circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Assets are grouped at the individual shop-level for the purposes of the impairment assessment because a shop represents the lowest level for
which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities. Recoverability of an asset group is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset
group to its estimated forecasted shop cash flows expected to be generated by the asset group. If the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds its estimated forecasted shop cash flows, an
impairment charge is recognized as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset group in the impairment, loss on disposal of property and equipment and
shop closures in the consolidated statement of operations. The fair value of the shop assets is determined using the income approach. Key inputs to this approach include forecasted shop cash flows,
discount rate, and estimated market rent, which are all classified as Level 3 inputs. See “Fair Value Measurements” above for a definition of Level 3 inputs.

Assets recognized or disclosed at fair value on the consolidated financial statements on a nonrecurring basis included items such as leasehold improvements, property and equipment, right-
of-use assets for operating leases, goodwill, and other intangible assets. These assets are measured at fair value if determined to be impaired.

(u) Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributed to differences between financial statement and income tax reporting.
Deferred tax assets, net of any valuation allowances, represent the future tax return consequences of those differences and for operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, which will be deductible
when the assets are recovered. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if it is deemed more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. In making
this assessment of the realizability of deferred tax assets, we consider all positive and negative evidence as to whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will
not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible.
We consider the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for
temporary differences that will be taxable in future years’ tax returns.

We account for uncertain tax positions under current accounting guidance, which prescribes a minimum probability threshold that a tax position must meet before a financial statement
benefit is recognized. The minimum threshold is defined as a tax position that is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by tax authorities, based on the technical merits of the position.
The tax benefit to be recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit that is greater than fifty percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement.
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(v) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standard Board (FASB) issued guidance to expand annual and interim disclosure requirements for reportable segments, primarily through
additional disclosures on segment expenses. We will adopt the accounting guidance in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 29, 2024. We do not anticipate the updated
standard will have a material impact on our financial statement disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued guidance to enhance transparency of income tax disclosures. The updated guidance requires additional disclosures on income tax rate reconciliation and
income taxes paid, among other things. We will adopt the accounting guidance in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 27, 2025. We are currently evaluating the impact that
the updated standard will have on our financial statement disclosures.

(3) Revenue

Revenue recognized from all revenue sources on point in time sales was $489.2 million, $450.9 million and $379.3 million for the fiscal years 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Revenue
recognized from sales over time was $2.2 million, $1.1 million and $0.8 million for the fiscal years 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

We recognized gift card breakage income of $0.9 million, $0.7 million and $0.2 million for the fiscal years ended 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively, which is recorded within net sandwich
shop sales in the consolidated statements of operations.

Contract Liabilities

As described in Note 2, we record current and noncurrent contract liabilities in accrued expenses and other long-term liabilities, respectively, for initial franchise fees, gift cards, and loyalty
programs. We have no other contract liabilities or contract assets recorded. The opening and closing balances of our current and noncurrent contract liabilities from contracts with customers were as
follows:

Current Contract
Liability

 (Thousands)

Noncurrent Contract
Liability

 (Thousands)

Beginning balance as of December 25, 2022 $ 7,008 $ 1,677 
Ending balance as of December 31, 2023 8,028 4,397 
Increase in contract liability $ 1,020 $ 2,720 

The aggregate value of remaining performance obligations on outstanding contracts was $12.4 million as of December 31, 2023. The overall increase in the liability during fiscal year 2023
was a result of new franchise development agreements, purchases of new gift cards and a net increase in the loyalty program liability, partially offset by amortization of initial franchise fees and gift
card redemptions and breakage. We expect to recognize revenue related to contract liabilities as follows (in thousands), which may vary based upon franchise activity, and gift card and loyalty
program redemption patterns:

Years Ending Amount

2024 $ 6,375 
2025 1,176 
2026 877 
2027 859 
2028 398 
Thereafter 2,740 
Total revenue recognized $ 12,425 

For fiscal year 2023, the amount of revenue recognized related to the December 25, 2022 liability ending balance was $4.7 million. For fiscal year 2022, the amount of revenue recognized
related to the December 26, 2021 liability ending

65



balance was $2.5 million. This revenue related to gift card and loyalty program redemptions and recognition of initial franchise fees. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 25, 2022,
we did not recognize any revenue from obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in prior periods.

Contract Costs

Deferred contract costs, which include sales commissions and site mapping fees, totaled $0.9 million as of December 31, 2023. Amortization expense for deferred costs was $0.1 million for
fiscal year 2023. No contract costs were capitalized or amortized in fiscal year 2022. There was no impairment loss in relation to the costs capitalized for the periods presented.

(4) Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic and diluted income (loss) per common share attributable to common stockholders are calculated using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period.
Diluted income (loss) per common share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the income (loss) allocated to common stockholders by the weighted average number of fully
diluted common shares outstanding. In periods of a net loss, no potential common shares are included in diluted shares outstanding as the effect is anti-dilutive. For fiscal year 2021, we had a loss per
share, therefore, potentially dilutive shares were excluded from the calculation.

The following table summarizes the earnings (loss) per share calculation (in thousands, except per share information):

 Fiscal Year
 2023 2022 2021

Net income (loss) attributable to Potbelly Corporation $ 5,119 $ 4,345 $ (23,784)
Weighted average common shares outstanding-basic 29,201 28,625 27,640 
Plus: Effect of potentially dilutive stock-based compensation awards 490 414 — 
Plus: Effect of potential warrant exercise 397 26 — 
Weighted average common shares outstanding-diluted 30,088 29,065 27,640 
Income (loss) per share available to common stockholders-basic $ 0.18 $ 0.15 $ (0.86)
Income (loss) per share available to common stockholders-diluted $ 0.17 $ 0.15 $ (0.86)
Potentially dilutive shares that are considered anti-dilutive:

Shares 367 618 1,951 

(5) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
 2023

December 25,
 2022

Leasehold improvements $ 140,203 $ 149,375 
Machinery and equipment 45,372 47,481 
Furniture and fixtures 30,614 32,590 
Computer equipment and software 37,769 37,710 
Construction in progress 3,322 864 
Property and equipment, gross 257,280 268,020 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (212,193) (223,543)
Property and equipment, net $ 45,087 $ 44,477 

We recognized $0.5 million, $0.5 million and $2.4 million in 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, of losses on disposal of property and equipment in impairment, loss on disposal of property
and equipment and shop closures in the consolidated statement of operations, primarily related to closures of company-operated shops.
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(6) Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2023

December 25,
2022

Accrued labor and related expenses $ 12,778 $ 13,451 
Deferred revenue 4,057 3,345 
Gift card liability 3,972 3,630 
Accrued marketing 2,904 635 
Accrued occupancy and utilities 2,410 2,448 
Accrued sales and use tax 2,135 1,732 
Accrued liability insurance 2,039 1,654 
Other accrued expenses $ 5,082 $ 3,931 

Total $ 35,377 $ 30,826 

We incur expenses associated with exit activity for certain signed lease agreements, which are recognized in impairment, loss on disposal of property and equipment and shop closures in the
consolidated statement of operations. Accrued contract termination costs consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
 2023

December 25,
 2022

Accrued contract termination costs—beginning balance $ — $ — 
Contract termination costs incurred 458 153 
Contract termination costs settled and paid (458) (153)
Accrued contract termination costs—ending balance $ — $ — 

(7) Income Taxes

Income (loss) before income taxes for our domestic operations was as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year
2023 2022 2021

Domestic operations $ 6,486 $ 5,038 $ (23,451)

Income tax expense (benefit) consisted of the following (in thousands):

Fiscal Year
2023 2022 2021

Federal:
Current $ 38 $ — $ — 
Deferred 22 (14) (150)

60 (14) (150)
State and Local:

Current 782 399 161 
Deferred 68 (58) 161 

849 341 322 
Income tax expense $ 909 $ 327 $ 172 
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Income tax expense (benefit) differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal income tax rates to income (loss) before income taxes as a result of the following (in
thousands):

Fiscal Year
2023 2022 2021

U.S. federal statutory tax 21.0% 21.0% 21.0%
Computed “expected” tax expense/(benefit) $ 1,266 $ 981 $ (4,959)
Increase (reduction) resulting from:

Valuation allowance (1,526) 2,280 5,456 
Rate change impact of net operating loss carryback — — — 
Minority interest 96 77 34 
Permanent differences 805 (1,755) 1,004 
State and local income taxes, net of federal income tax effect 793 (287) (730)
FICA and other tax credits (297) (559) (592)
Equity compensation 159 (43) (237)
Other — — — 
Tax rate change (387) (367) 196 

Income tax expense $ 909 $ 327 $ 172 

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and liabilities reflected in the consolidated balance sheets are presented below (in
thousands):

December 31,
 2023

December 25,
 2022

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 20,542 $ 22,566 
Accrued liabilities 2,625 1,838 
Deferred revenue 1,944 514 
Stock-based compensation 1,378 1,330 
Property and equipment 3,290 3,380 
Operating lease liabilities 43,799 49,802 
Other 226 — 
Tax credits and other carryforwards 2,794 3,761 
Gross deferred tax assets 76,598 83,191 
Valuation allowance (35,439) (37,210)
Net deferred tax assets 41,159 45,981 

Deferred tax liabilities:
Prepaids (477) (351)
Right-of-use asset for operating leases (39,179) (43,818)
Intangible assets (1,377) (1,371)
Smallwares (400) (458)
Other — (169)
Total deferred tax liabilities (41,433) (46,167)

Net deferred tax liabilities $ (274) $ (186)

We recorded deferred tax assets related to federal and state income tax net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards of approximately $20.5 million and $22.6 million for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and December 25, 2022, respectively. The federal NOL, and a portion of the state NOLs, can be carried forward indefinitely, although certain
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jurisdictions, including federal and numerous states, limit NOL carryforwards to a percentage of current year taxable income.

We regularly assesses the need for a valuation allowance related to our deferred tax assets, which includes consideration of both positive and negative evidence related to the likelihood of
realization of such deferred tax assets to determine, based on the weight of the available evidence, whether it is more-likely-than-not that some or all of our deferred tax assets will not be realized. In
our assessment, we considered recent financial operating results, projected future taxable income, the reversal of existing taxable differences, and tax planning strategies. We recorded a full valuation
allowance against our net deferred tax assets during the first quarter of 2019, resulting in a non-cash charge to income tax expense of $13.6 million. We assess the likelihood of the realization of our
deferred tax assets each quarter and the valuation allowance is adjusted accordingly. We continued to maintain a valuation allowance against all of our deferred tax assets based on our assessment as
of December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2023 and December 25, 2022, we have a valuation allowance related to our deferred tax assets of $35.4 million and $37.2 million, respectively.

Given the recent trend in our earnings and forecasted future earnings, we believe there is a reasonable possibility that sufficient positive evidence may become available in the next several
quarters to conclude that all or a portion of the valuation allowance will no longer be needed. This would result in the recognition of deferred tax assets on our consolidated balance sheet and a
decrease to tax expense on our consolidated statement of operations in the period when the release is recorded. However, the exact timing and amount of any valuation allowance releases are subject
to change based on the earnings achieved in future periods.

In accordance with our accounting policy, we recognize accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. As of December 31, 2023
and December 25, 2022, we had no interest or penalties accrued. As of December 31, 2023 and December 25, 2022, we had no uncertain tax positions.

The tax years prior to 2017 are generally closed for examination by the United States Internal Revenue Service ("IRS"). However, certain of these tax years are open for examination as a
result of net operating losses generated in these years and utilized in subsequent years. Our last IRS examination was for the 2014 tax year; no IRS audits are currently ongoing. State statutes are
generally open for audit for the 2016 to 2022 tax years.

(8) Leases

We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception of the arrangement. We lease retail shops and warehouse and office space under operating leases. Our leases generally have terms of
ten years and most include options to extend the leases for additional five-year periods. For leases with renewal periods at our option, we determine the expected lease period based on whether the
renewal of any options are reasonably assured at the inception of the lease. In addition, we lease certain properties from third parties that we sublease to franchisees. We remain primarily liable to the
landlord for the performance of all obligations in the event that the sublessee does not perform its obligations under the lease. All of our subleases are classified as operating leases with fixed and
variable income.

Lessee Disclosures

The gains and losses recognized upon lease terminations are recorded in impairment, loss on disposal of property and equipment and shop closures in the consolidated statement of
operations. The right-of use assets, liabilities and gains/losses recognized upon termination of lease contracts were as follows (in thousands, except for shop figures):

Fiscal Year Ended
December 31,

 2023
December 25,

 2022

Leases terminated 2 3 
Lease termination fees $ 458 $ 75 
Right-of-use assets derecognized upon lease termination 571 505 
Lease liabilities derecognized upon lease termination 941 663 
Gain/(loss) recognized upon lease termination $ (89) $ 158 
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Operating lease term and discount rate were as follows:

December 31,
2023

December 25,
2022

Weighted average remaining lease term (years) 6.18 6.68
Weighted average discount rate 9.04% 8.26%

Certain of our operating lease agreements include variable payments that are passed through by the landlord, such as common area maintenance and real estate taxes, as well as variable
payments based on percentage rent for certain of our shops. Pass-through charges and payments based on percentage rent are included within variable lease cost.

The components of lease cost were as follows (in thousands), which are included in occupancy, general and administrative and franchise support, rent and marketing expense:

Fiscal Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 25, 2022

Operating lease cost $ 40,604 $ 40,214 
Variable lease cost 15,082 13,905 
Short-term lease cost 313 312 
Total lease cost $ 55,998 $ 54,431 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information relating to leases is as follows (in thousands):
Fiscal Year Ended

December 31, 2023 December 25, 2022

Operating cash flows rent paid for operating lease liabilities $ 45,846 $ 42,658 
Operating right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities 12,286 23,263 
Reduction in operating right-of-use assets due to lease terminations and modifications $ 1,799 $ 1,876 

Maturities of lease liabilities were as follows at December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Operating Leases

2024 $ 38,793 
2025 39,748 
2026 36,216 
2027 30,360 
2028 23,714 
Thereafter 52,725 
Total lease payments 221,557 
Less: imputed interest (54,982)

Present value of lease liabilities $ 166,575 

Lessor Disclosures

We recognized $2.9 million in franchise rental income in fiscal year 2023, which is included in franchise royalties, fees and rental income in the condensed statement of operations. No
franchise rental income was recognized in fiscal year 2022. During fiscal year 2023, we incurred $3.0 million in expenses associated with these leases, which are included in franchise support, rent
and marketing expenses in the condensed consolidated statement of operations from the inception of
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the related sublease agreements. The components of lease income were as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended

December 31,
2023

December 25,
2022

Number of subleases 33 0

Operating lease income $ 2,139 $ — 
Variable lease income $ 806 $ — 
Franchise rental income $ 2,945 $ — 

Future expected fixed sublease payments from franchisees to Potbelly were as follows at December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Operating Leases

2024 $ 3,599 
2025 3,530 
2026 3,078 
2027 2,095 
2028 1,704 
Thereafter 3,687 

Total sublease payments $ 17,693 

(9) Debt and Credit Facilities

The components of long-term debt were as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
 2023

December 25,
 2022

Term loan credit facility $ 22,162 $ — 
Unamortized debt issuance costs (1,744) — 
Revolving credit facility — 8,550 
Less: current portion of long-term debt (1,250) — 

Total long-term debt $ 19,168 $ 8,550 

Term Loan

On February 7, 2023 (the “Closing Date”), we entered into a credit and guaranty agreement (the “Term Loan Credit Agreement”) with Sagard Holdings Manager LP as administrative agent
(the “Administrative Agent”). The Term Loan Credit Agreement provides for a term loan facility with an aggregate commitment of $25 million (the “Term Loan”). Concurrent with entry into the
Term Loan Credit Agreement, we repaid in full and terminated the obligations and commitments under our existing senior secured credit facility (the “Former Credit Facility”). Upon termination of
the Former Credit Facility, we recognized a loss on extinguishment of debt of $0.2 million. The remaining proceeds from the Term Loan were used to pay related transaction fees and expenses, and
for general corporate purposes.

The Term Loan Credit Agreement is scheduled to mature on February 7, 2028. We are required to make principal payments equal to 1.25% of the initial principal of the Term Loan on the
last business day of each fiscal quarter. If not previously paid, any remaining principal balance must be repaid on the maturity date.

Loans under the Term Loan Credit Agreement will initially bear interest, at the Company’s option, at either the term SOFR plus 9.25% per annum or base rate plus 8.25% per annum.

As of December 31, 2023, the effective interest rate was 15.63%.
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We may prepay the Term Loan in agreed-upon minimum principal amounts, subject to prepayment fees equal to (a) if the prepayment occurs on or prior to the one (1) year anniversary of the
Closing Date, a customary make-whole amount plus 3.00% of the outstanding principal balance of the Term Loan, (b) if the prepayment occurs after such one (1) year anniversary and prior to the two
(2) year anniversary of the Closing Date, 3.00% of the outstanding principal balance of the Term Loan, (c) if the prepayment occurs after such second anniversary of the Closing Date and prior to the
three (3) year anniversary of the Closing Date 1.00% of the outstanding principal balance of the Term Loan and (d) thereafter, no prepayment fee.

Subject to certain customary exceptions, obligations under the Term Loan Credit Agreement are guaranteed by the Company and all of the Company’s current and future wholly-owned
material domestic subsidiaries and are secured by a first-priority security interest in substantially all of the assets of the Company and its subsidiary guarantors.

The Term Loan Credit Agreement contains customary representations and affirmative and negative covenants. Among other things, these covenants restrict the Company’s and certain of its
subsidiaries’ ability to incur indebtedness, make certain investments, pay dividends or repurchase stock, and make dispositions and acquisitions. In addition, the Term Loan Credit Agreement requires
that the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries maintain certain total net leverage ratios as set forth in the Term Loan Credit Agreement, an average liquidity amount that shall not be less than
$10 million, maximum capital expenditures per year and fixed charge coverage ratios each as set forth in the Term Loan Credit Agreement.

The Term Loan Credit Agreement also contains customary events of default. If an event of default occurs, the Administrative Agent and lenders are entitled to take various actions, including
the acceleration of amounts due under the Term Loan Credit Agreement, termination of commitments thereunder and all other actions permitted to be taken by a secured creditor.

In connection with entering into the Term Loan Credit Agreement, we paid $2.2 million in debt issuance costs, all of which were capitalized. During the quarter and year to date ended
December 31, 2023, we amortized $0.1 million and $0.3 million of debt issuance costs, respectively, using the effective interest method, which is included in interest expense in the condensed
consolidated statement of operations. As of December 31, 2023, we had $24.1 million outstanding under the Credit Agreement. We are currently in compliance with all financial debt covenants.

On February 7, 2024, we repaid in full and terminated the obligations and commitments under the Term Loan Credit Agreement. Refer to Note 15 for additional information related to this
transaction.

Former Credit Facility

On August 7, 2019, we entered into a second amended and restated revolving credit facility agreement (the "Former Credit Agreement") with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (“JPMorgan”).
The Former Credit Agreement amends and restates that certain amended and restated revolving credit facility agreement, dated as of December 9, 2015, and amended on May 3, 2019 (collectively,
the "Prior Credit Agreement") with JPMorgan. The Former Credit Agreement provided, among other things, for a revolving credit facility in a maximum principal amount $40 million, with possible
future increases of up to $20 million under an expansion feature. Borrowings under the credit facility generally bear interest at our option at either (i) a eurocurrency rate determined by reference to
the applicable LIBOR rate plus a specified margin or (ii) a prime rate as announced by JP Morgan plus a specified margin. The applicable margin was determined based upon our consolidated total
leverage ratio. On the last day of each calendar quarter, we were required to pay a commitment fee of 0.20% per annum in respect of any unused commitments under the credit facility. So long as
certain total leverage ratios, EBITDA thresholds and minimum liquidity requirements are met and no default or event of default has occurred or would result, there was no limit on the “restricted
payments” (primarily distributions and equity repurchases) that we may make, provided that proceeds of the loans under the Former Credit Agreement may not be used for purposes of making
restricted payments.

As disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 26, 2021, we subsequently amended the Former Credit Agreement during fiscal years 2020 and 2021.
The Former Credit Agreement provides for a revolving credit facility in a maximum principal amount of $25 million.

On January 28, 2022, we entered into Amendment No. 6 (the "Sixth Amendment") to the Former Credit Agreement. The Sixth Amendment, among other things, (i) extended the maturity
date under the Former Credit Agreement
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from January 31, 2023 to May 31, 2023, (ii) changed the benchmark interest rates under the Former Credit Agreement for borrowings from the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) to the
Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) subject to certain adjustments in the Sixth Amendment, (iii) increased the interest rate margin by 75 basis points with respect to any CBFR Loan (as
defined in the Former Credit Agreement), (iv) sets the interest rate margin at 600 basis points with respect to any Term Benchmark Loan (as defined in the Former Credit Agreement), (v) amended
certain financial covenant testing levels, and (vi) amended the definition of subsidiary to exclude the Potbelly Employee Relief Fund NFP, an Illinois not-for-profit corporation.

On May 31, 2022, we entered into Amendment No. 7 (the "Seventh Amendment") to the Former Credit Agreement. The Seventh Amendment, among other things (i) extended the maturity
date under the Credit Agreement from May 31, 2023 to August 31, 2023 and (ii) amended certain financial covenant testing levels.

On September 23, 2022, we entered into Amendment No. 8 (the "Eighth Amendment") to the Former Credit Agreement. The Eighth Amendment, among other things (i) extended the maturity
date under the Former Credit Agreement from August 31, 2023 to December 31, 2023 and (ii) amended certain financial covenant testing levels.

As of December 31, 2023, we had no amounts outstanding under the Former Credit Agreement due to the payment in full and termination of our obligations and commitments under the Credit
Agreement on February 7, 2023. As of December 25, 2022, we had $8.6 million outstanding under the Former Credit Agreement.

On February 7, 2023, we repaid in full and terminated the obligations and commitments under the Former Credit Agreement.

(10) Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative

The following is a summary of the refranchising activities recorded as a result of the Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative during the year ended December 31, 2023:

December 31, 2023 December 25, 2022

Number of shops sold to franchises 33 0

Proceeds from sales of company-operated shops $ 6,433 $ — 
Net assets sold (3,563) — 
Goodwill related to the company-operated shops sold to franchisees (166) — 

Gain on sale of company-operated shops, net 2,705 — 

Adjustment to recognize held-for-sale assets at fair value (503) — 
Other expenses (60) — 

Gain on Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative activities $ 2,142 $ — 

______________________________
(a)    These costs primarily include professional service fees and travel expenses incurred to execute the refranchising transaction

(11) Capital Stock

As of December 31, 2023 and December 25, 2022, we had authorized an aggregate of 210 million shares of capital stock, of which 200 million shares were designated as common stock and
10 million shares were designated as preferred stock. As of December 31, 2023, we had issued and outstanding 38.7 million and 29.4 million shares of common stock, respectively. As of
December 25, 2022, we had issued and outstanding 38.7 million and 28.8 million shares of common stock, respectively.

Common Stock

On May 8, 2018, we announced that our Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program for up to $65.0 million of its outstanding common stock. The program permits us, from
time to time, to purchase shares in the open market

(a)
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(including in pre-arranged stock trading plans in accordance with the guidelines specified in Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) or in privately negotiated
transactions. The number of common shares actually repurchased, and the timing and price of repurchases, will depend upon market conditions, SEC requirements and other factors. Purchases may
be started or stopped at any time without prior notice depending on market conditions and other factors. We did not repurchase any shares of our common stock during 2023. We do not have plans to
repurchase any common stock under its stock repurchase program at this time. As of December 31, 2023, the remaining dollar value of authorization under the share repurchase program was
$37.9 million, which includes commission. Repurchased shares are included as treasury stock in the consolidated balance sheets and the consolidated statements of equity.

On February 9, 2021, we closed on a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “SPA”) for the sale by us of 3,249,668 shares of our common stock at a par value of $0.01 per share and the
issuance of warrants to purchase 1,299,861 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $5.45 per warrant for gross proceeds of $16.0 million, before deducting placement agent fees and offering
expenses of approximately $1.0 million. The warrants are initially exercisable commencing August 13, 2021 through their expiration date of August 12, 2026. The proceeds received from the SPA
were allocated between shares and warrants based on their relative fair values at closing. The warrants were valued utilizing the Black-Scholes method. In fiscal year 2023, 176,272 warrants were
exercised at the exercise price of $5.45 per warrant. As of December 31, 2023, we had 1,123,589 warrants outstanding that are exercisable through August 12, 2026.

On November 3, 2021, we entered into a certain Equity Sales Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with William Blair & Company, L.L.C., as agent (“William Blair”) pursuant to which we
may sell shares of our common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $40.0 million (the “Shares”), from time to time, in our sole discretion, through an “at the market” equity offering
program under which William Blair will act as sales agent. As of March 8, 2024, we have not sold any shares under the sales agreement.

(12) Employee Benefit Plan

We sponsor a 401(k) profit sharing plan for all employees who are eligible based upon age and length of service. We made matching contributions of $0.6 million, $0.9 million, and $0.3
million for fiscal years 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively, which are recorded in labor and related expenses and general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations.

(13) Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-Based Compensation Granted Under the 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan

Stock options and restricted stock units are awarded under the 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2019 Plan”) to eligible employees and certain non-employee members of the Board of
Directors. The 2019 Plan gives broad powers to our Board of Directors to administer and interpret the 2019 Plan, including the authority to select the individuals to be granted equity awards and
rights and to prescribe the particular form and conditions of each equity award to be granted.

On May 16, 2019, our stockholders approved the 2019 Plan and, in connection therewith, all equity awards made after that date were made under the 2019 Plan. On June 10, 2019, we
registered 1.2 million shares of our common stock reserved for issuance under the 2019 Plan. The Amended and Restated 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2013 Plan”) had 0.6 million remaining
shares of common stock reserved for issuance, which are available for issuance under the 2019 Plan and no future awards will be made under the 2013 Plan. On June 24, 2020 and May 18, 2023, the
2019 Plan was amended and restated effective to increase the number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance by 0.9 million and 1.1 million shares, respectively, for a total of 3.2 million
shares. As of December 31, 2023, there have been 6.5 million shares of restricted stock units and performance stock units granted under the 2019 Plan. As of December 31, 2023, there are 1.4 million
shares reserved for future issuance.

Stock Options

Under the Plans, the number of shares and exercise price of each option are determined by the committee designated by our Board of Directors. The options granted are generally exercisable
within a 10-year period from the date of grant. We award options to certain employees including the senior leadership team. Options outstanding expire on various dates through the year 2028. The
range of exercise prices for options outstanding as of December 31, 2023 is $10.59 to $20.53 per option, and the options generally vest in one-fourth and one-fifth increments over four and five-year
periods, respectively.

A summary of stock option activity is as follows:
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Options
Shares

(Thousands)

Weighted
Average

 Exercise
 Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic

 Value
 (Thousands)

Weighted
Average

 Remaining
 Term

 (Years)

Outstanding—December 27, 2020 1,233 $ 10.68 $ — 2.49
Granted — — 
Exercised (31) 7.24 
Canceled (664) 9.75 

Outstanding—December 26, 2021 538 $ 12.03 $ — 2.35
Granted — — 
Exercised — — 
Canceled (65) 10.65 

Outstanding—December 25, 2022 473 $ 12.22 $ — 1.46
Granted — — 
Exercised — — 
Canceled (351) 11.70 

Outstanding—December 31, 2023 122 $ 13.71 $ — 1.44

Exercisable—December 31, 2023 122 $ 13.71 $ — 1.44

There were no stock option grants in 2023, 2022, or 2021.

Stock-based compensation related to stock options is measured at the grant date based on the calculated fair value of the award, and is recognized as expense over the requisite employee
service period, which is generally the vesting period of the grant with a corresponding increase to additional paid-in capital. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 25, 2022, we did
not recognize any stock based compensation expense for stock options. As of December 31, 2023, we do not have unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to stock options.

Restricted stock units

We award RSUs to certain employees and certain non-employee members of our Board of Directors. Grants of RSUs to our Board of Directors fully vest on the first anniversary of the grant
date, or upon termination from the Board of Directors for any reason other than for cause, a pro rata portion of the shares vest on the termination date. The employee grants generally vest in one-third
increments over a three-year period.

A summary of RSU activity is as follows:

75



RSUs
Number of RSUs

(Thousands)
Weighted Average

Fair Value per Share

Non-vested as of December 27, 2020 994 $ 3.35 
Granted 649 6.16 
Vested (479) 7.05 
Canceled (13) 3.50 

Non-vested as of December 26, 2021 1,151 $ 4.87 
Granted 498 6.11 
Vested (693) 5.77 
Canceled (48) 5.90 

Non-vested as of December 25, 2022 908 $ 4.25 
Granted 612 7.46 
Vested (630) 5.63 
Canceled (89) 6.98 

Non-vested as of December 31, 2023 801 $ 7.18 

For the years ended December 31, 2023, December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021, we recognized stock-based compensation expense related to RSUs of $4.2 million, $2.7 million and
$1.6 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, unrecognized stock-based compensation expense for RSUs was $4.2 million, which will be recognized though fiscal year 2026.

Performance stock units

We award PSUs to certain employees. The PSUs have certain vesting conditions based upon our stock price and relative stock performance.

Because these PSUs are subject to service and market vesting conditions, we determine the fair market value of each grant using a Monte Carlo simulation model. Participants are entitled to
receive a specified number of shares of our common stock contingent on achievement of a stock return on our common stock. For the years ended December 31, 2023, December 25, 2022 and
December 26, 2021, we recognized stock-based compensation expense related to PSUs with market vesting conditions of $1.3 million, $0.6 million and $0.5 million, respectively.

A summary of activity for PSUs with market vesting conditions is as follows:

PSUs
Number of PSUs

 (Thousands)
Weighted Average

 Fair Value per Share

Non-Vested as of December 26, 2021 130 $ 8.43 
Granted 145 $ 10.15 
Vested — $ — 
Canceled — $ — 

Non-vested as of December 25, 2022 275 $ 9.34 
Granted 297 9.45
Vested (18) 4.30 
Canceled (40) 9.25 

Non-vested as of December 31, 2023 513 $ 9.59 

(14) Commitments and Contingencies

We are subject to legal proceedings, claims and liabilities, such as employment-related claims and slip and fall cases, which arise in the ordinary course of business and are generally covered
by insurance. We accrue for such liabilities
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when it is probable that future costs will be incurred and such costs can be reasonably estimated. Such accruals are based on developments to date, our estimates of the outcomes of these matters and
its experience in contesting, litigating and settling other similar matters. In the opinion of management, the amount of ultimate liability with respect to those actions should not have a material adverse
impact on our financial position or results of operations and cash flows.

Many of the food products we purchase are subject to changes in the price and availability of food commodities, including, among other things, beef, poultry, grains, dairy and produce. We
work with our suppliers and uses a mix of forward pricing protocols for certain items including agreements with its supplier on fixed prices for deliveries at a time in the future and agreements on a
fixed price with our supplier for the duration of those protocols. We also utilize formula pricing protocols under which the prices we pay are based on a specified formula related to the prices of the
goods, such as spot prices. Our use of any forward pricing arrangements varies substantially from time to time and these arrangements tend to cover relatively short periods (i.e., typically twelve
months or less). Such contracts are used in the normal purchases of our food products and not for speculative purposes, and as such are not required to be evaluated as derivative instruments.

(15) Subsequent Events

Settlement

On January 2, 2024, we executed a settlement agreement with a third-party software provider. The third-party provider was subject to a ransomware incident in the second quarter of 2023.
The incident impacted the efficiency of our shop operations but did not have an impact on our financial reporting nor resulted in the exposure of any of our data. The settlement is expected to result in
a gain of approximately $1.1 million in our consolidated statement of operations for the first quarter of 2024.

Revolving Facility

On February 7, 2024, Potbelly Sandwich Works, LLC (the “Borrower”) entered into a credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with Wintrust Bank, N.A. as administrative agent (the
“Agent”), the other loan parties party thereto and the lenders party thereto. The Credit Agreement provides for a revolving loan facility with an aggregate commitment of $30,000,000 (the “Revolving
Facility”, the commitments thereunder, the “Revolving Commitments”). Concurrently with entry into the Credit Agreement, we repaid in full and terminated the obligations and commitments of the
lenders under our existing Term Loan. Proceeds from the Revolving Facility will be used for general corporate and working capital purposes.

The Revolving Commitments expire on February 7, 2027.

Loans under the Credit Agreement will initially bear interest, at our option, at either one-month term SOFR or the base rate plus, in each case, an applicable rate per annum, based upon the
Consolidated Adjusted Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement). The applicable rate may vary between 3.75% and 2.75% with respect to borrowings which are based upon the one-month
term SOFR and between 2.25% and 1.25% with respect to borrowings which are based upon the base rate. Initially, the applicable rate with respect to one-month term SOFR borrowings is 3.25% and
the applicable rate with respect to base rate borrowings is 1.75% until the Agent receives a compliance certificate for the fiscal quarter ending on March 31, 2024.

We may prepay the Revolving Commitments at any time and from time to time in whole or in part without premium or penalty, subject to prior notice in accordance with the Credit
Agreement.

Subject to certain customary exceptions, obligations under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by the Company and all of the Company’s current and future wholly-owned material
domestic subsidiaries and are secured by a first-priority security interest in substantially all of the assets of the Company and its subsidiary guarantors.

The Credit Agreement contains customary representations and affirmative and negative covenants. Among other things, these covenants restrict our ability to incur certain indebtedness and
liens, undergo certain mergers, consolidations and certain other fundamental changes, make certain investments, make certain dispositions and acquisitions, enter into sale and leaseback transactions,
enter into certain swap transactions, make certain restricted payments (including certain payment of dividends, repurchases of stock and payments on certain indebtedness), engage in certain
transactions with affiliates, enter into certain types of restricted agreements, make certain changes to its organizational documents and indebtedness, and use the proceeds of the Revolving
Commitments for certain non-permitted uses. In addition, the Credit
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Agreement requires that we maintain compliance with certain minimum fixed charge coverage ratios and maximum consolidated leverage ratios as set forth in the Credit Agreement.

The Credit Agreement also contains customary events of default. If an event of default occurs, the Agent and lenders are entitled to take various actions, including the acceleration of
amounts due under the Credit Agreement, termination of commitments thereunder and all other actions permitted to be taken by a secured creditor.

As a result of repaying and terminating the Term Loan, we expect to recognize a loss on extinguishment of debt of approximately $2 to $3 million in the first quarter of 2024.
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ITEM 9.    CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A.    CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer (as the principal executive officer and person performing functions similar to that of the principal financial officer),
has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”)) as
of December 31, 2023. Based upon that evaluation, we have concluded that, as of December 31, 2023, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective in ensuring that information required to
be disclosed in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management, including our Chief Executive Officer, is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f) under the Exchange Act). Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i)
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our
assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide
only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023. In making this assessment, management used the criteria established by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013). Based on this assessment, management has concluded that, as of
December 31, 2023, our internal control over financial reporting was effective, at a reasonable assurance level.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, has issued an attestation report
on our internal control over financial reporting.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during our fiscal quarter ended December 31,
2023 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Potbelly Corporation

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Potbelly Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2023, of the Company and our report dated March 8, 2024, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use,
or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject
to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Chicago, Illinois
March 8, 2024
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ITEM 9B.    OTHER INFORMATION

During the quarter ended December 31, 2023 no director or officer of Potbelly adopted or terminated a "Rule 10b5-1 trading agreement" or "non-Rule 10b5-1 trading agreement," as each
term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.

ITEM 9C.    DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10.    DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Except as set forth below, the information required by this item will be contained in Potbelly’s definitive proxy statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting (our “Proxy Statement”) and is
incorporated herein by reference.

Potbelly has adopted an ethics code of conduct applicable to the directors, officers and employees. A copy of that code is available on our corporate website at www.potbelly.com, which
does not form a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Any amendments to such code, or any waivers of its requirements, will be posted on our website.

ITEM 11.    EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item will be contained in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12.    SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Except as set forth below, the information required by this item will be contained in Potbelly’s Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table presents certain information related to Potbelly’s equity incentive plans under which the equity securities are authorized for issuance as of December 31, 2023 (shares in
thousands):

 (a) (b) (c)

Plan Category

Number of Securities to
be issued upon exercise

 of outstanding options,
 warrants and rights

Weighted-average
exercise price of

 outstanding options,
 warrants and rights

Number of securities
remaining available for

 future issuance under
 equity compensation
 plans (excluding

 securities reflected in
 column (a))

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 122 $ 13.71 1,401 
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders — — — 
Total 122 $ 13.71 1,401 

______________________________
(1) Consists of the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan, the 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan and the 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan. No further awards may be made under the 2004 Equity Incentive

Plan or the 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan. All remaining shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the 2013 Plan are available for issuance under the 2019 Plan.
(2) The total amount reported consists only of shares available for future issuance under the 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan, which may be issued in connection with awards of stock options,

stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, deferred stock units, performance stock and performance stock units.

ITEM 13.    CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item will be contained in Potbelly’s Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14.    PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item will be contained in Potbelly’s Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

(1) (2)
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PART IV

ITEM 15.    EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Financial Statements

(1) The financial statements filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are listed in the index to the financial statements.

(2) Any financial statement schedules required to be filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are set forth in section (c) below.

(b) Exhibits

See the Exhibit Index at the end of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which is incorporate by reference.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules

No financial statement schedules are provided because the information called for is not applicable or is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit

3.1 Seventh Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Potbelly Corporation (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Form S-1 (File No. 333-190893) filed on August 29, 2013 and
incorporated herein by reference)

3.2 Amended and Restated By-laws of Potbelly Corporation (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-36104) filed June 12, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference)

4.1 Description of Capital Stock

4.2 Fifth Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form S-1 (File No. 333-190893) filed on August 29, 2013 and incorporated herein by
reference)

10.1 Potbelly Corporation 2004 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form S-1 (File No. 333-190893) filed on August 29, 2013 and incorporated herein
by reference) †

10.2 Amended and Restated Potbelly Corporation 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-36104) filed June 12, 2018 and
incorporated herein by reference) †

10.3 Potbelly Corporation 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-36104) filed May 21, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference) †

10.3A Potbelly Corporate 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan (As Amended and Restated Effective June 24, 2020) (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-36104) filed
June 30, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference). †

10.3B Amendment to Potbelly Corporate 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan (As Amended and Restated Effective June 24, 2020) (incorporated by reference to our Registration
Statement on Form S-8). †

10.4 Potbelly Corporation Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q (File No. 001-36104) filed August 8, 2019 and incorporated herein
by reference). †

10.5 Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of August 7, 2019, among Potbelly Sandwich Works, LLC, the other Loan Parties party thereto, the Lenders
party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q (File No. 001-36104) filed August 8, 2019 and incorporated
herein by reference).

10.5A Amendment No. 1, dated May 15, 2020, to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of August 7, 2019, among Potbelly Sandwich Works, LLC, the
other Loan Parties party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Sole Bookrunner
and Sole Lead Arranger (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q (File No. 001-36104) filed May 18, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.5B Amendment No. 2, dated July 17, 2020, to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of August 7, 2019, among Potbelly Sandwich Works, LLC, the
other Loan Parties party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Sole Bookrunner
and Sole Lead Arranger (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q (File No. 001-36104) filed August 5, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.5C Amendment No. 3, dated August 19, 2020, to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of August 7, 2019, among Potbelly Sandwich Works, LLC,
the other Loan Parties party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent and J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Sole
Bookrunner and Sole Lead Arranger (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-36104) filed August 21, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference).
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Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit

10.5D Amendment No. 4, dated November 4, 2020, to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of August 7, 2019, among Potbelly Sandwich Works,
LLC, the other Loan Parties party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent and J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
Sole Bookrunner and Sole Lead Arranger (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-36104) filed November 9, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.5E Amendment No. 5, dated February 26, 2021, to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of August 7, 2019, among Potbelly Sandwich Works, LLC,
the other Loan Parties party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent and J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Sole
Bookrunner and Sole Lead Arranger (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q (File No. 001-36104) filed May 6, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.5F Amendment No. 6, dated January 28, 2022, to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of August 7, 2019, among Potbelly Sandwich Works, LLC,
the other Loan Parties party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A., as Administrative Agent and J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Sole
Bookrunner and Sole Lead Arranger (filed as Exhibit 10.5F to Form 10-K (File No. 001-36104) filed March 12, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.5G Amendment No. 7 dated May 31, 2022, to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of August 7, 2019, among Potbelly Sandwich Works, LLC, the
other Loan Parties party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A., as Administrative Agent and J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Sole
Bookrunner and Sole Lead Arranger (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q (File No. 001-36104) filed June 26, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.5H Amendment No. 8 dated September 23, 2022, to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of August 7, 2019, among Potbelly Sandwich Works,
LLC, the other Loan Parties party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A., as Administrative Agent and J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
Sole Bookrunner and Sole Lead Arranger (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q (File No. 001-36104) filed September 25, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.6 Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of February 7, 2023, among Potbelly Corporation, the other loan parties named therein, Sagard Holdings Manager LP, as
administrative agent, and the lenders set forth therein (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-36104) filed February 10, 2022 and incorporated herein by
reference).

10.7 Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of February 7, 2024, among Potbelly Sandwich Works, LLC, the other loan parties named therein, Wintrust Bank, N.A., as
administrative agent, and the lenders set forth therein and filed Feburuary 12, 2024 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.8 Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock to be issued pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-36104) filed
February 10, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.9 Equity Sales Agreement, dated as of November 3, 2021, by and between Potbelly Corporation and William Blair & Company, L.L.C. (filed as Exhibit 1.1 to Form 8-K
(File No. 001-36104) filed on November 4, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.10 Form of Registration Rights Agreement to be entered into by and among the Company and the persons party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-
36104) filed February 10, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.11 Executive Employment Agreement, dated April 6, 2020, between Potbelly Corporation and Steve Cirulis (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-36104) filed
April 13, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference). †
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Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit

10.12 Executive Employment Agreement, dated July 20, 2020, between Potbelly Corporation and Robert D. Wright (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-36104)
filed July 20, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference). †

10.13 Executive Employment Agreement, dated August 28, 2020, between Potbelly Corporation and Adam Noyes (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-36104) filed
September 1, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference). †

10.14 Executive Employment Agreement, dated September 30, 2019, between Potbelly Corporation and Jeff Douglas †

10.15 Executive Employment Agreement, dated November 11, 2020, between Potbelly Corporation and Adiya Dixon †

10.16 Form of stock option agreement for grants for non-employee directors pursuant to 2004 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.13 to Form S-1 (File No. 333-190893)
filed August 29, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference). †

10.17 Form of stock option agreement pursuant to 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.14 to Form S-1 (File No. 333-190893) filed August 29, 2013 and
incorporated herein by reference) †

10.18 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement pursuant to 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan, As Amended and Restated (filed as Annex A to the Definitive Proxy
Statement (File No. 001-36104) filed May 20, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.19 Form of Director Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for non-employee directors pursuant to 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan, As Amended and Restated

10.20 Restricted Stock Unit Inducement Award Agreement effective as of August 5, 2020, between Potbelly Corporation and Robert D. Wright (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Form
10-Q (File No. 001-36104) filed November 5, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference). †

10.21 Restricted Stock Unit Inducement Award Agreement effective as of August 28, 2020, between Potbelly Corporation and Adam Noyes (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Form 10-Q
(File No. 001-36104) filed November 5, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference). †

10.22 Employment Agreement Amendment, dated November 2, 2022, between Potbelly Corporation and Robert D. Wright (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-
36104) filed November 2, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference). †

10.23 Form of Performance Stock Unit Award Agreement pursuant to 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan, As Amended and Restated. †
21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP

24.1 Power of Attorney (included on signature page)

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

97 Potbelly Corporation Executive Officer Clawback Policy (filed herewith)
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101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
† Management contract or compensatory plan
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, Potbelly Corporation has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

POTBELLY CORPORATION

Dated: March 8, 2024 /s/ Robert D. Wright
Robert D. Wright

Chief Executive Officer and President

Dated: March 8, 2024 /s/ Steven Cirulis
Steven Cirulis

Chief Financial Officer
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Robert Wright and Adiya Dixon and each of them, his or her true and
lawful attorneys-in-fact, each with full power of substitution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this report on Form 10-K and to file the same, with exhibits thereto
and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact or their substitute or substitutes
may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Robert D. Wright Chief Executive Officer and President; Director
(Principal Executive Officer) March 8, 2024

Robert D. Wright

/s/ Steven Cirulis  Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Strategy Officer
(Principal Financial Officer, Principal Accounting Officer) March 8, 2024

Steven Cirulis

/s/ Joseph Boehm
Director March 8, 2024

Joseph Boehm

/s/ Adrian Butler
Director March 8, 2024

Adrian Butler

/s/ David T. Pearson
Director March 8, 2024

David T. Pearson

/s/ David Head
Director March 8, 2024

David Head

/s/ David Near
Director March 8, 2024

David Near

 /s/ Jill Sutton
  Director March 8, 2024

Jill Sutton

 /s/ Vann Avedisian
  Director March 8, 2024

Vann Avedisian

/s/ Todd W. Smith
Director March 8, 2024

Todd W. Smith
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Description of Capital Stock The following is a description of certain general terms and provisions of our common stock and preferred stock. This description does not purport to be complete and is subject in all respects to applicable Delaware law and qualified by reference to the provisions of our certificate of incorporation and our bylaws. Copies of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws are incorporated by reference to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 and will be provided to stockholders upon request. General The Company’s authorized capital stock consists of 200,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, and 10,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock. As of February 25, 2024, we had 29,602,526 shares of common stock and no shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding. Common Stock Voting Rights Each outstanding share of common stock is entitled to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. Our certificate of incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting in connection with the election of directors, and accordingly, holders of more than 50% of the shares voting are able to elect all of the directors. The holders of a majority of the shares of common stock issued and outstanding constitute a quorum at all meetings of the stockholders for the transaction of business. Dividend Rights Subject to preferences that may apply to shares of preferred stock outstanding at the time, holders of outstanding shares of common stock are entitled to receive dividends out of assets legally available at the times and in the amounts as the board of directors may from time to time determine. Liquidation Rights Subject to applicable law and the rights, if any, of the holders of any series of preferred stock of the Company then outstanding, in the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company, the holders of our common stock will be entitled to receive
pro rata our assets that are legally available for distribution, after payment of all debts and other liabilities and subject to the prior rights of any holders of preferred stock then outstanding. Redemption, Conversion or Preemptive Rights Holders of common stock have no redemption rights, conversion rights or preemptive rights to subscribe to any or all additional issues of shares of capital stock the Company or securities convertible into capital stock of the Company. Listing Currently, our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq under the ticker symbol “PBPB.” Preferred Stock We are authorized to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share, from time to time, in one or more series. Our board of directors may, without further action by our stockholders, from time to time, direct the issuance of shares of preferred stock in series and may, at the time of issuance, determine the designations, powers, preferences, privileges, and relative participating, optional or special rights as well as the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, including dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption and liquidation preferences, any or all of which may be greater than the rights of the common stock.



 

Satisfaction of any dividend preferences of outstanding shares of preferred stock would reduce the amount of funds available for the payment of dividends on shares of our common stock. Holders of shares of preferred stock may be entitled to receive a preference payment in the event of our liquidation before any payment is made to the holders of shares of our common stock. Under specified circumstances, the issuance of shares of preferred stock may render more difficult or tend to discourage a merger, tender offer or proxy contest, the assumption of control by a holder of a large block of our securities or the removal of incumbent management. Upon the affirmative vote of a majority of the total number of directors then in office, our board of directors, without stockholder approval, may issue shares of preferred stock with voting and conversion rights that could adversely affect the holders of shares of our common stock and the market value of our common stock. Prior to the issuance of shares of each series, the board of directors is required by the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”), and our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to adopt resolutions and file a certificate of designation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware. The certificate of designation fixes for each class or series the designations, powers, preferences, rights, qualifications, limitations and restrictions, including dividend rights, conversion rights, redemption privileges and liquidation preferences. All shares of preferred stock offered by this prospectus will, when issued, be fully paid and nonassessable and will not have any preemptive or similar rights. Our board of directors may authorize the issuance of preferred stock with voting or conversion rights that could adversely affect the voting power or other rights of the holders of the common stock. The issuance of preferred stock, while providing flexibility in connection with possible
acquisitions and other corporate purposes, could, among other things, have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in our control and may adversely affect the market price of the common stock and the voting and other rights of the holders of common stock. We will describe in a prospectus supplement relating to the class or series of preferred stock being offered the following terms: • the title and stated value of the preferred stock; • the number of shares of the preferred stock offered, the liquidation preference per share and the offering price of the preferred stock; • the dividend rate(s), period(s) or payment date(s) or method(s) of calculation applicable to the preferred stock; • whether dividends are cumulative or non-cumulative and, if cumulative, the date from which dividends on the preferred stock will accumulate; • the procedures for any auction and remarketing, if any, for the preferred stock; • the provisions for a sinking fund, if any, for the preferred stock; • the provision for redemption, if applicable, of the preferred stock; • any listing of the preferred stock on any securities exchange; • the terms and conditions, if applicable, upon which the preferred stock will be convertible into common stock, including the conversion price or manner of calculation and conversion period; • voting rights, if any, of the preferred stock; • a discussion of any material or special U.S. federal income tax considerations applicable to the preferred stock; • the relative ranking and preferences of the preferred stock as to dividend rights and rights upon the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our affairs; • any limitations on issuance of any class or series of preferred stock ranking senior to or on a parity with the class or series of preferred stock as to dividend rights and rights upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our affairs; and • any other specific terms, preferences, rights, limitations or restrictions of the preferred stock.



 

Unless we specify otherwise in the applicable prospectus supplement, the preferred stock will rank, relating to dividends and upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up: • senior to all classes or series of our common stock and to all of our equity securities ranking junior to the preferred stock; • on a parity with all of our equity securities the terms of which specifically provide that the equity securities rank on a parity with the preferred stock; and • junior to all of our equity securities the terms of which specifically provide that the equity securities rank senior to the preferred stock. The term equity securities does not include convertible debt securities. Exclusive Forum The Company’s certificate of incorporation requires, to the fullest extent permitted by law, that derivative actions brought in the name of the Company, actions against directors, officers and employees for breach of fiduciary duty and other similar actions may be brought only in the Court of Chancery in the State of Delaware. Although the Company believes this provision benefits the Company by providing increased consistency in the application of Delaware law in the types of lawsuits to which it applies, the provision may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against the Company’s directors and officers. Indemnification of Directors and Officers Under the DGCL, a Delaware corporation may include in its certificate of incorporation a provision that, subject to the limitations described below, eliminates or limits the personal liability of a director to the corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for breaches of fiduciary duty as a director. Such a provision may not eliminate or limit the liability of a director for (i) any breach of the duty of loyalty to the corporation or its stockholders, (ii) acts or omissions not in good faith or that involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (iii) the willful or negligent payment of unlawful dividends or purchases or redemptions
of shares of stock, or (iv) transactions from which such director derived an improper personal benefit. The DGCL also provides that a Delaware corporation has the power to indemnify any person who is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding (whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative) by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee of another entity, against reasonable expenses (including attorneys’ fees) and, in actions not brought by or in the right of the corporation, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement, in each case, actually and reasonably incurred in connection with such action, suit or proceeding, but only if such person acted in a manner reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation and, with respect to any criminal action, had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful, except that in any action brought by or in the right of the corporation, such indemnification may not be made if such person is adjudged liable to the corporation (unless otherwise determined by the court in which such action, suit or proceeding was brought or the Delaware Court of Chancery). In addition, under Delaware law, to the extent that a present or former director or officer of a Delaware corporation has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any action, suit or proceeding referred to above or any claim, issue or matter therein, he or she must be indemnified by the corporation against expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurred by him or her. Furthermore, under Delaware law, a Delaware corporation is permitted to maintain directors’ and officers’ insurance. Our certificate of incorporation limits the liability of our directors to the fullest extent

permitted by the DGCL, and our bylaws provide that we will indemnify them to the fullest extent permitted by such law. We have entered into indemnification agreements with our directors and executive officers.



 

Anti-Takeover Effects of Delaware Law and the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws Delaware law and the Company’s certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that may prevent or discourage a third party from acquiring the Company, even if the acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholders. Pursuant to the certificate of incorporation, our board of directors have the authority to create one or more series of preferred stock of the Company and to fix the designations and the powers, preferences and rights, if any, and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions, if any, of shares of such new series of preferred stock of the Company and to issue shares of such series without a stockholder vote, which could be used to dilute the ownership of a hostile acquiror. Pursuant to the certificate of incorporation, our board of directors have the power to amend the bylaws of the Company, which may allow our board of directors to take certain actions to prevent an unsolicited takeover. The Company is also subject to Delaware law prohibiting the Company from engaging in any “business combination” with an “interested stockholder” for a period of three years subsequent to the time that the stockholder became an interested stockholder unless: • prior to such time, our board of directors approved either the business combination or the transaction in which the stockholder became an interested stockholder; • upon completion of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owns at least 85% of the outstanding voting stock (with certain exclusions); or • at or after the person becomes an interested stockholder, the business combination is approved by our board of directors and authorized by a vote of at least 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting stock of the Company not owned by the interested stockholder. For purposes of Delaware law, an “interested stockholder” generally is defined as an
entity or person (other than the corporation and any direct or indirect majority-owned subsidiary of the corporation) directly or indirectly beneficially owning 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation and any entity or person affiliated or associated with such entity or person. For purposes of Delaware law, a “business combination” includes mergers, asset sales and other transactions resulting in financial benefit to a stockholder. This Delaware law could prohibit or delay mergers or other takeover or change of control attempts with respect to the Company and, accordingly, may discourage attempts that might result in a premium over the market price for the shares held by stockholders of the Company. Transfer Agent and Registrar The transfer agent and registrar for the Company’s common stock is American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC.



 



FORM OF PERFORMANCE STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT POTBELLY CORPORATION 2019 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN PERFORMANCE STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT Participant: [NAME] THIS PERFORMANCE STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of the Grant Date specified herein, by and between Potbelly Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and the Participant is entered into pursuant to the Potbelly Corporation 2019 Long- Term Incentive Plan (as the same may be further amended, restated, supplemented and otherwise modified from time to time, the “Plan”). All capitalized terms not otherwise defined in the text of this Agreement (including in Section 3(e), which contains certain defined terms for purposes of this Agreement that are not defined elsewhere in this Agreement) shall have the meanings attributed to them in the Plan. This Agreement is subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan. 1. Grant of Award. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, effective as of [Grant Date] (the “Grant Date”), the Participant has been granted a Full Value Award (the “Award”) under the Plan in the form of performance share units (“PSUs”) with respect to the number of shares of Common Stock (“Target PSUs”) set forth herein. Each PSU constitutes an unfunded and unsecured promise of the Company to deliver (or cause to be delivered) to the Participant, subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Agreement, a share of Common Stock if and when the PSU becomes vested and payable as described in Sections 2 and 3 hereof. Grant Date: [ ] Closing Share Price on [ ] (“Base Price”): $[ ] Target PSUs: [ ] Vesting Date: [ ] (Three-year cliff vest) 2. Determination of Amount of Award. (a) Target PSUs. The number of Target PSUs that shall become earned and vested pursuant to this Award (referred to as “Vested PSUs”) will be determined and shall be based on (i) the
Base Price as compared to the Target Stock Price or (ii) the relative Total Shareholder Return (TSR) metric vs. the Russell 3000 Travel & Leisure Index (T&L Index), each as determined in accordance with the following chart and subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan:



 

Comparison Threshold Grant Value 50% Target Grant Value 100% Target Grant Value 150% Max Grant Value 200% Target Stock Price $7.44/sh 25% growth; 7.72% CAGR $10.41/sh 75% growth; 20.51% CAGR $11.90/sh 100% growth; 25.99% CAGR $14.88/sh 150% growth; 35.72% CAGR Relative TSR Percentile Performance vs. Russell 3000 T&L Index >40th Percentile >66th Percentile >78th Percentile >90th Percentile The Target Stock Price shall be equal to the 30-day VWAP on the Vesting Date. (b) Determination of Performance and Number of Vested Target PSUs. Performance will be determined (i) based on the growth in the Base Price Base Price as compared to the Target Stock Price set forth in the chart in paragraph (a) or (ii) the relative TSR Percentile Performance as compared to the Russell 3000 T&L Index as set forth in the chart in paragraph (a). If either of the performance criteria are satisfied, the award will vest based on the percentages indicated in the chart set forth in paragraph (a).Upon the Vesting Date, the percentage of the Participant’s Target PSUs associated with the performance vesting determined in accordance with paragraph (a) shall become “Vested PSUs”, subject to the terms and conditions of Section 3 and the other terms and conditions of this Agreement. Examples of the manner in which the performance vesting will be applied are set forth Appendix A hereto for convenience only and such examples do not form part of this Agreement. (c) Settlement Generally. Settlement of the Target PSUs that become Vested PSUs upon the Vesting Date shall be made as of a date determined by the Committee and no later than two and one half months after the Vesting Date (the “Settlement Date”). Unless otherwise determined by the Committee in accordance with the terms of the Plan, settlement shall be made in the form of shares of Common Stock with one share of Common Stock being issued in settlement of each Vested PSU,
plus an amount of cash equal to the Fair Market Value of any fractional Vested PSU being settled as of such Settlement Date. Upon settlement, the entire Award shall be cancelled. For the avoidance of doubt, except as otherwise expressly provided herein, any portion of the Award that is not vested as of the Vesting Date based on achievement of the performance criteria will be forfeited as of the last day of the Performance Period. (d) Unvested Award; Termination Prior to Vesting or Settlement. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, the Participant shall have no right with respect to any payments or other amounts in respect of any portion of this Award until such



 

portion of the Award is actually settled on the Settlement Date and provided that the Participant’s Termination Date has not occurred due to termination by the Company for Cause prior to the Settlement Date. For the avoidance of doubt, if the Participant’s Termination Date occurs after the Vesting Date but prior to the Settlement Date for any reason other than termination by the Company for Cause, the Participant (or, in the event of the Participant’s death, the Participant’s Beneficiary) shall be entitled to settlement on the Settlement Date of the Vested PSUs that would otherwise have been settled on such Settlement Date had the Participant’s Termination Date not occurred prior to the Settlement Date. All Target PSUs that are not Vested PSUs as of the Participant’s Termination Date shall be forfeited as of the Participant’s Termination Date and if the Participant’s Termination Date occurs due to termination by the Company for Cause prior to the Settlement Date, all outstanding PSUs (including Vested PSUs) shall be forfeited as of the Participant’s Termination Date. (e) Certain Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, the term: (i) “30 day (VWAP” as of any date shall mean the average price at which a security has traded at throughout the day, based on both volume and price, over the 30 day period ending on the date of the determination. (ii) “Cause” as used in this Agreement shall have the meaning given to such term in the Employment Agreement. (iii) “Closing Price” as of any day shall mean the last reported sale price on the applicable stock exchange or market of one share of stock for such day (or if such day is not a trading day, the last trading day preceding such day); and (iv) “Employment Agreement” means the written employment agreement between the Participant and the Company or a Subsidiary (the “Employment Agreement”); (f) Employment Agreement Not Controlling. In the event that the Employment Agreement is inconsistent with the
provisions of this Agreement, the terms of the Agreement will take precedence over this Agreement. 3. Designation of Beneficiary. The Participant may designate a person or persons to receive payment in respect of the Participant’s Vested PSUs, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, in the event that the Participant dies prior to the payment in respect of such Vested PSUs (a “Beneficiary”). Such designation, or any change to a prior designation of a Beneficiary, must be done by giving notice to the Committee on a form designated by the Committee. If, upon the death of the Participant, the Committee has determined that there is no designated Beneficiary for part or all of the Participant’s Vested PSUs, such Vested PSUs shall be paid, in accordance with the terms of the Agreement, to the Participant’s estate (and the estate shall be deemed to be the Beneficiary for purposes of the Agreement).



 

4. Withholding. All payments or distributions for Vested PSUs pursuant to this Agreement are subject to withholding of all applicable taxes. At the election of the Participant and subject to such rules and limitations as may be established by the Committee from time to time, withholding obligations may be satisfied through the surrender of Common Stock which the Participant already owns or to which a Participant is otherwise entitled pursuant to this Agreement; provided, however, that previously-owned Common Stock that has been held by the Participant or Common Stock to which the Participant is entitled pursuant to this Agreement may only be used to satisfy the minimum tax withholding required by applicable law (or other rates that will not have a negative accounting impact). 5. Miscellaneous. (a) Administration. The authority to administer and interpret the Agreement shall be vested in the Committee, and the Committee shall have all the powers with respect to the Agreement as it has with respect to the Plan. Any interpretation of the Agreement by the Committee and any decision made by it with respect to the Agreement is final and binding on all persons. (b) Transfer Restrictions. This Agreement, the Participant’s rights hereunder, and the PSUs are not transferable by the Participant, except as otherwise provided in the Plan and this Agreement. (c) Securities Law Requirements. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Company shall have no liability to make any distribution of Common Stock under this Agreement unless such delivery or distribution would comply with all applicable laws. In particular, no shares will be delivered to a Participant unless, at the time of delivery, the shares qualify for exemption from, or are registered pursuant to, applicable federal and state securities laws. (d) Notices. All notices, consents and other exchanges of written material required or implied under this Agreement shall be in writing and
delivered in person or by messenger, facsimile, overnight courier or certified mail and shall be sent to the following: If to the Company: Potbelly Corporation 111 North Canal Street Suite 325 Chicago, Illinois 60606 Attention: Committee, General Counsel and Senior Vice President of Human Resources If to Participant: The address on file with the Company All notices shall be deemed delivered and received by the receiving party (i) if delivered by messenger, on the date of delivery or on the date delivery was refused by the addressee, (ii) if delivered by facsimile transmission, upon receipt of facsimile confirmation of the party transmitting such notice, or (iii) if delivered by



 

overnight courier or certified mail, on the date of delivery as established by the return receipt, courier service confirmation or similar documentation (or the date on which the courier or postal service, as applicable, confirms that acceptance of delivery was refused by the addressee). A party may change its notice information set forth above by giving the other party proper notice of the change, but a change to such notice information is only effective when it is actually received. (e) Rights Are Unsecured. Under this Agreement, the right of a Participant or Beneficiary to receive payment hereunder shall be an unsecured claim against the general assets of the Company and neither the Participant nor any Beneficiary shall have any rights in or against any specific assets of the Company or any of its affiliates. All amounts credited to the Participant shall constitute general assets of the Company, and may be disposed of by the Company at such time and for such purposes as it may deem appropriate. (f) Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of all successors and assigns of the Company and the Participant, including without limitation, the estate of the Participant and the executor, administrator or trustee of such estate or any receiver or trustee in bankruptcy or representative of the Participant’s creditors. (g) Severability. The terms or conditions of this Agreement shall be deemed severable and the invalidity or unenforceability of any term or condition hereof shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the other terms and conditions set forth herein. (h) No Rights to Continued Service; No Rights as Stockholder. The grant of the PSUs does not constitute a contract of employment or continued service, and the grant of the PSUs shall not give the Participant the right to be retained in the employ or service of the Company or any Related Company, nor any right or claim to any benefit under the Plan or the Agreement,
unless such right or claim has specifically accrued under the terms of the Plan and the Agreement. The Participant and the Participant’s Beneficiary shall not have any rights with respect to Common Stock (including voting rights) issuable upon payment of the PSUs prior to the date on which the PSUs are paid or settled. (i) Governing Law. The grant of the PSUs and the provisions of this Agreement are governed by, and subject to, the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to the conflict of law provisions, as provided in the Plan. For purposes of litigating any dispute that arises under this grant or this Agreement the parties hereby submit to and consent to the exclusive jurisdiction of the State of Illinois and agree that such litigation shall be conducted in the courts of Lake County, Illinois, or the federal courts for the United States for the Northern District of Illinois, where this grant is made and/or to be performed. (j) Amendment. The Board may, at any time, amend or terminate the Plan, and the Board or the Committee may amend this Agreement, provided that no amendment or termination may, in the absence of written consent to the change by the



 

Participant (or, if the Participant is not then living, the Participant’s Beneficiary), adversely affect the rights of any Participant or beneficiary under this Agreement prior to the date such amendment is adopted by the Board (or the Committee, if applicable). Certain adjustments under the Plan shall not be subject to the foregoing limitations. In no event shall this Agreement be amended to provide for any provision that is inconsistent with the terms of the Plan. (k) Special Section 409A Rules. It is intended that any amounts payable under this Agreement shall either be exempt from or comply with section 409A of the Code. The provisions of this Award shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with section 409A of the Code. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, if any payment or benefit hereunder is subject to section 409A of the Code, and if such payment or benefit is to be paid or provided on account of the Participant’s termination of employment (or other separation from service): (i) and if the Participant is a specified employee (within the meaning of section 409A(a)(2)(B) of the Code) and if any such payment or benefit is required to be made or provided prior to the first day of the seventh month following the Participant’s separation from service or termination of employment, such payment or benefit shall be delayed until the first day of the seventh month following the Participant’s termination of employment or separation from service; and (ii) the determination as to whether the Participant has had a termination of employment (or separation from service) shall be made in accordance with the provisions of section 409A of the Code and the guidance issued thereunder without application of any alternative levels of reductions of bona fide services permitted thereunder. IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the Grant Date. PARTICIPANT POTBELLY
CORPORATION ___________________________________ By: Name:_____________________________ Name:______________________________ Its: _________________________________



 



Attachment E – Audit Reports and Consent E-5 CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-232060, 333- 225619, 333-244356, and 333-249977 on Form S-8 and Registration Statement Nos. 333-254284 and 333-255845 on Form S-3 of our reports dated March 8, 2024, relating to the financial statements of Potbelly Corporation and the effectiveness of Potbelly Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023. /s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP Chicago, Illinois March 8, 2024



 



EXHIBIT 31.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 I, Robert Wright, certify that: 1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Potbelly Corporation; 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. Date: March 8, 2024 /s/ Robert Wright Robert Wright Chief Executive Officer and President



 



EXHIBIT 31.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 I, Steven Cirulis, certify that: 1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Potbelly Corporation; 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. Date: March 8, 2024 /s/ Steven Cirulis Steven Cirulis Chief Financial Officer



 



EXHIBIT 32.1 CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 In accordance with 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Robert Wright, Chief Executive Officer and President of Potbelly Corporation (the “Registrant”), hereby certifies that, to the best of his knowledge on the date hereof: 1. the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2023 (the “Annual Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and 2. the information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant. Date: March 8, 2024 By: /s/ Robert Wright Robert Wright Chief Executive Officer and President



 



EXHIBIT 32.2 CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 In accordance with 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Robert Wright, Chief Executive Officer and President of Potbelly Corporation (the “Registrant”), hereby certifies that, to the best of his knowledge on the date hereof: 1. the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2023 (the “Annual Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and 2. the information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant. Date: March 8, 2024 By: /s/ Steven Cirulis Steven Cirulis Chief Financial Officer



 



ACTIVE 690976019v2 Potbelly Corporation Executive Officer Clawback Policy Approved by the Compensation Committee on October 25, 2023 (the “Adoption Date”) I. Purpose This Executive Officer Clawback Policy describes the circumstances under which Covered Persons of Potbelly Corporation and any of its direct or indirect subsidiaries (the “Company”) will be required to repay or return Erroneously-Awarded Compensation to the Company. This Policy and any terms used in this Policy shall be construed in accordance with any SEC regulations promulgated to comply with Section 954 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 and the rules adopted by Nasdaq (the “Nasdaq Rules”). Each Covered Person of the Company shall sign an Acknowledgement and Agreement to the Executive Officer Clawback Policy in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A as a condition to his or her participation in any of the Company’s incentive-based compensation programs; provided, that, this Policy shall apply to each Covered Person, irrespective of whether such Covered Person shall have failed, for any reason, to have executed such acknowledgment and agreement. II. Definitions For purposes of this Policy, the following capitalized terms shall have the meaning set forth below: (a) “Accounting Restatement” shall mean an accounting restatement (i) due to the material noncompliance of the Company with any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the previously issued financial statements (a “Big R” restatement), or (ii) that corrects an error that is not material to previously issued financial statements, but would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period (a “little r” restatement). Notwithstanding the
foregoing, none of the following changes to the Company’s financial statements represent error corrections and shall not be deemed an Accounting Restatement: (a) retrospective application of a change in accounting principle; (b) retrospective revision to reportable segment information due to a change in the structure of the Company’s internal organization; (c) retrospective reclassification due to a discontinued operation; (d) retrospective application of a change in reporting entity, such as from a reorganization of entities under common control; and (e) retrospective revision for stock splits, reverse stock splits, stock dividends or other changes in capital structure. (b) “Board” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company. (c) “Clawback-Eligible Incentive Compensation” shall mean, in connection with an Accounting Restatement, any Incentive-Based Compensation Received by a Covered Person (regardless of whether such Covered Person was serving at the time that Erroneously-Awarded Compensation is required to be repaid) (i) on or after the October 2, 2023, (ii) after beginning service as a Covered Person, (iii) while the Company has a class of securities listed on a national securities exchange or national securities association and (iv) during the Clawback Period.



 

2 ACTIVE 690976019v2 (d) “Clawback Period” shall mean, with respect to any Accounting Restatement, the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the Restatement Date and any transition period (that results from a change in the Company’s fiscal year) of less than nine months within or immediately following those three completed fiscal years. (e) “Committee” shall mean the Compensation Committee of the Board or with respect to the Chief Executive Officer, the majority of the independent directors of the Board. (f) “Covered Person” shall mean any person who is, or was at any time, during the Clawback Period, an Executive Officer of the Company. For the avoidance of doubt, Covered Person may include a former Executive Officer who left the Company, retired or transitioned to a non-Executive Officer role (including after serving as an Executive Officer in an interim capacity) during the Clawback Period. (g) “Erroneously-Awarded Compensation” shall mean the amount of Clawback-Eligible Incentive Compensation that exceeds the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation that otherwise would have been Received had it been determined based on the restated amounts. This amount must be computed without regard to any taxes paid. (h) “Executive Officer” shall mean the Company’s president, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer (or if there is no such accounting officer, the controller), any vice-president in charge of a principal business unit, division, or function (such as sales, administration, or finance), any other officer who performs a policy-making function, or any other person (including an officer of the Company’s parent(s) or subsidiaries) who performs similar policy-making functions for the Company. For the sake of clarity, at a minimum, all persons who would be executive officers pursuant to Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K shall be deemed “Executive Officers”. (i) “Financial Reporting Measures” shall
mean measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used in preparing the Company’s financial statements, and all other measures that are derived wholly or in part from such measures. For purposes of this Policy, Financial Reporting Measures shall include stock price and total shareholder return (and any measures that are derived wholly or in part from stock price or total shareholder return). A Financial Reporting Measure need not be presented within the Company’s financial statements or included in a Company filing with the SEC. (j) “Incentive-Based Compensation” shall have the meaning set forth in Section III below. (k) “Nasdaq” shall mean The Nasdaq Stock Market. (l) “Policy” shall mean this Executive Officer Clawback Policy, as the same may be amended and/or restated from time to time. (m) “Received” shall mean Incentive-Based Compensation received, or deemed to be received, in the Company’s fiscal period during which the Financial Reporting Measure specified in the Incentive- Based Compensation is attained, even if the payment or grant occurs after the fiscal period. (n) “Repayment Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in Section V below. (o) “Restatement Date” shall mean the earlier of (i) the date the Board, a committee of the Board or the officers of the Company authorized to take such action if Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement,



 

3 ACTIVE 690976019v2 or (ii) the date that a court, regulator or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare an Accounting Restatement. (p) “SARs” shall mean stock appreciation rights. (q) “SEC” shall mean the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. III. Incentive-Based Compensation “Incentive-Based Compensation” shall mean any compensation that is granted, earned or vested wholly or in part upon the attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure. For purposes of this Policy, specific examples of Incentive-Based Compensation include, but are not limited to: • Non-equity incentive plan awards that are earned based, wholly or in part, on satisfaction of a Financial Reporting Measure performance goal; • Bonuses paid from a “bonus pool,” the size of which is determined, wholly or in part, based on satisfaction of a Financial Reporting Measure performance goal; • Other cash awards based on satisfaction of a Financial Reporting Measure performance goal; • Restricted stock, restricted stock units (“RSUs”), performance share units (“PSUs”), stock options and SARs that are granted or become vested, wholly or in part, on satisfaction of a Financial Reporting Measure performance goal; and • Proceeds received upon the sale of shares acquired through an incentive plan that were granted or vested based, wholly or in part, on satisfaction of a Financial Reporting Measure performance goal. For purposes of this Policy, Incentive-Based Compensation excludes: • Base salaries (except with respect to any salary increases earned, wholly or in part, based on satisfaction of a Financial Reporting Measure performance goal); • Bonuses paid solely at the discretion of the Committee or Board that are not paid from a “bonus pool” that is determined by satisfying a Financial Reporting Measure performance goal; • Bonuses paid solely upon satisfying one or more subjective standards and/or completion of a specified employment period; • Non-
equity incentive plan awards earned solely upon satisfying one or more strategic measures or operational measures; and • Equity awards that vest solely based on the passage of time and/or satisfaction of one or more non- Financial Reporting Measures. IV. Determination and Calculation of Erroneously-Awarded Compensation In the event of an Accounting Restatement, the Committee shall promptly (and in all events within ninety (90) days after the Restatement Date) determine the amount of any Erroneously-Awarded Compensation for each Covered Person in connection with such Accounting Restatement and shall promptly thereafter provide each Covered Person with a written notice containing the amount of Erroneously-Awarded Compensation and a demand for repayment, return or forfeiture, as applicable (the “Notice”). (a) Cash Awards. With respect to cash awards, the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation is the difference between the amount of the cash award (whether payable as a lump sum or over time) that was Received and the amount that should have been received applying the restated Financial Reporting Measure.



 

4 ACTIVE 690976019v2 (b) Cash Awards Paid From Bonus Pools. With respect to cash awards paid from bonus pools, the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation is the pro rata portion of any deficiency that results from the aggregate bonus pool that is reduced based on applying the restated Financial Reporting Measure. (c) Equity Awards. With respect to equity awards, if the shares, RSUs, PSUs, options or SARs are still held at the time of recovery, the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation is the number of such securities Received in excess of the number that should have been received applying the restated Financial Reporting Measure (or the value of that excess number). If the RSUs, PSUs, options or SARs have vested or been exercised, as the case may be, but the underlying shares have not been sold, the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation is the number of shares underlying the excess RSUs, PSUs, options or SARs (or the value thereof). If the underlying shares have already been sold, then the Committee shall determine the amount which most reasonably estimates the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation. (d) Compensation Based on Stock Price or Total Shareholder Return. For Incentive-Based Compensation based on (or derived from) stock price or total shareholder return, where the amount of Erroneously-Awarded Compensation is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in the applicable Accounting Restatement, the amount shall be determined by the Committee based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Accounting Restatement on the stock price or total shareholder return upon which the Incentive-Based Compensation was Received (in which case, the Committee shall maintain documentation of such determination of that reasonable estimate and provide such documentation to Nasdaq in accordance with applicable listing standards). V. Recovery of Erroneously-Awarded Compensation Once the
Committee has determined the amount of Erroneously-Awarded Compensation recoverable from the applicable Covered Person, the Committee shall take all necessary actions to recover the Erroneously- Awarded Compensation reasonably promptly following the delivery of the Notice to the Covered Person. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, the Committee shall pursue the recovery of Erroneously- Awarded Compensation in accordance with the below: (a) Cash Awards. With respect to cash awards, the Committee shall either (i) require the Covered Person to repay the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation in a lump sum in cash (or such property as the Committee agrees to accept with a value equal to such Erroneously-Awarded Compensation) or (ii) if approved by the Committee, enter into a Repayment Agreement in accordance with subsection (d) below. (b) Unvested Equity Awards. With respect to those equity awards that have not yet vested, the Committee shall take such action as is necessary to cancel, or otherwise cause to be forfeited, the awards in the amount of the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation. (c) Vested Equity Awards. With respect to those equity awards that have vested or been exercised and the underlying shares have not been sold, the Committee shall such action as is necessary to cause the Covered Person to deliver and surrender the underlying shares in the amount of the Erroneously- Awarded Compensation. In the event that the Covered Person has sold any underlying shares, the Committee shall either (i) require the Covered Person to repay the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation in a lump sum in cash (or such property as the Committee agrees to accept with a value equal to such Erroneously-Awarded



 

5 ACTIVE 690976019v2 Compensation) or (ii) if approved by the Committee, enter into a Repayment Agreement in accordance with subsection (d) below. (d) Repayment Agreement. To the extent approved by the Committee, the Company shall enter into a written agreement (in a form reasonably acceptable to the Committee) with the Covered Person that provides for the Covered Person’s repayment of the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation as promptly as possible without unreasonable economic hardship to the Covered Person based upon the particular facts and circumstances (a “Repayment Agreement”). (e) Effect of Non-Repayment. To the extent that a Covered Person fails to repay all Erroneously-Awarded Compensation to the Company when due (as determined in accordance with this Policy), the Company shall take all actions reasonable and appropriate to recover such outstanding Erroneously-Awarded Compensation from the applicable Covered Person. The applicable Covered Person shall be required to reimburse the Company for any and all expenses reasonably incurred (including legal fees) by the Company in recovering such Erroneously-Awarded Compensation in accordance with the immediately preceding sentence. The Committee shall have broad discretion to determine the appropriate means of recovery of Erroneously-Awarded Compensation based on all applicable facts and circumstances and taking into account the time value of money and the cost to stockholders of delaying recovery. However, in no event may the Company accept an amount that is less than the amount of Erroneously-Awarded Compensation in satisfaction of a Covered Person’s obligations hereunder. VI. Discretionary Recovery Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company shall not be required to take action to recover Erroneously-Awarded Compensation if any one of the following conditions are met and the Committee determines that recovery
would be impracticable: (i) The direct expenses paid to a third party to assist in enforcing this Policy against a Covered Person would exceed the amount to be recovered, after the Company has made a reasonable attempt to recover the applicable Erroneously-Awarded Compensation, documented such attempts and provided such documentation to Nasdaq; (ii) Recovery would violate home country law where that law was adopted prior to November 28, 2022, provided that, before determining that it would be impracticable to recover any amount of Erroneously-Awarded Compensation based on violation of home country law, the Company has obtained an opinion of home country counsel, acceptable to Nasdaq, that recovery would result in such a violation and a copy of the opinion is provided to Nasdaq; or (iii) Recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to employees of the Company, to fail to meet the requirements of 26 U.S.C. 401(a)(13) or 26 U.S.C. 411(a) and regulations thereunder. VII. Reporting and Disclosure Requirements The Company shall file all disclosures with respect to this Policy in accordance with the requirements of the federal securities laws, including the disclosure required by the applicable filings required to be made with the SEC. VIII. Effective Date



 

6 ACTIVE 690976019v2 This Policy shall apply to any Incentive-Based Compensation Received on or after October 2, 2023. IX. No Indemnification The Company shall not indemnify any Covered Person against the loss of Erroneously-Awarded Compensation and shall not pay, or reimburse any Covered Persons for premiums, for any insurance policy to fund such Covered Person’s potential recovery obligations. X. Administration The Committee has the sole discretion to administer this Policy and ensure compliance with Nasdaq Rules and any other applicable law, regulation, rule or interpretation of the SEC or Nasdaq promulgated or issued in connection therewith. The Committee shall, subject to the provisions of this Policy, make such determinations and interpretations and take such actions as it deems necessary, appropriate or advisable. All determinations and interpretations made by the Committee shall be final, binding and conclusive. XI. Amendment; Termination The Committee may amend this Policy from time to time in its discretion and shall amend this Policy as it deems necessary, including as and when it determines that it is legally required by any federal securities laws, SEC rule or the rules of any national securities exchange or national securities association on which the Company’s securities are then listed. The Committee may terminate this Policy at any time. Notwithstanding anything in this Section XI to the contrary, no amendment or termination of this Policy shall be effective if such amendment or termination would (after taking into account any actions taken by the Company contemporaneously with such amendment or termination) cause the Company to violate any federal securities laws, SEC rule, or the rules of any national securities exchange or national securities association on which the Company’s securities are then listed. XII. Other Recoupment Rights; No Additional Payments The Committee intends that this Policy will
be applied to the fullest extent of the law. The Committee may require that any employment agreement, equity award agreement or any other agreement entered into on or after the Adoption Date shall, as a condition to the grant of any benefit thereunder, require a Covered Person to agree to abide by the terms of this Policy; provided, that, this Policy shall apply to all Covered Persons irrespective of any such explicit agreement. Any right of recoupment under this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other rights under applicable law, regulation or rule or pursuant to the terms of the Compensation Recoupment (Clawback) Policy or any similar policy in any employment agreement, equity plan, equity award agreement or similar arrangement and any other legal remedies available to the Company. However, this Policy shall not provide for recovery of Incentive-Based Compensation that the Company has already recovered pursuant to Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act or other recovery obligations. XIII. Successors This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all Covered Persons and their beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administrators or other legal representatives.



 

7 ACTIVE 690976019v2 Exhibit A ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND AGREEMENT TO THE EXECUTIVE OFFICER CLAWBACK POLICY OF POTBELLY CORPORATION By signing below, the undersigned acknowledges and confirms that the undersigned has received and reviewed a copy of Potbelly Corporation’s Executive Officer Clawback Policy (the “Policy”). Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined in this Acknowledgement Form (this “Acknowledgement Form”) shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Policy. By signing this Acknowledgement Form, the undersigned acknowledges and agrees that the undersigned is and will continue to be subject to the Policy and that the Policy will apply both during and after the undersigned’s employment with the Company. Further, by signing below, the undersigned agrees to abide by the terms of the Policy, including, without limitation, by returning any Erroneously-Awarded Compensation (as defined in the Policy) to the Company to the extent required by, and in a manner permitted by, the Policy. Signature Name Date



 


